MONOGRAPH





PIRKKO KAUPPILA

Phytoplankton quantity as an indicator of eutrophication in Finnish coastal waters Applications within the Water Framework Directive

MONOGRAPHS of the Boreal Environment Research

MONOGRAPHS OF THE BOREAL ENVIRONMENT RESEARCH

31

Pirkko Kauppila

Phytoplankton quantity as an indicator of eutrophication in Finnish coastal waters

Applications within the Water Framework Directive

Yhteenveto: Kasviplanktonin määrä rehevyyden indikaattorina Suomen rannikkovesissä Sovellutukset Vesipuitedirektiiviin

FINNISH ENVIRONMENT INSTITUTE, FINLAND Helsinki 2007

The publication is available in the internet: www.environment.fi/publications

> ISBN 978-952-11-2898-1 ISBN 978-952-11-2899-8 (PDF) ISSN 1239-1875 (print.) ISSN 1796-1661 (PDF) Vammalan Kirjapaino Oy Vammala 2007

Contents

List of original publications and author's contribution	4
List of abbreviations	5
Abstract	7
1 Introduction	8
 1.1 Eutrophication and research supporting coastal management 1.2 Coastal eutrophication and water pollution control policy 1.3 Assessing trophic status using phytoplankton metrics 1.4 Objectives and structure this study 	8 10 12 14
2 Study areas	16
2.1 River catchments	16 17 20 21
3 Materials and methods	24
 3.1 Data sets of the coastal water monitoring	24 25 27 27 27
4 Control of phytoplankton biomass	29
 4.1 Physical factors	29 30 30 32 32 32 34 35
5 Developing referenceconditions for phytoplankton	36
 5.1 Comparative approach	36 37 38 40 40 41 41
6 Overall evaluation of the applicability of phytoplankton quantity as an indicator of eutrophication	43
7 Summary	46
Yhteenveto	47
Acknowledgements	48
References	49

List of original publications and author's contribution

(I) Kauppila, P., Hällfors, G., Kangas, P., Kokkonen, P. & Basova, S. 1995. Late summer phytoplankton species composition and biomasses in the eastern Gulf of Finland. Ophelia 42: 179-191.

(II) Kauppila, P. & Koskiaho, J. 2003. Evaluation of annual loads for nitrogen and suspended solids in Finnish rivers discharging to the Baltic Sea. Nordic Hydrology 34(3): 203-220.

(III) Meeuwig, J.J., Kauppila, P. & Pitkänen, H. 2000. Predicting coastal eutrophication in the Baltic: a limnological approach. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57: 844-855.

(IV) Kauppila, P., Meeuwig, J.J. & Pitkänen, H. 2003. Predicting oxygen in small estuaries of the Baltic Sea: a comparative approach. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 57:1115-1126.

(V) Kauppila, P., Weckström, K., Vaalgamaa, S., Korhola, A., Pitkänen, H., Reuss, N. & Drew, S. 2005. Tracing pollution and recovery using sediments in an urban estuary, northern Baltic Sea: Are we far from ecological reference conditions? Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 290: 35-53.

(VI) Kauppila, P., Pitkänen, H., Korhola, A., Pellikka, K., Vaalgamaa, S. & Weckström, K. Assessing ecological status of an urban estuary in the northern Baltic Sea and its recovery from pollution. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 29: 221-225.

	I	п	ш	IV	v	VI
Idea and planning	PK, GH, PeK	PK, JK	JM, PK, HP	PK, JM	PK, KW, SV, AK, HP	PK, AK
Data analyses	PK	JK, PK	JM, PK	PK, JM	PK (*)	РК
Microscoping	PKo, SB					
Writing	PK, GH	PK, JK	JM, PK	PK, JM	PK, KW, SV, AK, HP, NR, SD	РК
Discussion	РК	PK	ЈМ	PK, JM	PK, KW, SV	РК
Commenting	PeK, SB		НР	НР	all	other authors
Main responsbility	PK	PK	JM	РК	РК	РК

Contributions of authors:

(*) water monitoring data

PK, Pirkko Kauppila; GH, Guy Hällfors; PeK, Pentti Kangas; PKo, Pirkko Kokkonen; SB, Svetlana Basova; JK, Jari Koskiaho; JM, Jessica Meeuwig; HP, Heikki Pitkänen; KW, Kaarina Weckström; SV, Sanna Vaalgamaa; AK, Atte Korhola; NR, Nina Reuss; SD, Simon Draw

List of abbreviations

AS	Archipelago Sea
BS	Bothnian Sea
BB	Bothnian Bay
ANOVA	analysis of variance
Chl	chlorophyll a
ChlaD	Chlorophyll <i>a</i> and its degradation products
CIS	Common Implementation Strategy
Cu	copper
DIN	inorganic nitrogen
DI-TDN	diatom-interred total dissolved nitrogen
DIP	inorganic phosphorus
EC	European Commission
EEA	European Environment Agency
EU	European Union
FIMS	Finnish Institute of Marine Research
EQR	Ecological Quality Ratio
FEA	Finnish Environment Administration
GF	Gulf of Finland
HELCOM	Helsinki Commission
ICES	International Council for the Exploration of the Sea
Ls	Southwestern inner archipelago
Lu	Southwestern outer archipelago
Lv	Southwestern middle archipelago
Ms	Quark inner archipelago
Mu	Quark outer archipelago
MWWTP	municipal wastewater treatment plant
N ₂	nitrogen gas
NO ₂ -N	nitrite-nitrogen
NO ₃ -N	nitrate-nitrogen
OECD	Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development
OP	organic phosphorus
OSPAR	commission for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic
Ps	Bothnian Bay inner coastal waters
Pu	Bothnian Bay outer coastal waters
r ²	coefficient of determination
Ses	Bothnian Sea inner coastal waters
Seu	Bothnian Sea outer coastal waters
Ss	Gulf of Finland inner archipelago
Su	Gulf of Finland outer archipelago
TN	total nitrogen
TP	total phosphorus
TRIX	trophic index
UNEP	United Nations Environment Programme
WFD	Water Framework Directive
WW	wet weight
Zn	Zink

6 Kauppila

7

Phytoplankton as an indicator of eutrophication in coastal marine waters. Applications under the Water Framework Directive

Pirkko Kauppila

Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki

The tackling of coastal eutrophication requires water protection measures based on status assessments of water quality. The main purpose of this thesis was to evaluate whether it is possible both scientifically and within the terms of the European Union Water Framework Directive (WFD) to assess the status of coastal marine waters reliably by using phytoplankton biomass (ww) and chlorophyll *a* (Chl) as indicators of eutrophication in Finnish coastal waters. Empirical approaches were used to study whether the criteria, established for determining an indicator, are fulfilled.

The first criterion (i) was that an indicator should respond to anthropogenic stresses in a predictable manner and has low variability in its response. Summertime Chl could be predicted accurately by nutrient concentrations, but not from the external annual loads alone, because of the rapid affect of primary production and sedimentation close to the loading sources in summer. The most accurate predictions were achieved in the Archipelago Sea, where total phosphorus (TP) and total nitrogen (TN) alone accounted for 87% and 78% of the variation in Chl, respectively. In river estuaries, the TP mass-balance regression model predicted Chl most accurate when nutrients originated from point-sources, whereas land-use regression models were most accurately in cases when nutrients originated mainly from diffuse sources. The inclusion of morphometry (e.g. mean depth) into nutrient models improved accuracy of the predictions.

The second criterion (ii) was associated with the WFD. It requires that an indicator should have type-specific reference conditions, which are defined as "conditions where the values of the biological quality elements are at high ecological status". In establishing reference conditions, the empirical approach could only be used in the outer coastal waters types, where historical observations of Secchi depth of the early 1900s are available. Most accurate prediction was achieved in the Quark. However, the average reference values in the outer coastal types are underestimated in sites near the zone of the inner coastal waters. In the inner coastal water types, reference Chl, estimated from present monitoring data, are imprecise - not only because of the less accurate estimation method – but also because the intrinsic characteristics, described for instance by morphometry, vary considerably inside these extensive inner coastal types. As for phytoplankton biomass, the reference values were less accurate than in the case of Chl, because it was possible to estimate reference conditions for biomass only by using the reconstructed Chl values, not the historical Secchi observations. An paleoecological approach was also applied to estimate reference conditions for Chl. In Laajalahti, an urban embayment off Helsinki, strongly loaded by municipal waste waters until 1986, reference conditions prevailed in the mid- and late 1800s. The recovery of the bay from pollution has delayed as a consequence of benthic release of nutrients. Laajalahti will probably not achieve the good quality objectives of the WFD on time.

The third criterion (iii) was associated with coastal management including the resources it has available. Analyses of Chl are cheap and fast to carry out compared to the analyses of phytoplankton biomass and species composition; the fact which has an effect on number of samples to be taken and thereby on the reliability of assessments. However, analyses on phytoplankton biomass and species composition provide more metrics for ecological classification, the metrics which reveal various aspects of eutrophication contrary to what Chl alone does.

Keywords: phytoplankton biomass, chlorophyll *a*, eutrophication, indicators, pollution history, empirical modeling, reference conditions, Water Framework Directive, coastal waters, Baltic Sea

1 Introduction

1.1 Eutrophication and research supporting coastal management

Coastal eutrophication is a major environmental threat worldwide (Vollenwieder 1975), and the Baltic Sea is particularly at risk from this process (Rosenberg et al. 1990, Wulff et al. 1990). Eutrophication is most frequently described as enrichment of mineral nutrients (primarily nitrogen and phosphorus) to surface waters (Richardson and Jørgensen 1996), and as an increase in the rate of supply of organic carbon to an ecosystem (Nixon 1995). Nixon proposed a classification schemes which describes oligotrophic, mesotrophic, eutrophic and hypertrophic status in marine coastal waters based his classification on phytoplankton primary production. Within the EU, a common legislative approach defines eutrophication as the enrichment of water by nutrients especially compounds of nitrogen and phosphorus, causing an accelerated growth of algae and higher forms of plant life to produce an undesirable disturbance to the balance of organisms and the quality of the water concerned (Urban wastewater Treatment Directive, C.E.C. 1991).

Eutrophication manifests itself in a number of ways, for example: as an increase in the biomass of phytoplankton (Harding and Perry 1997) and macroalgae (Valiela et al. 1997), increased incidence of phytoplankton blooms (Kahru et al. 1994, Richardson 1997), anoxia and hypoxia (Matthäus 1990, Rosenberg et al. 1990, Kiirikki et al. 2006), and fish and benthos kills (Baden et al. 1990, Hansson and Rudstam 1990, Norkko and Bonsdorff 1996). In quantifying eutrophication, phytoplankton biomass, measured as chlorophyll a, is most often used to measure the trophic status of a body of water. The factors controlling phytoplankton biomass include nutrients, mainly nitrogen (Hecky and Kilham 1988, Kivi et al. 1993), phosphorus (Krom et al. 1991, Andersson et al. 1996) and silica (Turner and Rabalais 1994, Zimba 1998). However, phytoplankton biomass is influenced not only by nutrient concentrations but also by the ratios of nutrients (Prairie and Kalff 1989, Molot and Dillon 1990, Tamminen and Andersen 2007, Andersen et al. 2007), the rate of nutrient

turnover (Smith 1984, Levine *et al.* 1997) and other environmental factors such as turbidity (Fisher *et al.* 1988, Irigoien and Castel 1997), hydrography (Cloern 1987), herbivory (Meeuwig *et al.* 1998, Kotta and Møhlenberg 2002) and grazing (e.g. Kuosa and Kivi, 1989; Kuosa, 1991, Uitto 1997, Setälä 2004). Furthermore, phytoplankton biomass may also be associated with hypoxia and anoxia, because following a period of oxygen deficit the release of phosphorus from sediment may raise the phytoplankton biomass in the productive water layer (Richardson and Jørgensen 1996).

Eutrophication of the Baltic Sea is a consequence, on one hand, of real external loading and the intrinsic properties of this brackish seawater basin, and on another hand, due to huge resources of organic material, which, for several decades, have been stored into the bottom sediments of the seabed (Conley et al. 2002, Vahtera et al. 2007). The properties that makes the Baltic Sea extremely sensitive to eutrophication include shallowness, small water volume, low salinity, restriction of vertical mixing due to semi-permanent stratification, and slow water exchange through the Danish Straits (Table 1, Voipio 1981, HELCOM 1996, 1998). The Baltic Sea receives nutrients fivefold the amount of nutrients from the catchment vis-a-vis its water surface area (HELCOM 1996, 1998). Saltwater inflows from the North Sea renew irregularly oxygen resources in the bottom waters of the naturally hypoxic deep basins of the Baltic Proper, and push old hypoxic and nutrient-rich water towards the Gulf of Finland (Perttilä et al. 1996). The hydrodynamics of the Baltic Proper are reflected at least as far as the eastern and middle Gulf of Finland, where it affects on stratification, the levels of nutrients and nearbottom oxygen conditions (Kahru et al. 2000).

Today, eutrophication in the Baltic Sea is in a self-sustaining "vicious circle", due to accelerated benthic release of nutrients, i.e. internal loading, associated with anoxic bottom sediments and huge amounts of organic material (Lehtoranta 2003, Conley *et al.* 1997, 2007, Vahtera *et al.* 2007), which appears to counteract decreases in the external loads of phosphorus at least in the Gulf of Finland (Pitkänen *et al.* 2001). In the Baltic Sea, the pool of inorganic phosphate dissolved in the water correlates positively to the area of bottom covered by hypoxic water, but not to changes in total external

Characteristics	Baltic Sea	Gulf of Finland	Bothnian Sea	Bothnian Bay
Drainage basin, km ²	1 641 650	421 000	228 000	277 000
– In Finland	300 000	107 000	48 000	146 000
Water area, km ²	422 000	29 600	79 256	36 260
Volume, km ³	21 000	1 100	4 889	1 500
Mean depth, m	55	38	68	43
Maximum depth, m	450	123	230	147
Fresh water flow, km ³ a ⁻¹	540	100-125	88	105
Residence time, years	22	8-10	3	5

Table 1. Main characteristics of the Baltic Sea, the Gulf of Finland, the Bothnian Sea and the Bothnian Bay. The Archipelago Sea is included into the Bothnian Sea. Sources: HELCOM 1996, 1998.

phosphorus load (Conley *et al.* 2002). In fact, oxygen conditions in open deep waters of the Baltic Sea appear indirectly to control nutrient dynamics through benthic release of inorganic phosphorus and through denitrification – the loss process of nitrogen converting nitrate-N into nitrogen gas (Raateoja *et al.* 2005, Vahtera *et al.* 2007).

Effective control of coastal marine eutrophication requires variety of monitoring, experimental and modelling research. Mesocosm studies offer an example of experimental approach to examine cause and effect relationships in marine systems. These small-scale studies are used to examine, for instance, nutrient limitation (Seppälä et al. 1999, Tamminen and Andersen 2007, Andersen et al. 2007) and community responses to nutrient enrichment (Lignell et al. 2003, Olsen et al. 2006). Extrapolation of mesocosm studies into natural systems is not straightforward as the results of experiments are often affected by artificial boundaries and a lack or limited contact with sediment (Richardson 1996). Information on functioning of marine systems may be used for modelling purposes, in which case it provides an appropriate tool for managers in controlling eutrophication.

Dynamic simulation modelling opens up a potential approach to look at responses of eutrophication to changing input and natural forces in coastal marine waters. The models describe the behaviour of the system taking into account the presumed interrelationships of sub-processes. The predictive capability of these models are based on natural processes such as primary and secondary production, sedimentation, denitrification and nitrogen fixing of algae. Examples on simulation studies in the Baltic Sea are presented by Virtanen *et al.* (1986) and Kiirikki *et al.* (1998, 2001, 2006) to estimate phytoplankton biomass and concentrations under varying loads of nutrients, the model designed by Savchuk and Wulff (1999, 2007) to simulate regional and large-scale ecosystem responses to nutrient reductions, and the model by Janssen et al. (2004) to investigate inter-annual variability of cyanobacterial blooms controlled by wintertime hydrographical conditions. Similar studies in the Atlantic Ocean include the model created by Soetaert et al. (1994) to estimate net phytoplankton growth, and the model of Madden's and Kemp's model (1996) for investigating growth responses of submerged vascular plants to eutrophication. Dynamic simulation models are complex and require often a lot of computer capacity. However, despite the argument put forward by Visser and Kamp-Nielsen (1996), computers are cheap once the required progams have been developed. Moreover, the use of numerical models may provide a deeper understanding of marine ecosystems, and also offer improved opportunities for predicting future trends, especially when the responses between different factors are non-linear (Dippner 2006).

Empirical approaches provide an alternative to dynamic simulation models. They are simple, cheap and quick, and require less data. However, in contrast to dynamic simulation models they are not site-specific, and they do not identify cause and effect relationships. That said, they have been successfully used to predict eutrophication in lakes (Vollenweider 1975, OECD 1982), but have less frequently been applied in coastal waters. This is mainly because lakes are clearly defined, with measurable in- and outflows, which contrasts with marine systems (Visser and Kamp-Nielsen 1996) - with the exception of semi-enclosed estuaries. Examples of comparative models in marine environments are the model of Boynton *et al.* (1982) to predict phytoplankton chlorophyll *a* as a function of nitrogen and phosphorus loads and the model of Monbet (1992) used to predict chlorophyll *a* as a function of inorganic nitrogen in micro- and macro-tidal estuaries. The massbalance approach of Vollenweider has been applied by, for instance, Jordan *et al.* (1991) and Nixon *et al.* (1995). Moreover, Meeuwig and Peters (1996) demonstrated that regression models based on landuse also accurately predict chlorophyll *a* and are an alternative to the phosphorus-based mass-balance approach applied to North Atlantic estuaries.

Empirical approaches are also useful tools in trend analyses and for building a picture of historical patterns. In marine systems, for instance, it should be remembered that the detection of a change in a trend requires decades of monitoring (Visser and Kamp-Nielsen 1996). Empirical approaches also offer a potential method to hind-cast historical nutrient and trophic status. For example, Smith *et al.* (2003) predicted natural background concentrations of nutrients in streams and rivers, and Dodds *et al.* (2006) determined ecoregional reference conditions for nutrients, Secchi depth and chlorophyll *a* in lakes and reservoirs, and Greve and Krause-Jensen (2005) predicted the depth limits of eelgrass, *Zostera marina*, in pristine conditions in coastal waters.

The last approach, namely paleoecological techniques, provide another tool to trace historical pollution and pristine conditions of waters. In essence, these techniques are built on empirical relationships by way of transfer functions. Nutrient concentrations can be inferred quantitatively from the remains of organisms preserved in the sediment. Thus, diatoms and algal pigments are known to be especially sensitive indicators of trophic conditions (Battarbee 1991, Korhola and Blom 1996, Andren et al. 1999, Leavitt and Hodgson 2001). Sediment archives have been successfully used in assessing past anthropogenic impacts and cultural eutrophication in freshwater ecosystems (Bennion et al. 1996, Rippey and Andersson 1996), but their application to coastal systems has been limited.

In order to manage coastal eutrophication, it is important to study and conceptualize the cause and effect relationships in coastal marine waters (Cloern 2001). In the final analyses, the two questions that concern coastal managers are these: by how much must nutrients be reduced in order to restore a water body at least to good ecological status, as targeted by the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC), and how much time is needed in order to return that water body to its "original regime" (Sheffer *et al.* 2001) before periodic hypoxia was common (Conley *et al.* 2007). The foregoing examples of monitoring, experimental and modelling researches may offer tools to resolve these kinds of questions.

1.2 Coastal eutrophication and water pollution control policy

Under Finnish water protection policy, coastal eutrophication is considered a priority issue. Present water protection actions concerning the reduction of nutrients coming from point and diffuse sources include Water Protection Targets for 2015 (Nyroos 2006) and Finland's Programme for the Protection of the Baltic Sea, ratified in 2005. Finland's current water legislation is mainly based on the revised Environmental Protection Act (86/2000) and Environmental Protection Decree (169/2000). Additionally, protection of national waters is directed by many political actions and programmes, such as Ministerial Programme for Sustainable Development (1998), and the Environmental Programme of Agriculture (2000-2006).

Finland's national legislation is influenced by acts and directives coming from European Union. Eutrophication, for instance, is addressed by several directives, among them the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC), the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive (91/271/EEC), Nitrate Directive (91/676/EEC) and the EU Marine Strategy directive (2005/0211(COD). The Water Framework Directive (WFD) of 1995, which established the basic principles of sustainable water policy in the European Union, aims to maintain surface waters at least at the status of good, or to restore them where necessary to that level, by 2015. The Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive deals mainly with waste water discharges from municipal sources, whereas the Nitrate Directive addresses the diffuse nitrogen loading arising from agricultural activity. By taking an ecosystem-based approach, EU Marine Strategy directive integrates all pressures and impacts, with the purpose of achieving good environmental status by 2021.

Finland is also a party to many international conventions and proceedings concerning the protection of marine waters from pollution. Through the Helsinki Convention in 1974, seven coastal states around the Baltic Sea established a commission, namely the Baltic Marine Environment Protection Commission, also known as the Helsinki Commission (HELCOM). The convention came into force in 1980, after ratification by the seven states. The revised Convention, signed by all nine Baltic coastal states and the European Community in 1992, entered into force in 2000. The broad aim of HELCOM is to "protect the marine environment of the Baltic Sea from all sources of pollution, and to restore and safeguard its ecological balance". The HELCOM Recommendations to the governments of the Contracting Parties are based on unanimous decisions. This Commission works in close cooperation both with other intergovernmental organizations (e.g. the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea, ICES, and the United Nations Environment Programme, UNEP) and with other non-governmental international organizations (e.g. World Wildlife Fund, WWF).

Sustainable Development, defined by the Rio Declaration at the United Nations conference in 1992 and reiterated at the 2002 World Summit, is one of the essential principles in national and international water protection policies. Status assessments, and thematic and indicator reports published, for instance, by HELCOM and the European Environment Agency (EEA), together support sustainable development by producing relevant information for use by decision makers and the public.

Essentials of the Water Framework Directive

The intent of the European Union Directive 2000/60/ EC is to control water pollution. The overall aim of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) is to maintain and improve the ecological quality of surface waters and, ultimately to achieve good environmental quality by controlling the pollution sources that impact them. The assessment of surface water status according to the WFD requires an ecological classification, which is based on four biological quality elements: phytoplankton, zoobenthos, macrophytes and fishes (Table 2). Fishes, however, is excluded from the biological quality elements of coastal waters. Nutrients, near-bottom oxygen conditions and Secchi depth are among the elements supporting the classification. Member states were ordered to incorporate the directive in their national legislations in 2003. By 2015 all surface waters need to achieve Good Ecological Status.

In assessing ecological status, surface waters in each water category (i.e. rivers, lakes, transitional waters, coastal waters and heavily modified water bodies) should be differentiated into various types, which operate as the classification and management units of the Directive. The types need to be characterized by obligatory and optional factors. In the Baltic Sea, the obligatory factors are latitude, longitude, tidal range and salinity, whereas the optional factors are descriptors such as wave exposure, water residence time, mixing conditions and the range of average temperature. The requirement is that the types are ecologically relevant to ensure the reliable establishment of typespecific reference conditions (Anonymous 2003).

Reference conditions are defined as a description of a biological quality element at high status. In other words, a surface water body which exhibit either no or only very minor anthropogenic disturbances resulting from human activities, and which possess the values of the biological quality elements along with the physico-chemical and hydromorphological quality elements that reflect undisturbed conditions (EU directive 2000/60/EC). Moreover, reference conditions should reflect natural variability, both

Table 2. Phytoplankton variables and the hydromorphological and physico-chemical variables given by the Water Framework Directive (WFD).

Phytoplankton variable	Hydromorphologial variable	Physico-chemical variable
Phytoplankton composition, abundance and biomass	Depth variation Structure and substrate of coastal bed Structure of intertidal zone Direction of dominant currents Wave exposure	Transparency Thermal conditions Oxygen conditions Salinity Nutrient conditions

spatial and temporal, and attempts should be made to minimize it within a type. Among inland waters lakes in pristine conditions still exist (e.g. Lepistö *et al.* 2006a), but in coastal environments, such kind of waters are rare (HELCOM 2006). The directive gives tools for establishing reference conditions, including the use of historical data (e.g. Krause-Jensen *et al.* 2004), palaeoreconstructions (e.g. Clarke *et al.* 2003), mathematical models (e.g. Schernewski and Neumann, 2004) and empirical models (e.g. Sahlsten and Hansson 2004).

Classification is based on Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR), which is the relationship between the measured value and reference value, the numerical value lying between 0 and 1. Ecological status is divided into five classes (excellent, good, moderate, poor and bad). Member states are allowed to set their own class boundaries, but the values of the EQR set for each status class is supposed to meet the normative definition for that status class given by the Directive (Directive 2000/60/EC Annex V). Harmonization between EU member states of the boundaries of the two upper classes must be carried out by way of intercalibration.

1.3 Assessing trophic status using phytoplankton metrics

The balance of water ecosystems is disturbed by eutrophication, which, in turn, leads to increases in phytoplankton quantity and primary production, changes in phytoplankton community structure, decrease in diversity, and increase in intensity and frequency of harmful algal blooms. Metrics based on phytoplankton quantity and productivity are widely used indicators of eutrophication in the status assessments of surface waters (e.g. HELCOM 2002, EEA 2007, Nixon et al. 2003, OSPAR 2003). These metrics include phytoplankton abundance, biomass measured by wet weight or by assimilated quantity of carbon, concentrations of chlorophyll a, primary production and productivity. Several of these metrics are used to classify surface waters. For instance, Rodhe (1969) and Nixon (1995) each used organic carbon supply to measure primary production in their respective classification schemes for lakes and marine coastal waters. The trophic classification schemes developed by the Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)

in lakes are based on chlorophyll *a*, total P and Secchi depth (Vollenweider and Keres 1982), and these classification schemes appear to be applicable in the Baltic coastal environment, too (Kauppila, unpublished data).

Aggregated indices, built on mathematical equations, are another type of sum parameters. Vollenweider et al. (1998) developed a trophic index, TRIX, for the Adriatic Sea, applying Carlsson's (1977) example of aggregating variables in inland waters. The TRIX index indicates both direct productivity such as chlorophyll a and oxygen percentage saturation, and nutritional factors such as total N, total P, inorganic N and phosphate-P (Vollenweider et al. 1998). However, despite good experiences in coastal water management in the Mediterranean Sea (Giovanardi and Volleinweider 2004), the index cannot be directly applied to other marine coastal waters without prior validation. Hence, for example, according to Vascetta (unpubl. data), this index requires further testing at least in the northern Baltic Sea, because the water is icecovered in winter, and, additionally, concentrations of nutrients, oxygen and chlorophyll a show strong seasonality. In the Adriatic Sea, where the open water period lasts the whole year round, the TRIX index represents the annual averages of the variables.

However, using only sum variables, such as chlorophyll a or the TRIX index, to assess trophic status may be misleading, because they give virtually no information on species composition. For example, low concentrations of chlorophyll a cannot justifiably be used to describe water quality as good if toxic species are present. Lepistö et al. (2005) showed that even low density cyanobacterial blooms containing Anabaena lemmermannii P. Richer may be highly toxic. Similarly, Smayda (1997) classifies many toxic dinoflagellates and diatoms as being harmful even at low levels of abundances and biomasses. A shift in species composition may also be an early warning signal of eutrophication, a signal which is not revealed in the measurements of chlorophyll a. Hence, the OSPAR commission for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (OSPAR), for instance, aware of the importance of species composition in status assessments, includes not only sum variables, such as maximum and mean concentrations of chlorophyll a, but also region or area specific phytoplankton

indicator species, that are categorized as either nuisance species or toxin producing species in its classification schemes (OSPAR 2003). Similarly, in its ecological classification, the WFD requires that member states include not only phytoplankton abundance and biomass but also species composition and blooms (Table 1).

In marine coastal waters, checklists exist on phytoplankton species that also indicate eutrophication (e.g. Hällfors 2004). According to Brettum and Andersen (2005), a species is a good indicator of water quality when that species is found frequently and in great numbers of individuals, and when the highest fraction of the total biovolume lies only within narrow intervals along the scale of trophic level. Carstensen and Heiskanen (2007) found the cyanobacterial Planktothrix agardhii (Gomont) Anagnostidis&Komárek to be a potential indicator species in the Baltic Sea based on probability of presence related to increased nutrient levels. We found that a single species in one area of the Baltic Sea may indicate oligotrophy in that area, whereas that same species may indicate meso-/eutrophy in another area, the phenomenon which may reflect different kinds of adaptations and life strategies (Kauppila, unpublished data).

Different taxonomic groups of phytoplankton (i.e. phyla) are known to be sensitive to eutrophication (e.g. Reynolds 1980, 1984, Reynolds et al. 2002). Phytoplankton community structure may be described by functional groups, species dominance relationships, size groups, diversity indices, and phytoplankton photosynthetic pigments. An example of a promising functional group is cyanobacteria; for instance, abundance of Microcystis aeruginosa Kűtzing, Nodularia spumigena Mertens and Planktothrix agardhii are typically associated with eutrophication (e.g. Niemi 1988, Kahru et al. 1994, Johansson and Wallström 2001). Regarding size groups, small phytoplankton cells have been found to dominate under oligotrophic conditions, whereas the abundance of larger phytoplankton cells increases under eutrophic conditions (Kuosa 1990, Irwin et al. 2006). Diversity indices in coastal marine waters have also been investigated (e.g. Karydis and Tsirtsis 1996, Danilov and Ekelund 2001, Arhondsitsis et al. 2003), but exclusion of rare species from analyses, for instance, due to insufficient taxonomical expertise limits their

wider application for describing phytoplankton community structure. Finally, phytoplankton photosynthetic pigments, such as chlorophyll *a* and β -carotene, provide a chemical approach to analyzing phytoplankton at taxonomic (i.e. phylum) group level (Schlüter *et al.* 2000, Pearl *et al.* 2003). They would be easy to incorporate in water-quality monitoring programmes for assessing the effect of environmental controls on ecosystem structure and function over varying spatial and temporal scales (Pearl *et al.* 2003). The major drawback, however, is that toxic taxa cannot be identified by pigment analyses.

Phytoplankton blooms (algal mass occurrences), besides being a regular phenomenon in many coastal water areas, appear to have increased in frequency, intensity and extent during recent decades (Hallegaeff 1993, Kahru et al. 1994, Anderson et al. 2002). Phytoplankton blooms may exhibit features, such as exceptionality, toxicity (Smayda 1997), and patchiness (Kononen and Leppänen 1997, Reynolds 2006). Mass occurrences of phytoplankton may occur as either surface accumulations or mixed in the water column. Additionally, harmful algal blooms may occur, not only among cyanobacteria but also in other algal groups, such as dinoflagellates and diatoms (e.g. ICES 2006). Efforts to define phytoplankton blooms include the study by Tett (1987), who set a 100 mg of chlorophyll m⁻³ limit for a bloom event, and Flemming and Kaitala (2006), who presented phytoplankton spring bloom intensity index based on automatically sampled fluorescence and chlorophyll a measurements carried out using equipment set up on cargo ships. Carstensen et al. (2004) used long-term monitoring data obtained from shallow Baltic Sea estuaries, and based their definition of bloom on the Gaussian distribution of the observations of chlorophyll a exhibiting a significant increase in the concentrations of chlorophyll a.

In conclusion, several metrics are used to describe phytoplankton quantity or production, but only few of them fulfill the requirements of being a good indicator of eutrophication. According to Dale and Beyeler (2001), an ecological indicator should be straightforward and inexpensive to measure, be sensitive to stresses in the system and respond to those stresses in a predictable manner, be anticipatory before substantial changes in ecosystem integrity

occur, and be integrative. Finally, an ecological indicator should exhibit low variability in its response. These requirements are demanding when considering, for instance, the complex interactions of phytoplankton with other organisms in the water (e.g. Kuosa et al. 1997, Kuuppo et al. 1998), not to mention the complexity of whole ecosystem with its multiple stressors and sensitivity factors (Cloern 2001, Kononen et al. 1999, Kononen 2001). Moreover, phytoplankton species composition is usually highly variable inside large regions, such as the Baltic Sea (e.g. Kononen et al. 1999, Kauppila and Lepistö 2001, HELCOM 2002, Gasiűnaitë et al. 2005). The fact is that, to date, at best only few phytoplankton indicators have been developed to describe phytoplankton community structure that would be applicable for the WFD purposes. As a result, it is very likely that many member states of the European Union will start assessing the ecological status of their coastal waters using chlorophyll a as a proxy variable for phytoplankton biomass in their national classification schemes. One reason for this is that the chemical analyses of chlorophyll a are cheaper and faster to carry out than analyses on phytoplankton biomass (ww) and species composition. The second reason is that the prediction of phytoplankton chlorophyll a as a function of nutrients has proved successful in the context of lake management (e.g. Dillon and Rigler 1974, Vollenweider 1975, Canfield and Bachmann 1981). Thirdly, along with the implementation of the WFD, quantification of relationships between chlorophyll a and nutrients and overall evaluation of the applicability of phytoplankton indicators for management purposes various types of coastal marine waters have recently received greater attention, too.

1.4 Objectives and structure this study

The main purpose of this thesis is to evaluate the applicability of phytoplankton quantity, as measured by phytoplankton biomass (wet weight) and chlorophyll *a*, as an indicator of eutrophication in Finnish coastal waters, mainly from the standpoint of the Water Framework Directive (WFD). I first discuss factors controlling phytoplankton quantity and species composition, and secondly, evaluate

how applicable indicator phytoplankton quantity is to assess trophic status in Finnish coastal waters. The factors discussed in this thesis comprise nutrient loads and concentrations, morphometry and catchment properties, hydrographical and meteorological factors, light conditions and nearbottom oxygen conditions (Fig 1). Loss processes, such as grazing and herbivory, are not embraced by this thesis. Nor are the internal biogeochemical processes of coastal ecosystem (e.g. sedimentation, denitrification, nitrogen fixation).

A two pronged approach was used to establish the applicability of phytoplankton quantity as an indicator of eutrophication in Finnish coastal waters: (a) the applying of scientific criteria, and (b) the applying of the criteria laid out in the WFD. When applying scientific criteria, an indicator should response to disturbances and anthropogenic stresses (e.g. nutrient loading) in a predictable manner, and this response should have low variability. Additionally, the WFD requires establishment of type-specific and well-defined reference conditions.

(a) The fulfillment of the scientific criteria were studied using empirical approaches on the data on water quality in Finnish coastal waters (Table 3). First, the objective was to evaluate reliability of the data regarding annual loads of total N and total P discharging into Finnish coastal waters (paper II). Reliability of the estimates of nutrient loads is important, because the estimates affect predictions of the amounts of phytoplankton biomass. Secondly, the aim is to study the reliability of empirical models predicting chlorophyll a as a function of (i) nutrient concentrations, (ii) nutrient loads, specified using land-use regression models and mass-balance equations, and finally (iii) nutrient loads combined with morphometry (e.g. mean depth, water volume, residence time), hydrography (e.g. salinity) and meteorological factors (e.g. wind conditions) (papers III, IV and this summary paper).

Three hypotheses were formulated concerning relationships between descriptors of coastal eutrophication and external controlling factors. The formulating of the first hypothesis was based on the knowledge that agricultural diffuse loading is the main source of nutrients into Finnish coastal waters (e.g. Pitkänen 1994, Vuorenmaa *et al.* 2002) and that land-use integrates a number of anthropogenic factors affecting phytoplankton biomass (Meeuwig



Fig. 1. Simplified picture of factors controlling phytoplankton biomass. Roman numerals (I-VI) refer to the individual papers discussing these factors. The symbol (Su) refer the this summary paper.

Table 3. Descriptions of the data sets used to achieve the objectives of the papers I-VI and this summary paper (Su). Symbols: Chl, chlorophyll *a*; TN, total nitrogen; TP, total phosphorus; rMSE, root mean square error.

Location of the study area	Years of sampling	Number of sites	Papers
Eastern Gulf of Finland	1990-1992	35	1
Finnish rivers	1986-1995	24	II
Finnish estuaries	1989-1993	64 (19 stuaries)	III, IV
Finnish coastal waters	1985-2006	763	Su
Finnish coastal waters	1960-2006	763	Su
Laajalahti	Water samples in 1977-2003	1	V
Laajalahti	1970-2003	1	VI
	Location of the study area Eastern Gulf of Finland Finnish rivers Finnish coastal waters Finnish coastal waters Laajalahti Laajalahti	Location of the study areaYears of samplingEastern Gulf of Finland1990-1992Finnish rivers1986-1995Finnish rivers1989-1993Finnish coastal waters1985-2006Finnish coastal waters1960-2006LaajalahtiWater samples in 1977-2003Laajalahti1970-2003	Location of the study areaYears of samplingNumber of sitesEastern Gulf of Finland1990-199235Finnish rivers1986-199524Finnish rivers1989-199364 (19 stuaries)Finnish coastal waters1985-2006763Finnish coastal waters1960-2006763LaajalahtiWater samples in 1977-20031

1999). Thus, the hypothesis being tested was that a land-use model predict chlorophyll a more accurately in Finnish estuaries than do concentrations of total P or a phosphorus-based mass-balance model (paper III). Secondly, it is well-known that phosphorus may be released from the sediment into the water column during conditions of an oxygen deficit at the interface of the sediment and water, which process in turn may generate an increase in phytoplankton biomass in productive surface water layer. In other words, the hypothesis to test was that near-bottom oxygen conditions are linked to chlorophyll a in Finnish estuaries (paper IV). The third hypothesis being tested was based on the studies by Wallin and Håkanson (1991) and Meeuwing and Peters (1996), who previously showed that the model combining morphometric (e.g. mean depth) predicts coastal eutrophication better than a model that uses nutrients alone. The validation of these three hypotheses was tested in Finnish coastal waters using, chlorophyll a, near-bottom oxygen concentrations and oxygen percentage saturation as predictors (papers III, IV and this summary paper).

(b) From the standpoint of water protection policy, the objective was to study whether phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a are useful indicators in assessing the ecological status of Finnish coastal waters according to the WFD (Table 3). The WFD directs member states to establish type-specific reference conditions for biological quality variables in order to have a baseline against which the changes can be measured. In this thesis, reference conditions are established only for chlorophyll a and phytoplankton biomass (wet weight). Although chlorophyll a is basically a chemical variable, it has generally been accepted as a means to describe phytoplankton biomass in the ecological classifications of the WFD (Anonymous 2006a). Set against this backcloth, the aim of this thesis is to establish reference conditions for phytoplankton biomass (ww) and chlorophyll a in Finnish coastal waters by employing (i) an empirical approach using Secchi depth (this summary paper) and (ii) a N-based diatom-transfer function using paleoecological techniques (paper V).

A multi-proxy approach was applied in order to trace the history of the pollution of the Laajalahti Bay in order to determine reference conditions, and in turn the recovery of the bay from a polluted state (Table 3). This was achieved by connecting long-term monitoring results of water quality and loading with sediment data (Weckström *et al.* 2004, paper V), which consisted stratigraphy of diatoms (Weckström *et al.* 2004), sediment geochemistry (Vaalgamaa 2004), stable isotopes (Weckström *et al.* 2004) and sedimentary pigments (Reuss *et al.* 2005). Different classification scenarios were evaluated for the Laajalahti Bay based on concentrations of total nitrogen and chlorophyll *a* (paper VI). The class boundaries were determined using particular percentage deviations from reference values, as suggested previously by Andersen *et al.* (2004) and Sahlsten and Hansson (2004).

2 Study areas

2.1 River catchments

The study area in paper II consisted of 24 river basins, which cover 87% of the Finnish catchment (Fig. 2). The basins vary greatly in their morphometric and land-use characteristics (Ekholm 1993, Pitkänen 1994). The surface areas range between 566 and 51 127 km², and the mean water flow between 6 and 397 m³ s⁻¹. Six of the basins are large, more than 14 000 km², whereas the surface area of the smaller basins is below 5 000 km². The proportion of agricultural land varies between 0.5 to 44%. The basins were defined as agricultural in cases where the percentage of land given over to fields exceeds 10% of the total land area. All other basins are mainly forested. The density of lakes ranges between 0.2 and 17%. In most of the agricultural river basins, the percentage of lake is low, below 5%. In view of this variability, the basins were divided into five classes according to the main characteristics in order to examine the influences of different kinds of the rivers on load estimates,: (i) large rivers with low lake percentage, (ii) large rivers with high lake percentage, (iii) small agricultural rivers with low lake percentage, (iv) small agricultural rivers with high lake percentage, and (v) small forested rivers with low lake percentage (paper II).



Fig. 2. Rivers discharging from Finland into the Baltic Sea (from paper II).

2.2 Estuarial waters

Estuarial waters in the Baltic are atypical in the sense that they are non-tidal. However, a broad definition of estuaries allows for a continuum of different types of systems (Day *et al.* 1989). In the broad scale, the Gulf of Finland and the Gulf of Bothnia may even be considered as large estuaries because there are strongly influenced by river waters. The Neva estuary in the eastern Gulf of Finland is an open estuary where water is mixed by saline and freshwater. In paper I, the eastern Gulf of Finland was divided into five sub-areas on the basis of geo-morphological and hydrographical features according to Pitkänen *et al.* (1993) and presented in Fig. 3. Water in the shallow Bay of Neva (sub-area I, depth below 6 m) lying inside the flood-protection barrier is mainly of freshwater origin. Covering the water area of 3 200 km², the river Neva estuary (subareas II and III) extends from the Bay as far as the island of Seskar (Pitkänen *et al.* 1993, Table 4). In addition to sharp depth changes (from about 8 to 40 m) the bay is also characterized by strong vertical mixing, indicated by steep vertical and horizontal salinity gradients, and absence of clear halocline. Surface salinity in the estuary ranges typically



Fig. 3. Study area and the sampling sites studied in the eastern Gulf of Finland in August 1990-1992.

Table 4. Main characteristics in 19 Finnish estuaries, the Laajalahti Bay and the Neva estuary outside the flood-protection barrier.
Data given from papers I, III-IV. For the Neva estuary, water area was given by Pitkänen (1991), mean depth, maximum depth and
volume calculated in this study and the remainder of the variables given by HELCOM (1998).

Morphometry and Catchment proper-	Finnish estuarie	S	Laaja-lahti Bay	Neva estuary
ties	Median	Range		Median
Water area, km ²	34	2.0 - 145	5,3	3 200
Mean depth, m	6.4	3.1 - 18	2.4	21
Max. depth, m	20	7.0 - 49	3	36
Volume, 10 ⁶ m ³	219	7.5 - 1 452	12.7	67 200
Mean water flow, m ³ s ⁻¹	10	0.7 - 256	-	2 488 ⁽¹⁾
Residence time, years	0.7	0.01 - 8.18	0.11	0.5
Urban population, %	1.3	0.3 - 6.7	54	2
Agriculture, %	25	9.5 - 43	12	12
Forestry, %	69	54 - 87	34	55 ⁽¹⁾
Watershed, km ²	992	70 - 27 046	25	215 600
TP-load, t a ⁻¹	28	1.8 - 467	0.9	3 526(2)
TN-load, t a ⁻¹	537	49 - 10 770	12	5 8105 ⁽²⁾

(1) River Neva in 1859-1988

(2) including 21 rivers in 1995

between 1 and 3 psu, the residence time being about six months. In contrast to the deeper open Gulf of Finland (sub-area IV, general depth between 20 and 60 m) with a salinity ranging between 4 and 5 psu, the Finnish archipelago (sub-area V, general depth between 20 and 40 m) forms its own sub-area, which comprises several semi-enclosed basins and somewhat lower salinities (below 4.5 psu). Trophic status, as measured by concentrations of nutrients and chlorophyll *a*, is elevated in the easternmost Gulf of Finland compared with the open parts of the Gulf (Pitkänen *et al.* 1993, Pitkänen and Tamminen 1995, Table 5).

Along with extensive estuaries, the broken shoreline of the Baltic Sea characterised by numerous small estuaries and embayments. Very often, the estuaries of Finland are relatively enclosed systems, or winding and fjord-like systems, or island-rich



Fig. 4. The location of catchments of Finnish estuaries of this study: 11, Virojoki; 12, Vehkajoki; 14, Kymijoki; 17, Ilolanjoki; 18, Porvoonjoki; 19, Mustijoki; 20, Sipoonjoki; 21, Vantaanjoki; 22, Siuntionjoki; 23, Karjaanjoki; 24, Kiskonjoki; 27, Paimionjoki; 30, Laajoki; 35, Kokemäenjoki; 39, Närpiönjoki; 42, Kyrönjoki; 49, Perhonjoki; 58, Temmesjoki; and 81.026, Fagerviken (from paper III and IV).

Table 5. Water quality of 19 Finnish estuaries in June/July to August 1989-1993, the Laajalahti Bay in July to August	1987-2002
and the inner and outer Neva estuary outside the barrier in August 1990-1992. Data given in papers I, III-IV.	

Physico-chemical Variables	Finnish estuaries		Laaja-lahti Bay	Neva Estuary
	Median	Range	Mean	Median
Secchi depth (m)	1.6	0.6 - 2.8	0.8	2.3
Salinity (psu)	4.3	1.9 - 6.2	4.9	2.2
Chlorophyll a (µg l ⁻¹)	7.7	2.6 - 31	24	30
Total P (µg l ⁻¹)	33	47 - 91	67	30
Total N (µg l ⁻¹)	466	269 - 1404	672	450
Bottom oxygen (mg l ⁻¹)	7.8	5.9 - 10	8.5	4.1
Bottom oxygen (%)	80	52 - 97	95.7	-

systems or relatively simple pocket estuaries, (papers III and IV, Fig. 4). Morphometry varies between well-mixed and stratified estuaries. Additionally, the estuaries are generally relatively small and shallow, the water area ranging from 2 to 145 km² and the mean depth from 3 to 18 m (Table 4). They have low salinities (below 6 psu), short residence times and are loaded with nutrients originating both from point

and diffuse sources. Agriculture is the main source of nutrients in those estuaries lying along the southwestern coast of Finland (Vuorenmaa *et al.* 2002). Most of the estuaries are eutrophied compared with their neighbouring coastal water areas; summertime concentrations of chlorophyll *a* are range from 2.9 to 31 μ g l⁻¹ (Table 5)



Fig. 5. Location of study area of the Laajalahti Bay and sampling sites for water quality (1) and coring (2). Redrawn from paper V.

The Laajalahti Bay, west of Helsinki City is an urban estuary having a long eutrophication history (Fig. 5, papers V and VI). It is semi-enclosed and small: its surface area is 5.3 km² and its mean depth of 2.4 m (Table 4, Lappalainen and Pesonen 2000). The bay receives fresh water from two brooks, and is connected to the Gulf of Finland first by two narrow straits and subsequently by two sounds, both of which restrict horizontal water exchange. The theoretical residence time is 0.105 years and the average salinity (4.6 psu) of the bay is close to that of the open archipelago. The water is turbid with Secchi depth varying between 0.5 and 1 m. There is no clear density stratification in the bay, therefore oxygen conditions near the bottom are usually good both during summer and the period of ice cover between December and April. In the 1960s, the Laajalahti Bay was one of the most eutrophied areas off Helsinki (Varmo et al. 1988, Lappalainen and Pesonen 2000). However, the bay has recovered from severe pollution after the closing of the municipal treatment plant in 1987. The present-day water quality of the bay is presented in Table 5.

2.3 Finnish coastal waters

Coastal waters around Finland can roughly be divided into the Gulf of Finland, the Archipelago Sea and the Gulf of Bothnia (Fig. 2 insert). The last of these three consists of two distinct basins, the Bothnian Sea and the Bothnian Bay, which are separated from each other by a sill lying 20 m deep and the shallow archipelago of the Quark. Southwards, the Archipelago Sea and the Åland Sea partly isolate it from the northern Gulf. Thus, the deep water of the Baltic Proper is connected to the Bothnian Sea only by a narrow channel between Sweden and Åland (Fonselius 1996).

The combined drainage area of the Gulf of Finland, the Archipelago Sea and the Gulf of Bothnia is 897 000 km², of which the Finnish catchment (301 300 km²) accounts for 34% (Table 1.1, HELCOM 1996). The average depths varies from 23 m in the Archipelago Sea to 68 m in the Bothnian Sea. The morphometry of the Finnish coast is characterised by a broken shoreline and a multitude of islands. The rectilinear length of the

Finnish mainland coast is 1 100 km, but if all the islands (ca. 73 000 islands) are included, the actual length rises to 39 000 km (Granö and Roto 1986). A mosaic of islands and skerries unique in the whole world dominates the northern coasts of the Baltic Sea.

Meteorological factors determine many physical and hydrographical conditions of the northern Baltic Sea. The seasonal variation of water temperature is considerable (0 to 20 °C), and the water is ice-covered more than 90 days during the winter (Leppäranta et al. 1988). The tide in the northern Baltic Sea is insignificant, only 1-2 cm. The irregular fluctuations of the water level are responses to changes in barometric conditions and in the direction and force of the wind. During periods of westerly winds and low pressure conditions, the inflows from the Danish Sounds may brings more saline and nutrientrich water into the Baltic Sea, which pushes the "old" deep waters towards the Gulf of Finland (e.g. Matthäus 1982, 1990). Locally, westerly and northerly winds may cause an up-welling of cooler water below the thermocline. This, in turn, raises the salinity and nutrient concentrations in the surface water.

The hydrographical features of the Gulf of Finland and the Gulf of Bothnia differ in many respects from each other. The former is a direct extension of the Baltic Proper; thus there is no threshold hampering the flow of deep, saline water into the Gulf of Finland. This leads to a strong salinity stratification at the depth of 60-70 m in the western part, which is the area where the gulf reaches its maximum depth of 120 m (Perttilä et al. 1996). The halocine becomes weaker towards the east due to a slow vertical mixing, but strengthens again in the Neva estuary and rises to a depth of 10-30 m as a result of the large fresh water input from the River Neva (Pitkänen and Tamminen 1995). Additionally, vertical mixing is prevented by the thermocline that occurs in the summer at a depth of 10 to 30 m, which further promotes conditions for oxygen deficiency in near-bottom waters.

The Gulf of Bothnia is sheltered from the bulk of the deep waters by a ridge formed by several underwater thresholds, and also by the shallowness of the Archipelago Sea. Only small volumes of water from the saline deep water below the halocline enter the Gulf of Bothnia. This in the combination with the effects of large discharges from the northern rivers sustain the low salinities of the Gulf: the salinity ranges from 1 to 4 psu in the Bothnian Bay and from 4 to 6 psu in the Bothnian Sea (Kullenberg 1981). In the spring and autumn, the weak stratification and the seasonal turnover of the whole water body extends down to the bottom promoting high oxygen concentrations in the near-bottom water layers. In contrast to the Gulf of Finland, anoxic conditions have never been observed in the open Gulf of Bothnia (Wikner 1996).

The hydrographical features also lead to differences in the sensitivity of the two northern Gulfs of the Baltic Sea to eutrophiction. The Gulf of Finland is affected by considerable nutrient load from land areas, mainly originating from the River Neva and St. Petersburg region (Pitkänen et al. 1993). In the Gulf of Finland the nutrient load per unit water area is 2-3 times to the average of the whole Baltic Sea (Pitkänen et al. 2001a). In the open Gulf of Finland nutrient supplies become available for phytoplankton through upwelling and strong mixing events in late autumn and winter. In general, water mixing does not regularly and completely reach the sea bottom, except in the eastern Gulf of Finland, where, due to the lack of the permanent halocline, nutrient reserves on the sea bed relatively easily reach the productive surface layer (Pitkänen and Tamminen 1995). In the eastern Gulf of Finland, benthic release of nutrients was accelerated in the mid 1990s by the strengthened stratification and incomplete wintertime mixing (Pitkänen et al. 2001b). In the Gulf of Bothnia, the amount of phytoplankton is noticeable smaller than in the Gulf of Finland due to the smaller external nutrient loading and the lack of areas receiving substantial internal loading. In the Archipelago Sea, the general trophic status in summer lies between that in the Gulf of Finland and the Gulf of Bothnia.

2.4 Finnish coastal typology

The national typology of Finnish coastal waters (Fig. 6) is based on the proposal by Kangas *et al.* (2003), the ecological relevance of which was tested by using zoobenthos assemblages (Perus *et al.* 2004). In characterization of coastal waters, the main five types were first differentiated from each other by location (longitude and latitude), salinity

and the duration of ice cover. The last-mentioned factor, derived from the descriptor of the range of average water temperature (Anonymous 2003), is ecologically significant in the northern Baltic Sea. The duration of ice cover underlines the unique nature of the Bothnian Bay, where ice cover lasts more than 150 days, in contrast, to the easternmost Gulf of Finland, which has low salinity (below 3 psu) but where the duration of ice cover is shorter, i.e. between 90 and 150 days (Kullenberg 1981, Leppäranta et al. 1988). These main coastal types differ from the division used by HELCOM Commission, especially in the southern coastal water areas, where the longitudinal boundary in the Gulf of Finland was set off Porkkala instead of off Hanko peninsula (Perus et al. 2004).

The further division into inner and outer coastal waters was mainly based on water residence time and wave exposure. Consequently, the inner coastal waters differed from the outer types in that they have longer residence time - weeks or months - and the fact that they are more sheltered against the wind than the outer coastal waters, where renewal of waters lasts only days. Moreover, mixing conditions also supported the division into the inner and outer coastal types, although the complex bottom topography, especially in the Gulf of Finland and Archipelago Sea, made it in many cases difficult to draw a clear the line between the well-mixed waters near the coast and the seasonally stratified offshore waters. More detailed descriptions of the physical characteristics of Finnish coastal types are found in Kangas et al. (2003) and Perus et al. (2004). A type-

Table 6. Median, minimum and maximum values of physico-chemical variables in the coastal water types of Finland in July to August 1990-2006. The chemical variables were sampled in surface waters and oxygen %-saturation near the bottom. Symbols: GF, Gulf of Finland; AS, Archipelago Sea; BS, Bothnian Sea; BB, Bothnian Bay. Locations and abbreviations of the coastal water types given in Fig. 6.

Marine a Coastal v type	rea / water	Depth of the sites (m)	Salinity (psu)	Secchi depth (m)	Chlorophyll (µg l ⁻¹)	ТN (µg ŀ¹)	TP (µg l ⁻¹)	Near- bottom oxygen-% saturation
					Median; rang	je		
GF	Ss	16; 3-40	4.3; 0.8-5.5	2.2; 0.9-4.8	7.4; 1.6-48	420; 210-820	30; 14-67	62; 5-102
	Su	42; 26-70	4.2; 2.8-5.7	3.4; 1.3-5.6	5.0; 1.5-16	370; 220-540	22; 12-75	57; 0-86
AS	Ls	32; 9-119	5.7; 1.5-6.1	2.3; 0.8-5.1	5.6; 2.1-32	380; 200-600	26; 12-63	53; 0-99
	Lv	40; 28-93	5.9; 5.2-6.3	3.0; 1.4-6.5	3.9; 1.4-16	342; 220-610	19; 9-31	66; 25-89
	Lu	38; 15-84	5.9; 4.9-6.4	3.8; 1.6-7.6	3.9; 1.1-19	330; 180-520	22; 9-55	66; 0-90
BS	Ses	12; 4-35	5.4; 4.7-6.1	2.5; 0.8-4.9	2.7; 1.0-19	308; 220-685	20; 3-36	86; 51-102
	Seu	17; 7-42	5.4; 4.8-6.0	3.7; 1.3-7.5	2.3; 0.2-9.2	260; 175-382	13; 7-28	81; 55-108
Q	Ms	4; 0.6-13	4.3; 2-5.5	1.8; 0.5-4.7	5.3; 0.1-42	403; 220-3100	16; 7-96	97; 45-138
	Mu	20; 10-65	3.6; 3.1-5.7	4.0; 2.1-9.0	2.0; 0.1-3.7	368; 200-411	9; 5-18	84; 21-101
BB	Ps	7; 1.3-16	3.1; 0.3-3.6	2.1; 0.4-6.0	4.9; 0.1-21	335; 235-2132	14; 2-76	93; 51-125
	Pu	16; 0.7-42	2.9; 0.1-4.0	3.2; 0.6-8.0	2.7; 0.5-11	286; 81-690	10; 2-92	91; 42-110



Fig. 6. National coastal water types of Finland, defined according to the Water Framework Directive.

specific description of water quality is presented in Table 6.

3 Materials and methods

3.1 Data sets of the coastal water monitoring

Six separate data sets were compiled for this thesis, with data originating from five surface water areas: (i) 24 Finnish rivers (paper II), (ii) Eastern Gulf of Finland (paper I), (iii) 19 Finnish estuaries (papers III, IV), (iv) the Laajalahti Bay (papers V, VI), and Finnish coastal waters (this summary paper). Altogether 35 sampling sites were visited in the easternmost Gulf of Finland and the Neva estuary in August 1990-1992 (Fig 3). The data derived from 19 estuaries (Fig. 4) consisted of total 72 sampling stations visited between June and August in 1989-1993, the number of stations in each estuary varying from 1 to 17. City of Helsinki Environment Centre has one water quality monitoring station in the Laajalahti Bay; there samples were taken in 1966-2001 (Fig. 5). In Finnish coastal waters, altogether 763 sampling stations comprised the coastal monitoring network, which were sampled in July to August 1985-2007 (Fig. 7). The monitoring data sets



Fig. 7. Sampling stations of Finnish coastal waters.

Table 7. Variables and analyses used in water and sediment. Sediment geochemistry has mostly been described in more detailed in separate publications of the other authors of Paper V (See Reuss 2005, Weckström 2005, Vaalgamaa 2007). Symbols: Su, summary paper.

Materials	Variable	Methods	Used in papers
Water	Phytoplankton biomass and species composition	Utermöhl 1958, Edler 1979	Ι
Water	Chl	Spectrometrically and colorimetrically according to Lorenzen (1967)	I, III-VI, Su
Water	Secchi depth		I, III-V, Su
Water	TN, NH ₄ -N, NO ₃ -N, TP, PO ₄ -P	Spectrometrically and colorimetrically according to Koroleff (1983) and Murphy and Riley (1962)	I-VI, Su
Water	Salinity	Conductiometrically	I, III-VI, Su
Water	Oxygen	Winkler method, titrimetrically according to Grasshoff et al. (1983)	IV-V, Su
Sediment	TN, TC	Analysed by Leco-analyser	V
Sediment	Bsi	Modification of the method of DeMaster (1981)	V
Sediment	TP	Ammonium molybdate method with ascorbic acid reduction (SFS-EN 1997, 1189)	V
Sediment	IP	Digesting in HCI (Aspila et al. 1976), analyzing (SFS 1997, 1189)	V
Sediment	Cu, Zn	Digesting by autoclaving (SFS 1980, 3044), spectrophotometer	V
Sediment	¹⁵ N	Continuous-flow isotope mass spectrometry (CF-IRMS)	V

compiled for this thesis comprise information on phytoplankton biomass (measured as wet weight and concentrations of chlorophyll *a*), water chemistry, coastal morphometry, land-use, total nutrient loads, and mean water flows of rivers (Table 7). All data, originating both from Finnish national monitoring programmes and local water quality monitoring surveys, are stored in the database of Finnish Environment Administration (FEA). Summarized descriptions of the coastal monitoring programmes are presented in the study by Kauppila and Bäck (2001).

In estuaries, average values were estimated by calculating monthly, seasonal and annual means for each station and then averaging the station-specific annual means into estuarial-specific mean values for the period 1989 to 1993 (equation in paper III). In the Laajalahti Bay, the annual average values were calculated for winter (January to March) and for summer (July to August). In Finnish coastal waters, average values were estimated for the summer period 1985-2006.

Variables characterising coastal morphometry consist of catchment size, surface water area, mean depth, volume, residence time, openness and fetch. The land-use data comprise the percentage values of the watershed that is urban, agricultural or forested, respectively. Catchment size and land-used data from the early 1990s were derived from the databases of Finnish Environment Administration. Estuarial surface area and mean depth were calculated from 1 : 50 000 bathymetric charts (Finnish Institute of navigation 1996-1998). Mean depth was estimated using a grid technique whereby the depth under each square of the grid covering the estuary was recorded and the average of all of these depth values was calculated. The theoretical residence time (years) was calculated using Bowden's (1980) saltwater fraction method (Table 8). Fetch is the measure of the longest diameter of the water area in the direction of the prevailing wind. Prevailing wind directions, calculated by the Finnish Meteorological Institute (1990-1995), were based on measurements at 11 meteorological stations close to the estuaries.

3.2 Load calculations

Annual loads of nutrients for 24 rivers were calculated using data on concentration of total N, total P and suspended solids, each of which were sampled 10 to 12 times per year, together with the daily measured water flow data (paper II, Fig. 2). The annual loads of each substances were calculated by using six methods: averaging, linear interpolation, periodic, correlation, partially flow-stratified and flow-stratified methods, all of which are described in detail in paper II (Table 8). The averaging method is generally used to estimate Finland's national figures

Table 8. Numerical and statistical techniques used in papers I-VI and this summary (Su). Statistical techniques for paleoecological data are described, in addition to paper V, in more detailed in separate articles of the other authors of paper V (see Reuss 2005, Weckstöm 2005, Vaalgamaa 2007).

	Numerical and statistical methods	Used in papers
(1) Water quality data		
Morphometry (e.g. estuarial water area, mean depth) and land-use	1:50 000 bathymetric charts GIS (ESRI-s ArchView 3.2 and spatial analyses)	I, II, III, IV, V, VI
Residence time	Knudsen's equation (Bowden 1980)	III, IV
Fetch, the longest diameter of the water area in the direction of the prevailing wind	1:50 000 bathymetric charts, prevailing wind direction from the Finnish Meteorological Institute	IV
Load estimates for TP and TN	Averaging method Linear interpolation method Periodic method Correlation method Partially flow-stratified method Flow-stratified method	II, III, IV II II II II II II
Significance of monotonic trends	Kendall Tau B	V
Common variation	Variance analyses, ANOVA	Su
Magnitude of significant trends	Simple linear regression analysis	IV
Relationships between different water quality variables	Spearman's correlation Simple linear regression analyses Multiple regression analyses Two-step mass-balance regression analysis	I, II II, IV, V, Su III, IV, Su III
Accuracy and precision, and general reliability	Monte Carlo method MSR, mean square residual VSR, variance of the squared residual rMSE, root mean squared error	 , , Su
Model validation	Adjusted R-square PRESS statistics (Stevens 1996)	IV IV
(2) Paleoecological data		
Species turnover (gradient length) of the calibration data set	DCA, detrended correspondence analysis	V
Diatom-environment relationships	CCA, partial CCA	V
Species richness	Rarefaction analyses	V
Diatom-inferred TDN reconstructions	WA-PLS, weighted-averaging partial least squares re- gression and calibration	V
Statistical zonation of stratigraphical data	Optimal sum of squares partitioning and broken-stick model	V
Overall changes in diatom community structure of core data	CA, DCA, detrended correspondence analysis	V
Trends in biological and chemical variables of core data	PCA, principal component analysis	V

for the annual riverine loads of nutrients (see e.g. HELCOM 2004).

Accuracy and precision of the load estimates derived from the five calculation methods were evaluated by applying the Monte Carlo procedure, previously used for example by Richards and Hollaway (1987) and Rekolainen *et al.* (1991). The daily data sets were constructed by linear interpolation of the weekly monitored water quality data collected from the River Paimionjoki in 1985 and during the period 1988 to 1991 in order to incorporate the variation of daily water flow into the calculation. By using the flow-dependent strategy of 12 annual samples (Paper II), one hundred replicate data sets were randomly sampled from the daily data set. The replicate data sets for each method were used to calculate the accuracy and precision of the load estimates (Table 8). The root mean squared error (rMSE, Bickel and Doksum 1977) was calculated to describe the general reliability of the methods under study. Details of the Monte Carlo procedure and associated equations are given in Paper II.

3.3 Biological and chemical analyses

Composite samples of phytoplankton (surface to twice the Secchi depth) were taken with a Ruttnersampler and preserved with acid Lugol's solution (Willén 1962). Cells were counted with a Zeiss IM35 microscopy employing Utermöhl's technique (1958). Cell numbers were converted to biomass (ww) using the volumes of the phytoplankton database of the Finnish Environment Administration (FEA), most of which have been calculated according to Edler (1979). Chlorophyll *a* was analysed from the composite sample of phytoplankton was analysed according to Lorenzen (1967). The chlorophyll samples were extracted with acetone from 1980 to 94, and ethanol (Ethyl alcohol) thereafter.

Both nitrogen and phosphorus amounts were determined from unfiltered samples following the Finnish standard methods (Table 7). Total nitrogen samples were first oxidized with potassium peroxodisulphate, then reduced to NO₃ using CD amalgam and, finally, determined spectrometrically and colorimetrically. The analyses of nitrate-N and nitrite-N followed the same procedure, and ammonium-N samples were determined by the indophenol blue method. The concentrations of nitrate-N and nitrite-N were reported largely as a sum (NO₂-N + NO₂-N), which usually deviates only slightly from nitrate-N. Total phosphorus and phosphate-P were determined spectrophotometrically and colorimetrically by using the ammonium molybdate method, described by Murphy and Riley (1962). The analyses of total P samples were initiated by digestion with potassium peroxodisulphate. Suspended solids were filtered through a glass fibre filter (< 70 g m⁻², GF/C) and analysed gravimetrically. Oxygen concentration and oxygen %-saturation were determined by the Winkler method (Grasshoff et al. 1983).

3.4 Statistical analyses

Regression analyses:

Multiple regression techniques were used to explain variation in three descriptors of eutrophication by using variation in ambient water chemistry, the descriptors being (i) phytoplankton quantity (chlorophyll *a*, and biomass measured as wet weight), and (ii) near-bottom oxygen conditions (oxygen concentration and %-saturation), and (iii) Secchi depth. In addition, land-use and morphometry were used as explanatory variables in all three cases as well (Tables 2 and 8). To avoid multicollinearity, correlated explanatory variables were not included in final regression models. All the variables were log₁₀-transformed to stabilize variance (Zar 1999). Land-use variables that were presented as percentages of the catchment area were transformed into $\log_{10}(x+1)$ in order to avoid problems arising from the presence of zero values in some of the landuse categories. The set of preliminary models for regression was identified using the R-square option in the SAS procedure AProc Reg@. The Abest@ model was chosen on the basis of the highest coefficient of determination (r²) and the smallest residual mean square error (rMSE). The mass-balance approach to predicting chlorophyll a involves two steps. First, total P is estimated as a function of the load of total P, sedimentation and flussing (Vollenwider 1975) using Canfield and Bachmann's (1981) mass-balance equation (paper III). The estimated concentrations of total P are then applied to predict chlorophyll a using an empirical regression analysis.

Establishment of reference conditions:

Reference conditions were established for Secchi depth, chlorophyll *a* and biomass by applying three different approaches: (i) the use of historical data, (ii) empirical modelling and (iii) the use of frequency distribution data collected since the 1960s (Table 9). The <u>historical observations</u> of (i) Secchi depth (altogether 19 sites and 80 samples) originated from the summer research cruises of the Finnish Institute of Marine Research (FIMR) in the northern Baltic Sea between 1925 and 1934. The observation sites were mainly located in the open sea and in the outer coastal waters of the northern Baltic Sea. Comparability between the past and present Secchi values were ensured using a correction factor given by Launiainen *et al.* (1989).

The number of the past Secchi observations varied a lot in different coastal water areas around Finland: least observations were found in the outer Quark (5) and most in the Gulf of Finland (25). Consequently, the accuracy of the estimated averages varies, larger sample sizes resulting in better accuracy. This accuracy, i.e. the variation of the estimated mean across samples represented the standard error of the mean. It is calculated by dividing the sample variance by the square root of the number of observations. The problem arising from the small number of observations in certain coastal water areas was solved by assuming that the amount of variation within the outer coastal water areas is similar. This common variation can be estimated as the error variation in Analysis of variance (ANOVA, Table 8). Confidence limits of the mean Secchi depth were calculated using this common estimate. The same approaches were applied to chlorophyll *a* and phytoplankton biomass.

The empirical approach (ii) was applied in the calculation of reference conditions for (a) phytoplankton chlorophyll a and (b) biomass (ww) in the outer coastal waters (Table 9). Reference values for (a) mid-summer phytoplankton chlorophyll a were calculated by applying the historical observations of Secchi depth from the early 20th century. The past values of Secchi depth were used as an input to the linear regression equations, whose parameters had been estimated using the current data of chlorophyll a and Secchi depth. However, when phytoplankton biomass (ww) was regressed on Secchi depth, the coefficients of determination (r²) remained very low. Hence, (b) the average reference values for phytoplankton biomass in the outer coastal waters had to be reconstructed in another way, viz the reference values estimated for chlorophyll a and the linear regression equations predicting phytoplankton biomass as a function of chlorophyll a. The data of the model came from 16

sites (altogether 80 samples) monitored in Finnish coastal waters in July to August in 1995-2005. The similar procedure as in the case of Secchi depth was used when estimating the upper confidence limits of the means for chlorophyll *a* and phytoplankton biomass.

In the inner coastal water types (see Fig. 6), reference conditions for phytoplankton could not be determined empirically, because historical Secchi observations were not available. However, the fact that the smallest values of the present Secchi data in Finnish coastal waters are covered by the scatter of the historical observations in the Baltic Sea (Table 6, Launiainen et al. 1989) may justify a comparison between the historical observations of the early 1900s and the percentiles of the current frequency distribution of data gathered since the 1960s. As a result of the above, (iii) the mean Secchi values of the past data were compared against different percentiles derived from the present frequency distribution data (Table 9). The purpose was to find a percentile in the present data that was equivalent to the type-specific mean values of the past observations. Consequently, the average reference values for Secchi depth in the inner coastal waters were estimated using the ratio between the mean Secchi values of the past data and the given percentile value of the present data calculated for the inner coastal waters. Reference conditions for (iii) phytoplankton chlorophyll a and biomass in the inner coastal waters were estimated in a similar way to the reference Secchi values of the inner coastal waters.

	Establishment of reference conditions								
		Method							
	Use of historical data	Frequency distribution							
Secchi depth	Outer coastal waters in the period 1914-1934		Upper 95% percentile in inner coastal waters						
Chl		between Chl and Secchi depth in outer coastal waters	Lower 5% percentile in inner coastal waters						
Biomass		between biomass and Chl in outer coastal waters	Lower 5% percentile in inner coastal waters						

Table 9. Methods used to establish reference conditions for Secchi depth, chlorophyll a (Chl) and phytoplankton biomass (ww) in the inner and outer coastal waters of Finland.

3.5 Paleolimnological datasets and techniques

Reconstruction of reference conditions

Paleolimnological techniques were used to reconstruct reference conditions for total N and chlorophyll a and to trace different pollution phases in the Laajalahti Bay (paper V). In this procedure, the results of a transfer function were applied to the results of the sediment core of Laajalahti to estimate long-term trends in total N concentrations. The transfer-function has been developed from independent training set composed of diatom relative abundance data and associated variables in waterchemistry (Weckström et al. 2004). The training set, in turn, is based on 49 sites sampled between 1996 and 1998 from small, shallow and sheltered embayments in the Gulf of Finland (Weckström et al. 2004). The original 49-site calibration data set was used to infer past annual concentrations of chlorophyll a (Weckström et al. 2004, paper V). A detailed description of the modern calibration data set in terms of water sampling, analysing techniques and water quality parameters is given in Weckström et al. (2002). Methods used to analyse geochemistry are given in Table 7. Statistical and numerical methods are presented in Table 8.

4 Control of phytoplankton biomass

4.1 Physical factors

4.1.1 Morphometry

Coastal morphometry, i.e. such characteristics as mean depth, water surface area, volume, reference time and fetch, affects the flow of energy and nutrients through the coastal water ecosystem and thereby determines the sensitivity of an coastal water area to eutrophication (Wallin and Håkanson 1991). Among Finnish estuaries, models combining mean depth and the percentage of watershed under forestry improved the predictions of the amounts of chlorophyll *a* (paper III), which supports the hypothesis of "the loading and sensitivity effects" by Wallin and Håkanson (1991). In contrast to their hypothesis, another descriptor of eutrophication, namely near-bottom oxygen conditions, was predicted either as a function of mean depth or landuse, but no model combining these two parameters could be formulated (paper IV). This suggests that in Finnish small estuaries oxygen conditions near the bottom respond, at least partly, differently to external disturbance than phytoplankton biomass does.

Water residence time is another descriptor of coastal morphometry. Empirical testing of its effect on phytoplankton in the Baltic Sea has usually been unsuccessful (e.g. Wallin and Håkanson, 1991, paper III) despite the fact that the models by Wallin and Håkanson (1991), which combine residence time and nutrients, are able to predict two other indicators of eutrophication, i.e. Secchi depth and the amount of sedimentation. In the Baltic coastal waters, the theoretical residence time is typically below 0.08 years, if we exclude estuaries and coastal lagoons (Schernewski and Wielgat 2004). If we look at Finnish estuaries, the range was estimated to be greater than this, i.e. from 0.01 to 5.62 years, being greatest in the semi-enclosed inlets such as the bay of Paimionlahti and least in estuaries of the larger river basins such as Kymijoki and Kokemäenjoki (paper III). However, the ratio of chlorophyll a to total P or total N in the above-mentioned estuaries did not diverge from the average ratio (paper III). This suggests that the range of water residence time around the coast of Finland is probably too small to explain the variation in the amounts of chlorophyll a in general. In the Bay of Neva, the situation seems to be different: the short residence time of a few days, inside the flood-protection barrier, is probably the main reason for the low concentrations of chlorophyll a (8-10 µg l-1) relative to total P (Pitkänen et al. 1993, paper I).

In addition to the effect of chlorophyll – nutrient yields, water residence time affects the structure of phytoplankton assemblages, too, by determining the bioavailability and utilization of nutrients. Thus, for example in the Neva Bay, phytoplankton assemblages characterized by the dominance of cryptomonadales (paper I) are consistent with the discovery that fast-growing phytoplankton, for instance flagellates, tolerate a short residence time (Olrik 1994). Additionally, cryptomonads and green-algal species of the Ulotrichales order have an optimal growth under reduced salinity conditions (Pinckney *et al.* 1999), which also explains their occurrences in the salt-free Neva Bay. In general, species benefiting from their competitive ability to grow fast in unstable environmental conditions include small sized green algae and flagellated taxa (Lepistö 1995). Furthermore, some diatoms benefit from rapid intrinsic rates of growth ('Rselected species'), the majority of which are also tolerant of high-frequency hydraulic disturbance ('R-strategists') according to a classification by Reynolds (1987a,b).

The effect of wind and wave expose on biota (Kahma 1986, Cattaneo 1990, Ekebom et al. 2003, paper IV) can be measured by fetch, which in this study was defined as the longest diameter of the water area in the direction of the prevailing wind. In Finnish estuaries, the model combining the percentage of watershed under urban population and fetch accounted for 44% of the variation in chlorophyll a (paper IV). The coefficient of determination (r²) was not very high, but the slope was highly significant. The model suggests that the stronger the mixing by wind of estuarial waters that receive nutrients from anthropogenic sources, the greater the yield of chlorophyll a. This accords with the study in the Gulf of Riga, which showed that both low and high wind speeds may benefit phytoplankton growth (Anonymous 2006a). Calm conditions are known to promote the growth of cyanobacteria (Kanoshina et al. 2003, Wasmund 1997), whereas strong winds break down the thermocline and transport nutrients up to the productive water layer, triggering there the growth of non-nitrogen fixing algae. Diatoms, because of their fast rate of growth, are another group having an ability to cope with strong water mixing conditions (Walsby and Reynolds 1980).

4.1.2 Light conditions

Light conditions control phytoplankton growth, which in turn - along with losses through grazing, settling and flushing - determine the amount of phytoplankton in the productive water layer. Humus content especially near marshy catchments (Heikkinen 1994, Pettersson *et al.* 1997), contents of resuspended material in shallow coastal areas (Mallin and Paerl 1992, Chen *et al.* 2005) and phytoplankton blooms may reduce light penetration considerably (Pustel'nikov and Shmatko 1971, May 2005). Reduced transparency, in turn, inhibits the penetration of light into the water and decreases the depth of the euphotic zone, which affects phytoplankton amounts and species composition in the water column; various phytoplankton species have different life strategies to adapt to light limitation (e.g. Talling 1971, Reynolds 1988). Water turbidity restricts phytoplankton growth especially in shallow tidal areas (Chen *et al.* 2005), where nutrient levels are typically elevated. Similarly, light limitation occurring primarily in the water column of permanent turbidity maxima enables the ecosystem to contain considerable amounts of nutrients without increasing phytoplankton biomass (Irigoien and Castel, 1997).

The simplest measure of water transparency is Secchi depth, which shows a negative relationship with phytoplankton biomass (e.g. Carlson 1977, Nielsen et al. 2002, Larsson et al. 2006). In this thesis, the mid-summer Secchi depth in Finnish coastal waters accounted for 16 to 89% of the variation in chlorophyll a (Table 10). The weak correlation in the outer coastal waters of the Gulf of Finland was was affected by the small range of chlorophyll a in the coastal type. Root mean square error (rMSE) in the model, describing the average concentrations of chlorophyll a was small, at its worst 9% of the average values of chlorophyll *a* of the coastal type (Table 10). Good correlations have been found in teh southern Baltic Sea (Sandén and Håkansson 1996) and in the Stockholm archipelago (Larssen et al. 2007). Factors affecting the relationships between chlorophyll a and Secchi depth include phytoplankton amounts and species composition, age structure of phytoplankton assemblages, together with humic colored substances, suspended solids and clayey waters (Olrik 1994, Tolstoy 1979) brought down by rivers to the coast.

4.1.3 Meteorological and hydrographical factors

Meteorological and hydrological conditions influence the trophic status of water and algal blooms, among others, by affecting the development of stratification, mixing of water masses and flow conditions, which in turn control many internal processes such as sedimentation. At the Baltic wide scale, specific meteorological conditions, characterised by strong westerly winds and frequent

Sea area	Outer costal water type	Equation	n	rMSE	r ²	p
Gulf of Finland	Su	LgChl = 1.11 – 0.71 LgSec	32	0.088	0.16	< 0.0001
Archipelago Sea	Lu	LgChl = 1.23 – 1.20 LgSec	70	0.146	0.28	< 0.0001
Bothnian Sea	Seu	LgChl = 0.67 – 0.54 LgSec	43	0.071	0.36	< 0.0001
Quark	Mu	LgChl = 1.02 – 1.14 LgSec	13	0.031	0.89	< 0.0001
Bothnian Bay	Pu	LgChl = 0.88 – 0.80 LgSec	60	0.079	0.66	< 0.0001

Table 10. Models predicting summertime chlorophyll a as a function of Secchi depth in the outer coastal types of Finland. All the variables are log-transformed. Symbols: n, sample number; rMSE, root mean square error; r^2 , coefficient of determination; p, significance of the slope. Locations and abbreviations of the outer coastal water types in Fig. 6.

passage of low pressure systems, cause the intrusion of saline water through Danish straits into the Baltic Sea (Weidemann 1950), which in turn may influence trophic conditions in various Baltic basins. For instance, the massive blooms of N2-fixing Nodularia spumigena Mertens that were recorded in the central and eastern Gulf of Finland in 1995 were explained by the decline of the N:P ratio (Kahru et al. 2000). The reduced nutrient ratio was a consequence of the release of phosphate from sediment resulting from the arrival of saline and oxygen-depleted water from the Baltic Proper (Kahru et al. 2000). Experimental studies have shown that the growth of N. spumigena is stimulated either by the addition of phosphorus or a combination of phosphorus and nitrogen (Graneli 1981, Wallström 1991).

At the local scale, blooms of other cyanobacterial species may also be associated to specific meteorological and hydrographical conditions. For instance, Microcystis aeruginosa Kützing formed massive blooms in the south-eastern Finnish archipelago in October 1987, when conditions for transportation of the low-saline and nutrient-rich water from the River Neva were favourable (Niemi 1988, Pitkänen et al. 1993). The pattern was similar to what was observed in the easternmost Gulf of Finland in August 1992, when the extensive bloom of Planktothrix agardhii (Gomont) Anagnostidis & Komárek was associated with south-easterly winds and warm weather at a time when the mixed surface layer was thin (paper I, Pitkänen and Tamminen 1995). These exceptional weather and hydrographical conditions caused nutrient-rich waters from the River Neva and the St. Petersburg region to extend as far west as the easternmost Finnish archipelago, where salinity (2-3 psu) in the surface water layer at that time was clearly lower than normally. This contrast with typical hydrographical conditions in the eastern Gulf of Finland, in which N2-fixing

cyanobacteria *Aphanizomenon* sp. usually dominate (paper I, Basova and Lange 1998, Rantajärvi *et al.* 1998, Kauppila and Lepistö 2001). The nearly optimal inorganic N/P ratio for phytoplankton growth appears to favour more *Aphanizomenon* than the non-N₂-fixing *P. agardhii* (Lepistö *et al.* 2005, paper I).

Vertical mixing, another important hydrographical factor, usually favours the dominance of diatoms, among others, because diatoms typically grow more rapidly than other algal groups (Walsby and Reynolds 1980). Many diatoms tolerate sinking because they benefit of the ability to take up nitrate and ammonium nitrogen in the dark (MacIsaac and Dugdale 1972). These characteristics explain the dominance of Skeletonema subsalsum (A. Cleve) Bethge in the Neva estuary during the mid-summer season of 1992, when the mixing depth of ca. 20 m significantly exceeded the euphotic depth of ca. 5 m (paper I). A third point is that phytoplankton species that are capable of regulating their position in the water column have a competitive advantage over immobile species in conditions where the euphotic depth is greater than the mixing depth (Reynolds 1984). This phenomenon probably explains why the abundances of cryptomonadales in the Neva estuary and the eastern Gulf of Finland were higher in 1992 than during the two previous summers (paper I).

Besides controlling phytoplankton dominance relationships directly, mixing conditions and stratification also influence indirectly phytoplankton growth by regulating many internal processes in water and sediment. In Finnish coastal waters, for instance, Niemi (1982) and Heiskanen and Tallberg (1999) have investigated resuspension and sedimentation, and Lehtoranta (2003) sediment release of phosphorus. In this thesis, sediment release of phosphorus will be discussed in the context of near-bottom oxygen conditions in Chapter 4.3.



Fig. 8. Observed versus predicted values for chlorophyll *a* (Chl) estimated by the mass-balance model for the Finnish estuaries dominated by point-source loading, and (b) observed versus predicted values for log mean Chl estimated as a function of log mean depth (LgZm) and log percentage forest (LgFor-P) for the Finnish estuaries dominated by diffuse loading, where r² is the coefficient of determination and SEE is the model standard error of estimate (from paper III).

4.2 Chemical factors

4.2.1 Nutrient loading

Phytoplankton biomass is elevated in many coastal water areas around Finland, mainly due to considerable nutrient inputs via rivers and from local sources of nutrients (Pitkänen et al. 1994, papers II- IV, Tables 5 and 6). However, the trends of phytoplankton biomass do not necessarily follow the trends of nutrient inputs. This is the case especially in the Gulf of Finland, where eutrophication has continued despite reduction of external nutrient loading during the 1990s, which is, in turn, a consequence of an extensive release of phosphorus from the sediment (Pitkänen et al. 2001b, Lehtoranta 2003). In general, the closer the source of nutrients is to the recipient water body, the clearer is the response of phytoplankton to changes in the loading of nutrients, and vice versa (e.g. Niemi 1973, Pitkänen 1994, Lappalainen and Pesonen 2000, Elmgren and Larsson 2001, Kauppila and Bäck 2001, HELCOM 2004). In marine coastal environments, cause and effect relationships have been demonstrated by dynamic simulation models (Kiirikki et al. 2001, 2006).

Additionally, responses of phytoplankton to changes in nutrient loads have been proved by empirical mass-balance models, which, along with incorporating nutrient loads, employ morphometric and process parameters, such as mean depth, residence time and sedimentation coefficients. Initially, mass-balance models were developed for lake management (e.g. Vollenweider 1975, Kirchner and Dillon 1975, Meeuwig and Peters 1996), but recently they have also been applied in coastal environments (paper III). In Finnish estuaries, a two-step mass-balance model, developed based on Canfield and Bachmann's (1981) mass-balance equation, accurately estimated the variation in chlorophyll a (paper III). The procedure was first to predict TP concentrations as a function of both TP load, sedimentation and flushing, and, secondly, to predict chlorophyll a as a function of the estimated TP values. A similar approach in the Baltic Sea was applied, by for instance, Nordvarg and Håkanson (2002) and by Gyllenhammar and Håkanson (2005) to estimate the impact of the specific TP loads from fish-farms to eutrophication. These models were good, because they accounted for 72 to 84% of the variation in chlorophyll a and 57% of the variation in Secchi depth.

Table 11. Models predicting phytoplankton chlorophyll a as a function of total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP), land-use and morphometry in the Gulf of Finland (Ss, Su), the Archipelago Sea (Ls, Lv, Lu), the Bothnian Sea, (Ses, Seu), the Quark (Ms, Mu), the Gulf of Bothnia (Ps, Pu) and Finnish estuaries. Symbols: Sal, salinity; Depth, depth of sites; Zm, mean depth; For, percentage of watershed under forestry; Urb, percentage of watershed under urban population; Fetch, the measure of the longest diameter of water surface area in the direction of the prevailing wind. See the sym-bols of statistic as in Table 10.

Coastal water area	Equation	n	rMSE	r ²	p				
Nitrogen models									
Gulf of Finland	LgChl = -4.38 + 2.01LgTN	135	0.121	0.71	< 0.0001				
Archipelago Sea	LgChl = -4.24 + 1.92LgTN	274	0.123	0.78	< 0.0001				
Bothnian Sea	LgChl = -3.62 + 1.64LgTN	128	0.140	0.58	< 0.0001				
Quark	LgChl = -3.80 + 1.74LgTN	49	0.170	0.70	< 0.0001				
Quark	LgChl = -5.77 0 2.17LgTN	33	0.089	0.93	< 0.0001				
Bothnian Bay	LgChl = -1.79 + 0.95LgTN	124	0.177	0.25	< 0.0001				
Bothnian Bay	LgChl = -4.29 + 1.95LgTN – 0.10LgSal	48	0.128	0.54	< 0.0001				
Estuaries	LgChl = -2.60 + 1.32LgTN	19	0.184	0.75	< 0.0001				
Phosphorus models (1)									
Gulf of Finland	LgChl = -1.02 + 1.31LgTP	135	0.117	0.73	< 0.0001				
Gulf of Finland	LgChl = -0.83 + 1.26LgTP – 0.21LgSal	109	0.103	0.80	< 0.0001				
Archipelago Sea	LgChl = -1.20 + 1.35LgTP	297	0.094	0.87	< 0.0001				
Bothnian Sea	LgChl = -0.91 + 1.10LgTP	142	0.125	0.64	< 0.0001				
Quark	LgChl = -0.90 + 1.32LgTP	49	0.170	0.70	< 0.0001				
Quark	LgChl = -1.25 + 1.81LgTP – 0.22LgSal	33	0.119	0.87	< 0.0001				
Bothnian Bay	LgChl = -0.44 + 0.93LgTP	124	0.117	0.67	< 0.0001				
Bothnian Bay	LgChl = - 0.53 + 1.06LgTP + 0.30LgSal	48	0.085	0.79	< 0.0001				
Estuaries (1)	LgChl = - 0.82 + 1.16LgTP	19	0.175	0.74	< 0.0001				
Lang-use models	Lang-use models								
Estuaries (2)	LgChl = 5.44 – 0.96 LgZm – 2.09 LgFor	11	0.110	0.74	< 0.005				
Estuaries (1)	LgChl = 0.95 + 0.74 LgUrb – 0.39 LgFetch	17	0.213	0.44	< 0.0001				

⁽¹⁾ Equations from paper IV

⁽²⁾ Equation from paper III

Beyond the above, incorporating land-use patterns into empirical equations enables the estimation of the effect of nutrients from diffuse sources on eutrophication (Meeuwig 1999, papers III and IV, Valiela 2001, Bradshaw et al. 2005, Hong and Huang 2006). In Finnish estuaries, a land-use regression model using the percentage of catchment that is forested together with estuarial mean depth best predicted chlorophyll *a* in the non-point dominated estuaries ($r^2 = 0.74$), whereas the mass-balance approach was the most accurate model for the pointsource loaded estuaries (paper III, Table 11, Fig. 8). In Finland, agriculture is the main source of nutrients (Pitkänen, 1994; Rekolainen et al. 1995; Vuorenmaa et al. 2002, Pitkänen and Räike 2004). The equation of the land-use model is logical, because the greater

the percentage of forested catchment, the smaller is the yield of chlorophyll *a*. An other reason why the percentage of the catchment area under agriculture did not explain the variation in chlorophyll *a* is because the chlorophyll values represented summer season, when the effect of agriculture is relatively small. Additionally, coastal rivers carry the main portion of nutrients from agricultural sources into coastal waters in spring and late autumn (Rankinen *et al.* 2006).

That said, however, when assessing doseresponse relationships, uncertainty occurring in the estimation of nutrient fluxes, should be taken into account. This is especially important in the case of diffuse loading, because such loading depends substantially on hydrological conditions. Reliable estimations of nutrient fluxes require an appropriate calculation method along with a good sampling programme. Underestimation and lack of precision are known to cause serious problems (Dolan et al. 1981, Richards and Holloway 1987, Preston et al. 1989). For example, the averaging method - which is generally used to calculate national nutrient fluxes for pollution load compilations of the Baltic Sea (e.g. HELCOM 2004) - was found to underestimate the loads of phosphorus and suspended solids by 10 to 21%, respectively, in agricultural low-lake rivers flowing into the southern and south-western coastal water areas of Finland, respectively (paper II). By contrast, the flow-stratified method overestimated the loads of phosphorus and suspended solids by about 20% in large low-lake rivers of the Bothnian Bay (paper II). Factors affecting great variation in the load estimates include differences in the methods employed to take into account, not only correlation between observed concentrations and water flow, but also sensitivity of the method to the characteristics of river basins (Lathrop 1986, Preston et al. 1989). In Finnish rivers, the general reliability (rMSE) for the estimates of phosphorus and suspended solids were best when using the correlation method, and for the estimate of nitrogen when using the periodic method based on Monte Carlo simulations (paper II). This is consistent with the results of a study by Ekholm et al. (1995). Accuracy in the loads of particulate-associated substances is reduced, for instance, by a lack of coincidence of the peaks of concentration and water flow in the beginning of snow-melt period (Walling and Webb 1988, Ulén 1995, Posch and Rekolainen 1993).

4.2.2 Nutrient concentrations

In summer, the bulk of nutrients are bound to algae, which gives rise to inter-correlation between phytoplankton biomass and total nutrients. In Finnish estuaries, the model predicting phytoplankton biomass as a function of both total N and total P accounted for ca. 75% of the variation in chlorophyll a (paper IV, Table 11). In Finnish coastal waters, the best predictions were achieved in the Archipelago Sea, where total P accounted for 85% and total N for 78% of the variations in chlorophyll a (Table 11). By contrast, in the Bothnian Bay total N predicted only 25% of the variation in chlorophyll a. Wallin



Fig. 9. Regression equation for bottom total N (TNB) as a function of bottom oxygen percentage saturation (OXSET) for seven 'pits', where r² is the coefficient of determination and SEE is the model standard error of the estimate. Redrawn from paper IV.

and Håkanson (1991) and Kauppila et al. (paper V) obtained even better results ($r^2 = ca. 0.90$) in selected coastal water areas of the Baltic Sea. The predictions made for Finnish coastal waters accord with the models developed for Swedish coastal waters, where, for example, total N alone explained 36 to 77% of the variation in chlorophyll a (Larsson et al. 2007). Additionally, nutrients in combination with morphometric or hydrographical factors improved to some extent predictions of chlorophyll a; salinity improved the coefficient of determination and accuracy especially in the Gulf of Bothnian (Table 11). This accords with the hypothesis of the dose sensitivity factor presented by Wallin and Håkanson (1991). Here, dose means nutrients and sensitivity factors include morphometry (e.g. mean depth).

The results regarding the relationships between chlorophyll *a* and nutrients support the fact that phosphorus is the main limiting nutrient in the Bothnia Bay in summer, whereas N and P together limits phytoplankton primary production in the Gulf of Finland, the Archipelago Sea and the Bothnian Sea (Kivi *et al.* 1993, Tamminen and Andersen 2007). A strong nitrogen limitation seemed to improve predictions. This is the case in the Laajalahti Bay, where primary production of phytoplankton is clearly N-limited in mid-summer conditions (paper V). Similarly, the strengthening of N-limitation in the Archipelago Sea in the 1990s (Kirkkala *et al.* 1998) most probably explains the relatively high coefficient of determination ($r^2 =$ 0.67) of the predictions there (Table 11). Correlation between phytoplankton and nutrients is weakened by humic substances; this fact is explained by phosphorus which is unavailable to phytoplankton when bound to stable humic matter (Salonen *et al.* 1984, Jones 1992). Thus, high humic contents (Nehring 1981, Heikkinen 1994) partly explain the weaker correlations found between phytoplankton and phosphorus in the Gulf of Bothnia compared to correlations in the southern coastal areas.

4.3 Connection to near-bottom oxygen conditions

During the recent years, many coastal water areas of the Baltic Sea have suffered from extensive oxygen deficiency at the interface of water and sediment (Pitkänen et al. 2001b, Lehtoranta 2003, Conley et al. 2006). Oxygen deficiency is partly explained by increased sedimentation of organic matter caused by considerable external nutrient loading and partly by natural factors such as coastal topography and physical stratification. In multiple regression analyses, organic matter and Fe concentrations account for 90% of the variation in sediment total phosphorus broadly across the Gulf of Finland (Lehtoranta and Pitkänen, 2003). However, despite the high nutrient loading, bottom oxygen conditions are usually better in the Neva estuary than elsewhere in the Gulf of Finland, due to more effective vertical mixing of estuarial water (Lehtoranta and Pitkänen 2003). Additionally, increases in phytoplankton biomass in the Archipelago Sea have been associated with weakened oxygen conditions occurring since the late 1990s either locally or as a result of increased nutrient transport from the Gulf of Finland and the Baltic Proper (Helminen et al. 1998, Kirkkala et al. 1998, Hänninen et al. 2000, Suomela 2001, Karlson et al. 2002, Virtasalo et al. 2005). Moreover, external nutrient enrichment is not the only important factor in stimulating the growth of different phytoplankton groups (Lagus et al. 2007) and sustaining the eutrophic state of the shallow waters of the Archipelago Sea, the presence of sediment also plays a role (Suomela et al. 2005).

In this thesis, relationships between summertime near-bottom oxygen conditions and chlorophyll a, and total nutrients were tested by regression analyses in Finnish estuaries. Neither chlorophyll

a in productive surface layer nor near-bottom concentrations of total phosphorus or total nitrogen explained variation in near-bottom oxygen concentrations or oxygen percentage saturation (paper IV). This contradicts the general understanding that oxygen usually decrease in nutrient enriched systems (OECD 1982, Conley et al. 2007) and that near-bottom oxygen conditions are typically associated with elevated phytoplankton production and biomass (e.g. Pitkänen et al. 2001b). The fact that no link between near-bottom oxygen conditions and chlorophyll a or nutrients was found in small Finnish estuaries arises from estuarine nutrient dynamics which are controlled not only by river and marine water inflows, but also by annual sedimentation and material fluxes between sediment and water. Much of the phosphorus and nitrogen sink out of the mixed surface layer during spring (Heiskanen and Tallberg 1999). By contrast, only a very small proportion of annual external nutrients reaches the estuaries in summer (Pitkänen 1994), when most of the nutrients in coastal waters come from the sea. Additionally, the summer concentration of phosphorus in the near-bottom water of the estuaries is a function of numerous other processes (Nixon and Pilson 1984) that have enough time to change the actual concentrations after the sedimentation peaks. Furthermore, the small range of oxygen concentrations probably weakened the results of the regression analyses (paper IV). Thus, generally speaking oxygen deficiency is not a problem in small Finnish estuaries.

In contrast to small Finnish estuaries in general, the oxygen conditions in seven 'pits', i.e. the sub-thermocoline waters of deep basins, could be associated with near-bottom total nitrogen, which explained 76 and 81% of the variation of oxygen concentrations and oxygen percentage saturation, respectively (paper IV, Fig. 9). The coefficients of determination were high probably due to weakened denitrification at the sediment surface and decreased oxygen concentration in sub-thermocline waters. The effect of mixing conditions on oxygen concentrations near the bottom has been quantified in, among others, Danish estuaries and coastal areas where wind speed in late-summer coupled with nitrogen inputs from the land explained 52% of the inter-annual variation in near-bottom oxygen (Conley et al. 2006).

5 Developing reference conditions for phytoplankton

European waters are generally considered to have been pristine before industrialization in the mid-1800s and early 1900s (e.g. Bennion et al. 2004, paper V). However, little historical information describing phytoplankton biomass exists regarding Finnish coastal waters (e.g. Levander 1901, 1915, Leegaard 1920, Holmberg 1935), nor there are any data on nutrient concentrations from that time (Buch 1932). Furthermore, information on phytoplankton in those days cannot be compared with present analyses because of the qualitative nature of the historical data (Finni et al. 2001a, Heiskanen et al. 2005). However, variations in phytoplankton biomass can be estimated from other variables, which describe conditions before the period when eutrophication actually started. In defining reference conditions, Secchi depth has been found useful, because this method is easy to carry out and past observations are comparable to current monitoring data. Additionally, good correlations, found for example between chlorophyll a and Secchi depth in lakes and coastal marine waters (Carlson 1977, Nielsen et al. 2002), confirm the usefulness of the method in estimating reference conditions.

Recently, reference conditions have been defined based on historical data analyses (e.g. Krause-Jensen *et al.* 2004), empirical modeling (e.g. Larsson *et al.* 2007, Lepistö *et al.* 2006b), numerical simulations (e.g. Nielsen *et al.* 2003, Schernewski and Neumann 2005) and paleolimnological approaches (e.g. Clarke *et al.* 2003, Weckström *et al.* 2004, paper V). The study by Nielsen *et al.* (2003) provides an example of the combined approach in which simulation modeling was first used to estimate reference nutrient levels, and which then were used in empirical equations to reconstruct reference chlorophyll *a.*

5.1 Comparative approach

5.1.1 Historical observations of Secchi depth

Historical observations of Secchi depth demonstrate that oligotrophic conditions prevailed in the northern Baltic Sea in the early part of the 20th century. At that time, Secchi depth (an average 9.5 m, SD 2.5 m) was 2.5 to 3 m more than it is today (Launiainen *et al.* 1989, Flemming-Lehtinen *et al.* 2006). Observations of Secchi depth from the period 1925 to 1934 partly encompassed Finnish coastal water area. In the outer archipelago, the Secchi values of that time period varied on an average from 6.7

Table 12. Observations of Secchi depth (m) in the outer coastal water types of Finland in July 1925-1934. Reference values of Secchi depth in the inner coastal water types were calculated by proportioning the mean reference values of the outer types with the 99% deviation values of the present-day frequency distribution data in 1960-2005. The lower 99% confidence limits were calculated for the standard error of the means. Symbols: SD, standard deviation.

	Gulf of Finland		Western coastal waters		Bothnian Sea		Quark		Bothnian Bay		
	Inner (Ss)	Outer (Su)	Inner (Ls)	Middle (Lv)	Outer (Lu)	Inner (Ses)	Outer (Seu)	Inner (Ms)	Outer (Mu)	Inner (Ps)	Outer (Pu)
Secchi depth in 1925-1934											
Number of sites		7			4		3		1		4
Sample number		25			20		10		5		20
Mean	4.9 [*]	5.9	5.7*	7.1*	8.9	7.1*	9.2	4.2*	7.8	5.1*	6.9
Min		2.8			5.4		4.5		5.0		2.3
Max		10.8			14.4		16.1		8.8		11.5
SD		2.03			2.03		2.93		1.73		2.42
Lower 95% confidence limit	4.8*	5.8	5.6*	6.9*	8.7	6.7*	8.7	3.6*	6.7	4.9*	6.7
Data on Secchi depth in 1960-2005											
99% upper percentile	4.8	5.8	5.0	6.2	7.8	6.3	8.2	4.1	7.7	4.8	6.5
95% upper percentile	4.0	5.0	4.3	5.5	7.0	5.0	6.6	3.4	5.5	3.8	5.7

* Calculated by proportioning the mean reference values of the outer coastal water type with 99% percentile.

m in the Gulf of Finland to 8.9 m in the Bothnian Sea (Table 12). In the inner coastal waters, where the historical observations are absent, the average Secchi values were estimated to vary from 4.5 m in the Bothnian Bay to 7.0 m in the Bothnian Sea. These calculations were based on an assumption that the relationships between 99% percentiles analyzed from modern frequency distribution data and the average values of the historical Secchi depth are comparable in the inner and outer coastal waters (Table 12).

The present observations of Secchi depth are on average ca. 3 to 6 m less than the type-specific average reference values; the greatest deviations from the reference values being found in the outer coastal waters of the Archipelago Sea and the Bothnian Sea (Tables 6 and 12). On the other hand, the maximum values of the current Secchi depth data, especially in the outer northern Gulf of Bothnian, at the same level than their reference values, suggesting that single water bodies might in specific summer conditions still reflect even a status of excellent. Despite the above, caution is required when interpreting the figures. For example, the average Secchi depth of 5.0 m, recorded in the eastern archipelago of the Gulf of Finland in the summer of 1990 (paper I), would suggests a status of excellent (compare Table 12). However, this is inconsistent with the present knowledge on the trophic status

of the eastern Gulf of Finland (e.g. Pitkänen *et al.* 1993, paper I, Rantajärvi *et al.* 1998). Moreover, if we take into consideration the eutrophying effects of untreated sewage outfall from the St. Petersburg area that ended up in the sea already in the early 1900s (Leegaard 1920), the timing of reference conditions seem questionable at least in the case of the easternmost Gulf of Finland.

5.1.2 Reconstructing phytoplankton chlorophyll *a*

Reference concentrations of chlorophyll *a* were calculated by substituting the historical values of Secchi depth into the type-specific equations on the relationships between chlorophyll a and Secchi depth (Tables 10 and 12). The reconstructed chlorophyll a values are estimated to vary on an aver-age between 1.6 and 3.0 µg l-1 in the Gulf of Finland and Archipelago Sea, and between 1.4 and 2.8 μ g l⁻¹ in the Gulf of Bothnia (Table 13). The smallest values, 1.4 µg l⁻¹, were achieved in the outer coastal waters of the Bothnian Sea and the greatest, 3.0 μ g l⁻¹, in the inner archipelago of the Gulf of Finland. The higher concentrations of chlorophyll a in the Bothnian Bay than in the Bothnian Sea were caused by differences in seasonality, because in the Bothnian Bay, phytoplankton vernal bloom is still going on in June (Alasaarela 1980, Kauppila and Lepistö 2001).

Table 13. Reference values of chlorophyll a (µg I⁻¹) in Finnish coastal water types in July to August, estimated empirically based on Secchi depth. Reference values for the inner coastal types were calculated by proportioned the mean reference values of the outer types with the 5% lower percentiles of the present-day frequency distribution data in 1977-2005. Explanations in more detailed as in Fig. 12.

С											
	Gulf of Finland		West	Western coastal types		Bothnian Sea		Quark		Bothnian Bay	
	Inner (Ss)	Outer (Su)	Inner (Ls)	Middle (Lv)	Outer (Lu)	Inner (Ses)	Outer (Seu)	Inner (Ms)	Outer (Mu)	Inner (Ps)	Outer (Pu)
Reconstructed chlorophyll a											
Number of sites		7			4		3		1		4
Total number of samples		25			20		10		5		20
Mean	3.0*	2.5	2.7*	1.8*	1.6	1.6 *	1.4	2.1*	1.2	2.8*	1.6
Min		1.6			1.0		0.9		1.0		0.9
Max		5.2			2.6		2.0		1.6		3.4
SD		0.8			0.5		0.3		0.3		0.6
Upper 95% confidence limit	3.0	2.5	2.7	1.9*	1.7	1.8*	1.5	2.5*	1.4	2.8*	1.6
Data on chlorophyll a in 1977-2005											
5% lower percentile	2.6	2.2	2.1	1.6	1.2	1.2	0.8	1.8	1.0	1.7	1.0
1% lower percentile	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.2	0.7	0.6	0.4	1.1	0.4	1.1	0.7

* Calculated by proportioning the mean reference values of the outer coastal water type with 95% percentile.

The reconstructed concentrations of chlorophyll a in the Gulf of Bothnia accord with the corresponding reference values reported by Larsen et al. (2007) in the Swedish side of the Gulf of Bothnia. Additionally, the preliminary results of the reference chlorophyll a in the coastal and open waters around Finland appear to be consistent with each other (HELCOM 2006, Vuori et al. 2006, Laamanen et al. 2007a,b). In contrast, Finland and Sweden reported clearly different reference values for EU intercalibration in the middle Archipelago Sea and the comparable coastal water types in the Stockholm archipelago (Anonymous 2006a), which probably results from a failure to characterize this common intercalibration type. Typological characteristics (e.g. salinity and duration of ice cover) inside this common type are similar (Anonymous 2006a), but the basic hydrographical features of the Archipelago Sea and the Stockholm archipelago are different. The Archipelago Sea receives a part of its waters from the Gulf of Finland and a part from the Baltic proper (Helminen et al. 1998, Hänninen et al. 2000). The open sea area outside the Stockholm archipelago receives a part of its waters from the Bothnian Sea, where nutrient concentrations are among lowest in the scale of the Baltic Sea, and a part from northern Baltic proper, where, due to the stable stratification, nutrient content of the water layer above the halocline is lower than in the Gulf of Finland (Fonselius 1978, Håkansson et al. 1996, Wulff et al. 1996).

Besides errors in typology, differences in the estimated reference values may arise from methodology. In a comparative study by Nielsen *et al.* (2003), a 2-layer numerical simulation model and an empirical approach produced similar estimates in the outer zone of a Danish estuary, but the differences increased towards the inner estuarial waters. This was probably due to differences in the sensitivity of these models to response to the high variability of characteristics that contribute phytoplankton growth and biomass in the estuary. However, comparison of methods used in various studies is often complicated by differences in the averages are calculated. Paleolimnological methods usually employ annual means, in contrast to empirical methods, which present seasonal and summertime means.

According to HELCOM (2006), today hardly any coastal water area around Finland nor in the Baltic Sea reflect pristine conditions. In Finnish coastal waters, the present chlorophyll *a* values are two to five times higher than the estimated reference values (Tables 6 and 13, papers I, III, IV, Pitkänen 1994, Kauppila and Lepistö 2001, Kauppila *et al.* 2004). However, based on the joint Finnish-Swedish intercalibration report some water bodies may still reflect a status of excellent in the Bothnian Sea and the Quark (Anonymous 2006b).

5.1.3 Reconstructing phytoplankton total biomass

Secchi depth proved to be a weak predictor of midsummer (July to August) phytoplankton biomass (ww) in Finnish coastal waters, because Secchi depth and biomass did not correlate with each other. Therefore, phytoplankton biomass was predicted using chlorophyll a as an independent variable. Chlorophyll a accounted for 24 to 50% of the variation in phytoplankton biomass (Table 14). Best predictions were achieved in the Archipelago Sea. The relationship between biomass and chlorophyll a was also good ($r^2 = 0.53$) in the eastern Finnish archipelago and the Neva Estuary (paper I), whereas Niemi (1971) found even better predictions (r² ca. 0.9) in the Kimito Estuary in southwestern Finland. In those estuarial waters, phytoplankton amounts decrease markedly from the eutrophied inner parts out towards to the more oligotrophic open sea.

Biomass - chlorophyll relationships vary greatly in the Baltic Sea (Larsson *et al.* 2006), which is affected among others by taxonomical differences of phytoplankton (Olrik 1994), enumeration

Table 14. Models of phytoplankton biomass as a function of chlorophyll *a*. Symbols: GB, Gulf of Bothnia; AS, Archipelago Sea; and GF, Gulf of Finland. See the symbols of statistic as in Table 10. Locations of the coastal water types in Fig. 6.

Sea area	Outer coastal types	Equation	n	rMSE	r ²	p
GB	Seu, Mu, Pu	LgBiom = 2.20 + 0.84 LgChl	55	0.361	0.30	< 0.0001
AS	Lv, Lu	LgBiom = 2.26 + 1.22 LgChl	86	0.343	0.34	< 0.0001
AS	Lu	LgBiom = 2.23 + 1.22 LgChl	32	0.322	0.50	< 0.0001
GF and AS	Su, Lv, Lu	LgBiom = 2.36 + 1.02 LgChl	200	0.350	0.24	< 0.0001

	GF	Western coastal types GF and AS	BS	Q	BB
	Outer (Su)	Outer (Lu)	Outer (Seu)	Outer (Mu)	Outer (Pu)
n (sites)	7	4	3	1	4
n (samples)	25	20	10	5	20
Mean	0.67	0.34	0.21	0.16	0.21
Min	0.41	0.19	0.15	0.11	0.12
Max	1.28	0.55	0.29	0.22	0.51
SD	0.22	0.10	0.03	0.04	0.09

Table 15. Reference values of phytoplankton biomass (mg l^{-1}) in the outer coastal types of Finland, estimated based on the reference concentrations of chlorophyll a (µg l^{-1}) and the type-specific relationships between phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a (see Tables 13 and 14).

of large algal cells (Lepistö et al. 2006c), light conditions (White et al. 1988) and nutritional status of phytoplankton relative to amounts of cellular chlorophyll a (Rhee 1978, Jensen and Sakshaug 1973). Variability in the relationships are also caused by the fact that picoplankton is typically not included in the counted total biomass, although it is contained in the water samples where chlorophyll a is measured. Additionally, phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a have been found to response differently to nutrient enrichment (Lagus et al. 2004). According to Olrik (1994), the relationships between biomass and chlorophyll a are highest during green algal dominance ($r^2 = 0.78$), medium during diatom dominance ($r^2 = 0.76$) and lowest during bluegreen algal dominance ($r^2 = 0.55$). The amounts of chlorophyll a are also relatively low among dinoflagellates (Reynolds 1984). Thus, the taxonomical differences in the amounts of chlorophyll a partly explain the low relationships between biomass and chlorophyll a achieved in the Gulf of Finland (Table 14), where cyanobacteria often predominate summertime phytoplankton assemblages (Kononen and Niemi 1984, Leppänen et al. 1988, Kahru et al. 2000, Kauppila and Lepistö 2001). In diatom dominated phytoplankton assemblages, typical for the Bothnian Bay (Kauppila and Lepistö 2001), the weak correlation may at least partly be explained by species which have relatively small amounts of cellular chlorophyll a in relation to their biovolumes (Reynolds 1984). Seasonal light conditions most probably contributed to the overall low relationships between biomasses and chlorophyll a in Finnish coastal waters (Table 14), because the relationship between light intensify and chlorophyll a has shown to be highest during

spring and winter and lowest in summer (White et al. 1988).

The midsummer reference biomasses. estimated empirically by the relationships between phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a (Table 14), varied a lot in the outer coastal waters around Finland. They ranged on an average from 0.16 to 0.21 mg l⁻¹ in the Gulf of Bothnia, they were ca 0.34 mg l⁻¹ in the Archipelago Sea and ca. 0.67 mg l⁻¹ in the Gulf of Finland (Table 15). Larsson et al. (2007) estimated similar reference biomass (0.15 to 0.21 mm³ l⁻¹) on the Swedish side of the coastal Gulf of Bothnia. In the Gulf of Finland especially, the reconstructed biomasses appear to be high compared to total biomasses reported for the late 1960s and early 1970s - in the period when phytoplankton biomasses and species composition in many offshore water areas indicated undisturbed conditions (e.g. Niemi et al. 1970, Bagge and Niemi 1971, Niemi 1973, Niemi and Ray 1975, 1977). However, interannual variation in phytoplankton biomasses should also be taken into account. For example, according to Kononen and Niemi (1984), many dominant phytoplankton species and groups at the entrance to the Gulf of Finland during the 1970s revealed great year-to-year fluctuations, a phenomenon which the authors were unable to link to the hydrographical and chemical changes in the Baltic Proper at that time. However, total biomasses in the Gulf started to increase after the mid-1970s, which was associated with increases in surface salinity and the levels of nutrients (Kononen and Niemi 1984), as a result of saline water intrusions from the Baltic Proper (Matthäus 1982).

5.2 Multi-proxy approach

5.2.1 Tracing history of pollution from sediment and water

Five historical phases of pollution including reference conditions were identified in bay of Laajalahti (paper V). There were based on a multidimensional index of water quality, generated by principal component analysis on the sediment data (paper V). These sets of data consisted of stratigraphy of diatoms (Weckström *et al.* 2004), sediment geochemistry (Vaalgamaa 2004), stable isotopes (Vaalgamaa 2004), sedimentary pigments (Reuss 2005), longterm monitoring results of water quality and nutrient loading (paper V). The identified phases were

- (i) a pre-industrial phase (before ca. 1815),
- (ii) a phase of slight human disturbance (ca. 1815 to 1900),
- (iii) an onset of anthropogenic impact (ca. 1900 to 1955),
- (iv) a severe pollution phase (ca. 1955 to 1975)
- (v) basin recovery coupled with a phase of internal loading (from ca. 1975 onwards).

(i) In **prehistorical phase** before ca. 1815, human disturbance in the Laajalahti Bay area was minor and sedimentary nutrient levels were stable.

(ii) In the phase of slight human disturbance after 1815, nutrient levels started to increase slightly, most probably as a consequence of postglacial isostatic land-uplift. During this process, water exchange in the bay weakened, because the bay became partly isolated from the open sea. At that time, there was no general sewage network in Laajalahti. The predominance of benthic over planktonic taxa and the overall diverse diatom assemblages indicated by species richness suggest that the bay experienced little if any disturbance, despite the fact that abundance of planktonic diatom taxa started to increase slowly after the 1820s.

(iii) **The onset of anthropogenic impact** spanned the years from ca. 1900 to 1955. This period was characterised by *a* slow rise in the population along with the lack of treatment of wastewaters (Laakkonen and Peltonen 1999). The nutrient loads into the bay were estimated to be 9.9 t of total P a⁻¹ and 110 t of total N a-1. The onset of eutrophication is indicated by clear changes in the sediment chemistry and biotic community structure. The rise in nutrient enrichment (expressed as diatominferred total dissolved nitrogen, DI-TDN and $\delta^{15}N$) and subsequent increase in organic production (measured as organic phosphorus, OP) led to oxygen deficiency (expressed as the Cu:Zn ratio) in the sediment. Algal biomass increased, as indicated by chlorophyll a plus its degradation products (ChlaD), and the abundance of benthic diatoms began to decrease simultaneously with a distinct increase in planktonic taxa, although benthic communities still dominated during this phase. According to Finni et al. (2001b), cyanobacterial blooms were common near Helsinki at those days.

(iv) The severe pollution phase covered the time period from ca. 1955 to 1975. This period was characterised by heavy wastewater loading (on an average 40 t total P a⁻¹ and 180 t total N a⁻¹) and the start of the recovery due to the introduction of the water-treatment plant built in 1957. The sedimentary record generally confirms the main trends of nutrients in the water column. The peak of the Cu:Zn ratio in the middle of the period suggest an anoxic period, which is verified by water monitoring data, which show that oxygen concentrations were low in the nearbottom water layer. Sedimentary OP showed a declining trend from the 1970s towards the top of the sediment cores. Similarly, total P in the water showed a steep decline. The increased dominance of planktonic taxa over benthic ones suggests significant nutrient enrichment. Maximum eutrophication in the middle of the period was reflected as simultaneous peaks of sedimentary nutrients (total N and DI-TDN) and sedimentary pigments (ChlaD and diatoxanthin), which could be evidenced by water chemistry data. Additionally, a clear loss of species richness in the bay was concomitant with the period of greatest eutrophication.

(v) **Basin recovery and the phase of internal loading,** spanning the period from ca. 1975 to the present day, represents conditions of substantial internal loading and the termination of external wastewater loading in 1986, which may be indicated by the decline of DI-TDN and organic phosphorus since the late 1980s. The Laajalahti Bay is still clearly N-limited in the summer, indicated by an strong interdependence between chlorophyll a and total N ($r^2 = 92\%$). The role of denitrification is probably substantial, based on high OP and chlorophyll *a*, increase in the sediment $\delta^{15}N$ profile towards sediment surface, and constantly high wintertime nitrate nitrogen in the water. Despite a clear recovery, high nutrient concentrations and productivity mean that the Laajalahti Bay remains eutrophied. Additionally the community structure is characterised by the decline in species richness since the late 1980s and the continuing dominance of planktonic taxa over benthic taxa in the diatom assemblages. Phytoplankton is dominated by cyanobacteria and the abundance of green algae indicates significant eutrophication during the 1990s (Pesonen et al. 1995, Autio et al. 2003).

5.2.2 Establishing reference conditions for phytoplankton

Palaeolimnological analyses on sediment geochemistry and diatom community structure suggested that natural conditions in Laajalahti prevailed in the mid- to late 1800s (paper V). The time before the early 1800s does not represent realistic reference conditions, because the postglacial landuplift increased nutrient enrichment in the estuary, which in turn was reflected in the community structure of biota. However, the kinds of changes, driven by for instance climate and hydrology, are taken into account in the Directive, which advises that 'in controlling anthropogenic pressures it is unrealistic to base reference conditions upon historic landscapes that no longer exist in modern Europe'. On the other hand, due to rise, albeit show, in the population and a lack of wastewater treatment (Laakkonen and Peltonen 1999) the status of Laajalahti in the early 1900s did not reflect undisturbed conditions either.

Based on sets of the calibration data (Weckström *et al.* 2004), past concentrations of total N were inferred to be ca. 600 µg 1^{-1} a⁻¹ and chlorophyll *a* to be ca. 10 µg 1^{-1} a⁻¹ (paper V). However, methodological uncertainties remain in the analyses. For instance, the diatom inferred function was worse for chlorophyll a than for total N (Weckström *et al.* 2004). That said, the reference values appear high compared to presentday figures for the annual average concentrations of total N (430 to 517 µg 1^{-1} a⁻¹) and of chlorophyll *a* (8.2 to 11.6 µg 1^{-1} a⁻¹)

in some small embayments of the Gulf of Finland affected by external nutrient loading (paper VI). This may suggest that some inner coastal areas might still today be possess good ecological status in the northern Baltic Sea, especially in those cases where human pressure to these bays is slight. In view of the proximity of the coast, and in conjunction with restricted water exchange and resuspension of nutrients from the bottom, concentrations of chlorophyll *a* and nutrients in shallow semi-enclosed bays are typically elevated compared with the offshore waters (Pitkänen *et al.* 2001a), which must also have been the case also in pristine conditions.

The data obtained from sediments provided information on the states of plankton communities at time when the Laajalahti Bay was pristine. Benthic diatoms predominated over planktonic taxa and species diversity of the assemblages was high based on the species richness index (Weckström et al. 2004, paper V). However, the slow increase in planktonic diatoms at the expense of benthic diatoms indicates the onset of human impact in the early 1900s. In contrast, the attempt to trace extra information on species composition by studying data on sedimentary pigment proved unsuccessful. According to Reuss et al. (2005), the 100 year set of records of sediment pigment in the Laajalahti Bay is too limited for this purpose. However, looking at historical records, instead, the abundances of phytoplankton appear to be small and species few in number in the early years of the 1900s, which implies undisturbed conditions. The assemblages consist mainly of the cyanobacteria Aphnizomenon sp. and the diatom Chaetoceros minimus (Levander) Marino, Giuffré, Montresor&Zingone (Välikangas 1926). Even then, Finni et al. (2001b) classified the bay as moderately eutrophied based on the zooplankton species, Filinia longiseta, which dominated the assemblages in Laajalahti in 1919.

5.2.3 Recovery of Laajalahti from pollution based on water monitoring data

The recovery of Laajalahti from pollution can be divided into two periods: (a) the period during the municipal wastewater treatment plant (MWWTP) was operating in 1957-1986 and (b) the internal loading phase after the MWWTP was closed in 1986. The first period was characterized by rapid declines of the concentrations of nutrients and chlorophyll a, and the accompanying improvements in transparency and wintertime oxygen conditions, resulting from a reduction in the loads of nutrients and organic matter (Fig. 10). The reduction was greatest for the wintertime concentrations of total P and inorganic nitrogen (DIN): total P declined by 244 mg total P m⁻³ a⁻¹ and DIN by 412 mg DIN m⁻³ a⁻¹. In contrast, summertime total P dropped on average by 24 mg total P m⁻³ a⁻¹ and 155 mg total N m⁻³ a⁻¹, respectively. The summertime DIN did not show any trend, because practically all nitrogen was bound in phytoplankton. Chlorophyll *a* decreased from 75 to 45 mg m⁻³.

As a consequence of the closure of the municipal wastewater treatment plant in 1986, the amounts of nutrients and chlorophyll a first dropped, but the status of the bay did not continue to improve

thereafter. The recovery was delayed by the considerable release of phosphorus from the sediment. The daily release of phosphorus from the sediment is estimated to be 4 mg m⁻² d⁻¹ (Munne and Autio 2005), which is less than the average value (13 mg m⁻² d⁻¹) found in the reduced surface sediments of the coastal Gulf of Finland (Pitkänen et al. 2001b), but much more than was found in oxidized bottoms in Tvärminne off Pojo Bay in the western Gulf of Finland (< 2 mg m⁻² d⁻¹, Lehtoranta and Heiskanen 2003). In the Laajalahti Bay, which is shallow, high water temperature in bottom water layer (in summer ca. 18 °C) probably strongly accelerates internal loading, because the release of phosphorus from the sediment is a microbial process, which is dependent on temperature (Holdren and Armstrong 1980, Kelderman and Van der Repe 1982). According to Munne and Autio



Fig. 10. Trends in water-quality and annual municipal loading of nutrients and organic matter into Laajalahti Bay during 1966-2001. (a) Surface wintertime concentrations and municipal load of total P; (b) surface wintertime concentrations and municipal load of total N; (c) near-bottom summertime oxygen percentage saturation and municipal load of organic matter (as BOD₇); (d) summertime concentrations of phytoplankton chlorophyll a and Secchi depth. Loading data during 1968 to 1971 based on calculations by Rekolainen (1982). The figure redrawn from paper V.

(2005), the internal loading of phosphorus (1.7 t a^{-1}) equals to external loading of phosphorus (1.1 to 2.2 t a^{-1}), whereas external loading of nitrogen (30 to 46 t a^{-1}) is ten times greater than the internal loading of phosphorus (2.9 t a^{-1}).

Internal loading may be associated with other processes in the Laajalahti Bay, too. For instance, it maintains N-limitation by releasing substantial amounts of phosphate-P from the sediment-water interface, even under good oxygen conditions in near-bottom waters (Rekolainen 1982, Munne and Autio 2005, paper V). Another process that enhances N-limitation in the bay is denitrification, which, based on high organic production (indicated by sedimentary organic P and chlorophyll a) and constantly high wintertime concentrations of nitrate-N in the water (paper V), probably removes large amounts of N at the sediment-water interface. Furthermore, the increase in the $\delta 15N$ profile in the sediment core site indicated that increasing amounts of N have been subjected to denitrification (paper V). The estuary also receives water from N-limited open coastal waters, although water exchange with the open Gulf is restricted by sounds. Additionally, the increase in the proportion of the heterocystic cyanobacteria species Aphanezomenon flos-aquae and Anabaena sp. in the summers of the late 1990's and the early 2000's suggest that N₂-fixing has a role (Autio et al. 2003). The earlier dominating nonheterocystic species Planktothrix agardhii has not occurred in the bay in the 1990s.

6 Overall evaluation of the applicability of phytoplankton quantity as an indicator of eutrophication

The applicability of phytoplankton quantity - i.e. biomass and chlorophyll a - as an indicator of eutrophication can be evaluated from at least three viewpoints. First, by examining to what extent phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a fulfill the main scientific criteria used for determining a good status indicator. In short, this requirement means mainly that it is possible to predict accurately the amounts of phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a from amounts of nutrient. Secondly, by examining to what extent the indicators studied fulfil the specific

requirements set by the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD). The Directive requires among other things that biological quality elements should have type-specific and well-defined reference conditions. Finally, by examining the prerequisites that are required by coastal monitoring in order to produce reliable information on phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a for status assessments - the prerequisites naturally depend on available resources. Generally speaking, this third requirements can, in the end, be tied in with coastal management. Altogether, these three viewpoints form a three-tiered structure in which scientific criteria forms the base element establishing the reliability of indicators; water protection policies such as the WFD with their special requirements lie in the middle; and finally, coastal management including the resources it has available, forms the top of layer the structure.

The main scientific criterion established for determining a good indicator is that it responses to disturbances and anthropogenic stresses in a predictable manner and has low variability in its response (Dale and Beyeler 2001). Based on the statistical models, developed separately for estuaries and the other Finnish coastal water areas, this criterion was fulfilled: the summertime concentrations of chlorophyll a were predicted quite accurately from nutrient concentrations (papers III and IV, Table 11); root mean square error (rMSE) was less than 9% of the average chlorophyll concentrations in the coastal types (Tables 6 and 11). However, external annual nutrient loads alone did not explain variation in chlorophyll a (paper III). This is understandable, because nutrient loads entering the sea are rapidly affected by primary production and sedimentation in the close vicinity of the loading source in summer. However, the two step mass-balance equation using reconstructed concentrations of total P, predicted chlorophyll a most accurately in estuaries receiving nutrients from point-sources, whereas the land-use model, which, in fact, incorporate diffuse loading and turbidity, gave most accurate predictions in estuaries receiving nutrients from diffuse loading (Fig 8, paper III).

Additionally, the hypothesis was tested to establish whether nutrients in conjunction with morphometry (e.g. mean depth, fetch) or hydrographical factors (e.g. salinity) would improve predictions of coastal

Hypotheses (H)	Location of	Main conclusions
Land-use predict better ChI than TP or TP based mass-balance model alone	Estuaries	H. supported
A model combining nutrients and morphometry more accurately estimate ChI than nutrients alone	Estuaries Finnish coastal waters	H. supported
A model combining nutrients and morphometry more accerately estimate near-bottom DO and oxygen-% saturation than nutrients alone	Estuaries	H. supported
Near-bottom DO and oxygen-% saturation are linked to Chl	Estuaries	H. not supported

Table 16. Hypotheses and conclusions of the statistical analyses in Finnish coastal waters and estuaries.

eutrophication. Generally speaking, the hypothesis was supported in the set of data studied (Table 16). In estuaries, chlorophyll a could be predicted as a function of mean depth and land-use (paper III). Similarly, in different coastal water areas around Finland the models that combined nutrients and morphometry and hydrographical factors in most cases improved accuracy (rMSE) and the coefficient of determination (r², Table 11). By contrast, the hypothesis was not supported by models predicting other descriptors of eutrophication, such as nearbottom oxygen conditions, because no multiple regression could be developed (paper IV). Landuse, described as percentage of watershed under agriculture, was the best predictor of near-bottom oxygen conditions, which emphasized the importance of diffuse loading for eutrophication. In contrast, unsuccessful attempts to describe relationships between near-bottom oxygen conditions and other describers of eutrophication, viz. chlorophyll a and near-bottom concentrations of nutrients, were explained by the fact that biogeochemical product processes have enough time to change the actual concentrations after the sedimentation peaks.

Besides pure scientific requirements, the applicability of eutrophication indicators should be evaluated in the light of requirements set by water protection policy, specified in thesis as a policy dictated by EU's Water Framework Directive. The WFD requires that biological quality elements have well-defined reference conditions in order to enable ecological classification. According to the Guidance Document on the Common Implementation Strategy (CIS) of the WFD given for coastal and transitional waters, (1) reference conditions should be typespecific; that is to say, the typology must lead to the reliable derivation of biological reference conditions (Anonymous 2003); additionally, (2) reference conditions should incorporate natural variability both spatial and temporal; and finally, (3) variability

in natural conditions should be minimized within a type to enable valid comparisons between biological communities.

In this thesis, the indicator value of phytoplankton chlorophyll a in Finnish coastal waters was evaluated against the three above-mentioned criteria (1-3) concerning the establishment of reference conditions. According to the first criterion (1), the type-specific reference conditions should be reliable (Anonymous 2003), meaning that (a) the empirical models built are accurate, and (b) the reconstructed average concentrations of chlorophyll a, derived using the past Secchi values, are accurate. In this thesis, (a) the chlorophyll models developed for various Finnish coastal areas were relatively accurate: the most accurate models were constructed for the Quark, whereas the model developed for the Archipelago Sea was less accurate (Table 10). As for phytoplankton biomass (ww), predictive power of the model was weakened by the fact that the reference values of phytoplankton biomasses were based on the empirically reconstructed concentrations of chlorophyll a, and not on measured values.

Regarding accuracy, i.e. the variation of the reconstructed chlorophyll *a* across samples (b), problems occurred in a couple of the coastal water types where the number of samples was low, such as in the Quark (see chapter 3.3). Accuracy was improved by estimating confidence limits for the average mean values by using the common variation among the outer coastal types. However, it is also important to be aware that reliability in the inner coastal waters is worse than in the outer coastal types, where historical observations are available for predictions. Moreover, the intrinsic characteristics, described for instance by morphometry, vary more within the inner coastal types than within the outer types, which naturally complicates the establishment of the type-specific reference conditions for the inner coastal types. Krause-Jensen et al. (2005) has demonstrated using eelgrass that the use of typespecific classification carries a risk of misinterpreting ecological conditions, especially in cases where reference conditions are less well defined.

The second criterion (2) of reference conditions is that they should incorporate natural variability - both spatial and temporal (Anonymous 2003). Based on the historical Secchi depth of the 19 observation sites, the spatial variability of the reconstructed chlorophyll values was low, but temporal large, especially when considering the broader picture of Finnish coastal water areas, for which annual observations of Secchi depth were available between the mid-summers 1925 and 1934. However, temporal variability differed depending on the coastal water area: it was best in the Gulf of Finland, and worst in the middle Archipelago Sea and the Quark. In fact, the criterion of natural variability may be associated with accuracy of the average reference conditions already described above (see the first criterion 1b). Regarding paleoecological approaches in general, it is possible to describe spatial variability within a type provided that sites within a water body are numerous. However, paleoecolgical techniques provide no means whatsoever of tracing seasonal variability of natural conditions. Having evaluated the sitespecific reference values in the Laajalahti Bay, the conclusion is that methodological uncertainties surely played a role (papers V and VI).

The third criterion (3) set for reference conditions is that natural variation should be minimized within a coastal water type in order to enable valid comparisons between biological communities (Anonymous 2003). This criterion aims at homogeneity of a type, which was carried out in the characterization, i.e. typology, of coastal waters by hydromorphological variables, which, in turn, according to the Directive are meant to support the use of biological quality elements in the ecological classification. However, when defining reference conditions empirically, the minimized variability, i.e. homogeneity of a type, may be contradictory, because empirical modeling requires that variation must be measured. Cases showing samll range of dependent variables may justifies the use of more general models instead the use of type-specific models.

Finally, the applicability of phytoplankton chlorophyll a and biomass as indicators of

eutrophication can be assessed from the standpoint of coastal management and the resources available for coastal water monitoring. At least two important criteria for a good indictor can be found among the criteria suggested by Dole and Beyeler (2001), the criteria which can be associated with coastal management: (i) Indicators should be inexpensive to measure, (ii) and they should be anticipatory, meaning that a change in the indicator should be measurable before a substantial change in ecosystem occurs. The chemical analyses of chlorophyll a are, of course, cheap compared to the analyses of phytoplankton biomass and species composition, in spite of the fact that the prices of quantitative phytoplankton analyses vary to some extent depending on an analyser, the number of samples to be analysed, and the enumeration method used. However, the price should not be the only criterion. The quantitative analyses of phytoplankton biomass and species composition provide more metrics for ecological classification, the metrics which reveal various aspects of eutrophication contrary to what chlorophyll a alone does. Toxicity and a shifts of species composition, for instance, may be anticipatory signals of eutrophication.

The purpose of coastal water monitoring is to describe reliably enough both spatial and temporal variability in water quality. Reliable assessments of coastal water status, in turn, can be carried out by an extensive monitoring network and an sufficiently frequent sampling, which takes seasonal variation into account. For example, to assess growing season averages or to catch a vernal phytoplankton peak more frequent sampling is required than when estimating only summertime mean values. In this thesis, the statistical analyses were based on the summer period between July and August, when the number of samples can be kept to a minimum because of the stable water column and relatively small variations of nutrients and chlorophyll a at that time. Carstensten et al. (2005) constructed an approach to reduce sampling frequencies in annual and seasonal data analyses without any loss of reliability. This method produced accurate results in Danish coastal waters (Carstensten et al. 2005) in contrast to in the Laajalahti Bay, where it failed probably mainly due to great seasonal variation in nutrients and chlorophyll a (Anonymous 2006b).

7 Summary

This thesis investigated the adequacy of phytoplankton biomass (ww) and chlorophyll a as indicators of eutrophication in Finnish coastal waters. The process of evaluation comprised the following: carrying out statistical tests (a) on the predictability of the responses of summertime phytoplankton to nutrient concentrations and loading and (b) on the accuracy of reference conditions established separately for summertime phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a.

Concentrations of total N and total P accounted for 60 to 90% of the variation in phytoplankton chlorophyll a in Finnish coastal waters in summer, when most of phytoplankton biomass is bound to algae. Nutrient loads did not predict directly the variation in chlorophyll a, because nutrient loads entering the sea are rapidly affected by primary production and sedimentation close to the loading source in summer. Incorporating coastal morphometry (e.g. mean depth), or hydrography (e.g. salinity) into nutrient models improved accuracy (rMSE) of the predictions. A land-use regression model incorporating morphometry was most accurate in estuaries receiving nutrients from diffuse sources, whereas a phosphorus-based massbalance equation was most accurate in estuaries dominated by point-source loading.

These regression models can be applied to two purposes: (i) predicting the average level of chlorophyll a in small water bodies where the concentration data are missing, and (ii) assessing the responses of chlorophyll a to changes in nutrient concentrations when considering restoration activities for river basin management plans. In estuaries, nearbottom oxygen conditions were associated with land-use and fetch, i.e. the diameter of the area in the direction of the prevailing wind. On the other hand,oxygen conditions near the bottom cannot directly be used to assess the level of chlorophyll a. In general, the high level of accuracy demonstrates the relevance of limnological approaches to predict eutrophication in Finnish estuaries, characterized by low salinity and the lack of tide.

Control of eutrophication is difficult in complex coastal marine systems like the Baltic Sea, especially when benthic release of phosphorus delays the recovery of water bodies from pollution, as in the case of the Laajalahti Bay. Thus, numerical simulation models, incorporating biogeochemical processes in water and sediment, are probably more useful - although much more laborious and expensive - for estimating the effects of nutrient reductions on phytoplankton in complex and extensive water bodies, where the quality objectives set by the Water Framework Directive (WFD) will probably not be achieved. Whichever approach is chosen, efforts should also be made to minimize the uncertainty inherent in the estimates of riverine nutrient fluxes when deciding on how to allocate resources for the control of water pollution. Based on the root mean square error (rMSE) describing general reliability, correlation method is recommended to estimate riverine phosphorus loads and periodic method to estimate nitrogen loads. The traditional method averaging riverine nutrient fluxes underestimates phosphorus loads especially in the Archipelago Sea, where seasonal variations of water flow and water quality are usually great.

Assessing ecological status according to the WFD requires the establishment of type-specific and well-defined reference conditions. It was possible to apply empirical modeling to define reference conditions for chlorophyll a in outer coastal waters, where the historical observations of Secchi depth from the early 1900s partly encompassed Finnish coastal water. The coefficient of determination (r^2) varied considerably in different sea areas, which could be associated with the differences in the homogeneity of the areas relative to concentrations of chlorophyll a and Secchi depth. Root mean square error (rMSE), describing accuracy of the models, varied from 3 to 16% of the average concentrations of chlorophyll a in the coastal water types. As for phytoplankton biomass, rMSE was ca. 12% of the average biomass of the coastal water types. The predictive power of the biomass model was weakened by the fact that the reference values of phytoplankton biomasses were based on the empirically reconstructed concentrations of chlorophyll a, and not on measured values. Both the average reference values of phytoplankton biomass and chlorophyll a represent an extensive and heterogenic coastal water type. Consequently, the average reference values underestimate the "real" reference conditions in sites near the zone of the inner coastal types, because the historical

Secchi observation originated from sites near the open sea.

In the inner coastal types, reference conditions were estimated using the present frequency distribution data, which give no information on the spatial nor temporal variation of phytoplankton quantity in its pristine conditions. The inner coastal types are more heterogenic in respect to coastal morphometry and hydrographical factors. The same type-specific reference conditions represent a shallow coastal bay, a semi-enclosed deep estuary and an inner archipelago inside the coastal type, increasing uncertainty of the ecological classification.

Today, chlorophyll *a* is the only phytoplankton metric providing extensive information for the ecological classification of Finnish coastal waters. The WFD requires the inclusion of other phytoplankton indicators, too. The quantitative analyses of phytoplankton biomass and species composition are more expensive but they provide more metrics for ecological classification, the metrics which reveal various aspects of eutrophication contrary to what chlorophyll *a* alone does.

Yhteenveto

Työn tarkoituksena oli arvioida kasviplanktonin biomassaa (ww) ja *a*-klorofylliä rehevyyden indikaattorina Suomen rannikkovesialueilla, tutkimalla voidaanko kasviplanktonin määrää arvioida luotettavasti ravinteiden avulla ja voidaanko kasviplanktonille luoda referenssiolot vesipuitedirektiivin vaatimusten edellyttämällä tavalla.

Suomen rannikkovesissä kesäaikainen kokonaistyppi ja -fosfori selittivät suurimman osan, noin 60-90 % kasviplanktonin *a*-klorofyllin vaihtelusta kesällä, jolloin suurin osa ravinteista on sitoutuneena kasviplanktonin biomassaan. Keskimääräistä *a*-klorofyllipitoisuutta kuvaavan regressiomallin jäännöshajonta jäi alle 9 % keskimääräisestä klorofyllipitoisuudesta rannikkovesityypeillä. Ulkoiset ravinnekuormat eivät suoraan selittäneet *a*-klorofyllin vaihtelua, koska kesäaikainen kasviplanktonin perustuotanto ja sedimentaatio vaikuttavat nopeasti merialueille päätyviin ravinnekuormiin lähellä rannikon ravinnelähteitä. Empiiristen mallien jäännöshajontaa voitiin pienentää sisällyttämällä ennusteisiin rannikon muotoa (esim. vesialueen keskisyvyys) tai hydrografiaa kuvaavia muuttujia (esim. suolaisuus). Jäännöshajontaa voitiin pienentää myös jakamalla jokiestuaarit pääasiallisen kuormituslähteen mukaan kahteen luokkaan. Maankäyttöön perustuva regressiomalli oli parempi jokiestuaareissa, joissa ravinteet päätyivät merialueille pääasiassa hajakuormituslähteistä, kun taas fosforipohjainen aineiden tasapainoon perustuva regressiomalli oli parempi estuaareissa, joissa pistekuormitus on vallitseva kuormituslähde.

Yllä kuvattuja regressiomalleja voidaan käyttää hyväksi, kun arvioidaan vesipuitedirektiivin mukaista ekologista tilaa Suomen rannikkovesialueilla: niitä voidaan käyttää (i) arvioimaan pienten vesimuodostumien keskimääräistä a-klorofyllitasoa silloin, kun pitoisuustiedot puuttuvat ja (ii) arvioimaan a-klorofyllin vastetta ravinnemäärien muutoksiin esimerkiksi silloin, kun harkitaan vesialueiden tilan ylläpitoa tai palauttamista vähintään hyvään tilaan. Jokien estuaareissa pohjan läheisen hapen pitoisuus ja kyllästysaste voitiin yhdistää maankäyttömuotoihin ja rannikon morfometriaan kuten vesialueen halkaisijaan eli "fetchiin" vallitsevan tuulen suuntaisesti määritettynä. Sen sijaan pohjanläheisten happiolojen perusteella ei voida suoraan arvioida keskimääräisen a-klorofyllin määrää estuaarissa. Regressiomallien jäännöshajonnan pienuus osoittaa, että nämä alunperin limnologiset lähestymistavat ovat käyttökelpoisia Suomen rannikkovesialueilla, joita luonnehtii alhainen suolaisuus ja vuorovesivaihtelujen puuttuminen.

Rehevyyden hallinta Itämeren mutkikkaissa ekosysteemeissä on vaikeaa, etenkin kun pohjasedimentistä vapautuva fosfori viivyttää rehevöityneen vesialueen palautumista hyvään tilan, mistä Laajalahti on hyvänä esimerkkinä. Biogeokemiallisia prosesseja kuvaavat numeeriset simulointimallit ovat todennäköisesti yksinkertaisia regressiomalleja käyttökelpoisempia silloin, kun arvioidaan miten kasviplankton vastaa ravinnekuormien vähentämiseen monimuotoisilla rannikkovesialueilla - simulointimallit ovat tosin paljon työläämpiä ja kalliimpia kuin empiiriset mallit. Kumpi tahansa lähestymistapa valitaankin, jokien ravinnevirtojen estimaattien epävarmuuteen tulisi myös kiinnittää huomiota varsinkin silloin, kun päätetään kuinka resursseja jaetaan vesiensuojelutyössä. Laskentakaavojen yleistä luotettavuutta kuvaavan jäännöshajonnan (rMSE) antamien tulosten perusteella korrelaatiomenetelmää suositellaan käytettäväksi silloin, kun arvioidaan jokien kuljettamia fosforikuormia, kun taas periodimenetelmää suositellaan käytettäväksi jokien typpikuormien arviointiin. Ravinnevirtojen keskiarvoihin perustuva perinteinen menetelmä aliarvioi jokien fosforivirtoja erityisesti Saaristomerellä, jossa jokivirtaamien ja vedenlaadun kausivaihtelut ovat suuria.

Vesipuitedirektiivin mukainen ekologisen tilan arviointi edellyttää, että jokaiselle rannikkovesityypille luodaan vesityyppikohtaiset referenssiolot. Empiiristä mallinnusta oli mahdollista soveltaa aklorofyllin referenssiolojen määrittämiseen Suomen ulommilla rannikkovesityypeillä, joilta vanhoja, 1900-luvun alun näköhavaintotietoja oli saatavilla. Regressiomallin selitysaste (r2) vaihteli suuresti eri merialueilla: se oli pienin ($r^2 = 0.16$) Suomenlahdella ja suurin ($r^2 = 0.89$) Merenkurkussa. Tulos kuvastaa hyvin sitä, että Suomenlahti on ylipäätään klorofyllipitoisuudeltaan ja näkösyvyydeltään homogeenisempi alue kuin Merenkurkku. Keskimääräistä a-klorofyllipitoisuutta kuvaavan mallin jäännöshajonta vaihteli 3:sta 16 prosenttiin alueen keskimääräisestä klorofyllipitoisuudesta. Keskimääräistä kasviplanktonin biomassaa kuvaavan mallin jäännösvarianssi oli noin 12 % alueen keskimääräisestä biomassasta. Kyseistä mallia heikensi kuitenkin se että biomassaa ei voitu laskea suoraan näkösyvyyden vaan estimoitujen klorofyllipitoisuuksien funktiona. Kummassakin tapauksessa keskimääräiset referenssiarvot edustavat laajaa, heterogeenistä rannikkovesityyppiä. Keskimääräiset kasviplanktonin biomassan ja a-klorofyllin referenssiarvot aliarvioivat todellisia referenssiarvoja lähellä sisemmän rannikkotyypin rajaa, koska näkösyvyyden vanhat havaintopaikat sijaitsivat usein lähellä avomerta.

Sisemmillä rannikkoalueilla ei voitu käyttää empiiristä mallinnusta, vaan referenssiarvot laskettiin nykyisen seurantadatan frekvenssijakaumia hyväksi käyttäen. Kasviplanktonin *a*-klorofyllin alueellisesta tai ajallisesta luonnonvaihtelusta ei näin ollen ole mitään tietoa. Sisemmät rannikkovesityypit ovat syvyyssuhteiltaan ja avoimuudeltaan ulkoisia rannikkotyyppejä heterogeenisempiä. Yksi tyyppikohtainen referenssiarvo edustaa sekä matalan lahden suualueen, puoliavoimen syvän jokiestuaarin kuin myös saaristoisen rannikkoalueen keskimääräistä *a*-klorofyllipitoisuutta. Tämä lisää ekologisen luokituksen epävarmuutta. Tällä hetkellä *a*-klorofylli, analyysiensä halpuuden ja helppouden ansiosta, on ainoa kasviplanktonia kuvaava muuttuja, josta on Suomen rannikkovesistä pitkältä ajanjaksolta alueellisesti kattavaa tietoa. Vesipuitedirektiivi edellyttää muidenkin kasviplanktonmittareiden luomista ekologista luokitusta varten. Kasviplanktonin biomassa ja lajistokoostumus vaativat enemmän resursseja, mutta ne mahdollistavat monipuolisempien mittareiden kehittämisen. On selvää ettei rehevyyden vaihtelun kuvaaminen onnistu yksin *a*-klorofyllin avulla.

Acknowledgements

The earliest inspiration for my conceivable postgraduate studies came about in 1998, while Dr. Jessica Meeuwig was preparing articles on coastal eutrophication here in Finland. As a consequence of my collaboration with her and Dr. Heikki Pitkänen, Dr. Lea Kauppi, Director of the Finnish Environment Institute (SYKE), encouraged me to make a concrete proposal for my doctoral dissertation. I would like to thank her warmly for beliefing in my competence, because her initiative led to further collaboration with Jessica, and enabled me fully to concentrate on science. I was privileged to join, invited by Professor Jacob Kalff, the Department of Biology in the McGill University, Montreal as visiting PhD student from August 1999 to June 2000. Dr. Jessica Meeuwig supervised my work during my stay at McGill University. I am grateful for all her guidance and support, and I admire her because she is not only a dedicated scientist but an excellent pedagogue, too.

Unfortunately, initial proposals made for my doctoral thesis were not realised. After coming back from Canada, work on the implementation of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) in Finnish coastal waters has kept me especially busy. In view of this, I decided to write a synthesis on papers which I could associate with both eutrophication and the ecological classification of the WFD. In this respect, I want to thank firstly my supervisors Dr. Heikki Pitkänen, expert in nutrient and tropic dynamics, and Professor Liisa Lepistö, phytoplankton ecologist, for all their guidance, encouragement and critical comments on my manuscript. I am very grateful to Dr. Hannu Rita, too, for his interest on my work, the critical comments, and especially the inspiring discussions on statistics and science in general. I warmly thank Dr. Marko Järvinen for giving his time in order to comment my manuscript and also for discussions on phytoplankton analyses.

I am grateful to my pre-evaluators, Dr. Kaisa Kononen and Dr. Susanna Hajdu for their suggestions to improving my thesis and for the comments on my manuscript. I thank all of those who collaborated with me in the individual papers: Guy Hällfors, Pentti Kangas, Jari Koskiaho, Pirkko Kokkonen, Svetlana Basova and Katja Pellikka, and the partners of the MOLTEN project: Atte Korhola, Kaarine Weckström, Sanna Vaalgamaa, Nina Reuss and Simon Drew - it was the partners of the MOLTEN project who revealed to me the secrets of sediments!

My special thanks go to Professor Saara Bäck, who has encouraged, supported and believed in me throughout the whole process. I am very grateful to Pentti Kangas and Antti Räike, who took extra care of coastal monitoring work during the time I was writing my manuscript. I thank Antti, too, for a map he drew for my thesis. I have enjoyed discussions with Jouni Lehtoranta, concerning especially benthic release of phosphorus. I am grateful to Arjen Raateland, a professional programmer, for all his ongoing help and advice with SAS programming, assistance which stretches back to when we worked under the administration preceding SYKE. In addition, I thank Arjen Raateland and Heikki Rautavaara for ensuring that my portable computer and the SAS program in it worked properly prior to my leaving for Montreal. I thank Ritva Koskinen for skillfully making-up the manuscript for press. My warm thanks also to Roger Munn for his patient assistance in checking the English language of this thesis.

Additionally I wish to acknowledge Regional Environment Centers, the work of which ensures that water quality monitoring data are available in the register of the Finnish Environment Administration. Thanks must go also to the knowledgeable and friendly staff of the library in SYKE.

My work was supported in part by Finnish Environment Institute (SYKE), the Finnish Academy, the research project MOLTEN (Monitoring long-term trends in eutrophication and nutrients in the coastal zone: Evaluation of background conditions, anthropogenic influence and recovery, contract EVK3-CT-2000-00031) and the research project REBECCA (relationships between the ecological and chemical status of surface waters, Contract SSPI-CT-2003-502158). Permissions for maps: Copyright SYKE in Figs 2 and 4; Maanmittaushallituksen lupa nro 7/MYY/07 in Figs 3, 5-7.

Finally, I am blessed with many good friends and relatives. Especially Tapio, Leena, Heli, Merja, Eva and Jorma have brought a lot of happiness into my life in forms of discussions, hiking in nature, and through music and art. I owe my sincere gratitude to my dear parents, Martti and Kerttu, who have always encouraged me in my studies, however, letting me to make my own decisions.

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of my dear father.

References

- Alasaarela, E. 1980. Phytoplankton and environmental conditions in the northern part of the Bothnian Bay. Acta Universitatis Ouluensis, Series A, Scientiae Rerum Naturalium No. 90, Biologica No. 7. 23 p.
- Alpine, A.E. & Cloern, J.E. 1992. Trophic interactions and direct physical effects control phytoplankton biomass and production in an estuary. Limnol. Oceanogr. 37: 946-955.
- Andersen, T., Saloranta, R.M. & Tamminen, T. 2007. A statistical procedure for unsupervised classification of nutrient limitation bioassay experiments with natural phytoplankton communities. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods. 5: 111-118
- Andersson, D.M., Glibert, P.M. & Burkholder, J.M. 2002. Harmful algal blooms and eutrophication: nutrient sources, composition, and consequences. Estuaries 25: 704-726.
- Andersson, A., Hajdu, S., Haecky, P., Kuparinen, J. & Wikner, J. 1996. Succession and growth limitation of phytoplankton in the Gulf of Bothnia (Baltic Sea). Mar. Biol., 126: 791-801.
- Andren, E., Shimmield, G., Brand, T. 1999. Environmental changes of the last three centuries indicated by siliceous microfossil records from the south-western Baltic Sea. Holocene 9(1): 25-38
- Anonymous 2003. Transitional and coastal Waters Typology, reference conditions and classification system. Guidance Document No. 5. Common Implementation Strategy for the Water Framework Directive. European Commission. ISBN 92-894-2040-5.
- Anonymous 2006a. Millestone 6 report Baltic Sea. European Commission, Directorate General, Joint Research Centre, Institute of Environment and Sustainability. Version June 16, 2006. 39 p.
- Anonymous 2006b. Ecological status classification of marine waters. Indicator development and monitoring requirements. Tema Nord 2006:582. Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen 2006.
- Arhonditsis, G., Karydis, M. & Tsirtsis, G. 2003. Analysis of phytoplankton community structure using similarity indices: A new methodology for discriminating among eutrophication levels in coastal marine ecosystems. Environment Management 31: 619-632.

- Autio, L., Kajaste, I., Pellikka, K., Pesonen, L. & Räsänen, M. 2003. The required monitoring of the sea areas of Helsinki and Espoo in 1995-2001. Publications by City of Helsinki Environment Centre, Helsinki (in Finnish with English summary)
- Baden, S. P., Loo, L.O., Pihl, L. & Rosenberg, R. 1990. Effects of eutrophication on benthic communities including fish: Swedish west coast. Ambio 19: 113-122.
- Bagge, P. & Niemi, Å. 1971. Dynamics of phytoplankton primary production and biomass in Loviisa archipelago (Gulf of Finland). Merentutkimuslait. Julk. / Havsforskningsinst. Skr. 233: 19-41.
- Basova, S.L. & Lange, E.K. 1998. Trends in late summer phytoplankton in the Neva Bay and eastern Gulf of Finland during 1978 to 1990. Memoranda Soc. Fauna Flora Fennica 74: 1-14.
- Battarbee, R.W. 1991. Recent palaeolimnology and diatombased environmental reconstruction. In: Shane L.C. & Cushing E.J. (eds). Quaternary Landscapes. Belhaven Press, London, p 129-174.
- Bennion, H., Juggins, S., Anderson N.J. 1996. Predicting epilimnetic phosphorus concentrations using an improved diatom-based transfer function and its application to lake eutrophication management. Environ. Sci. Technol. 30: 2003-2007.
- Bennion, H., Fluin, J. & Simpson, G.L. 2004. Assessing eutrophication and reference conditions for Scottish freshwater lochs using subfossil diatoms. J. Appl. Ecol. 41: 124-138.
- Bickel, P.J. & Doksum, D.A. 1977. Mathematical Statistics, Chapter 4, San Francisco, Holden-day, Inc.
- Bowden, K.F. 1980. Physical factors: salinity, temperature, circulation, and mixing processes. In: Olausson, E. & Cato, I. (Eds). Chemistry and biogeochemistry of estuaries. Chichester: Wiley. pp. 37-70.
- Boynton, W.R., Kemp, W.M. & Keefe, C.W. 1982. A comparative analysis of nutrients and other factors influencing estuarine productivity. In: Kennedy, V.S. (ed.) Estuarine, NY, Academic Press. pp. 60-90.
- Brettum, P. & Andersen, T. 2005. The use of phytoplankton as indicators of water quality. Norwegian Institute for Water Research – an institute in the Environment Research Alliance of Norway, Report no 4818-2004.
- Buch, K. 1932. Untersuchungen über gelöste Phosphate und Stickstoffverbindungen in dem Nordbaltischen Meeresgebieten. Merentutkimuslaitoksen julkaisu, no. 86, 30 p.
- Burton, J.P. (Ed). 1988. River inputs to ocean systems: Status and recommendations for research, UNESCO technical papers in marine research, no. 46, 25 pp.
- Canfield, D.R. & Bachmann, R.W. 1981. Prediction of total phosphorus concentrations, chlorophyll- a, and Secchi depths in natural and artificial lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 38: 414-423.
- Carlson, R.E. 1977. A trophic state index for lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 22: 361-368.
- Carstensen, J., Conley, D.J. & Henriksen, P. 2004. Frequency, composition, and causes of summer phytoplankton blooms in a shallow coastal ecosystem, the Kattegat. Limnol. Oceanogr. 49: 190-201.
- Carstensen, J. & Heiskanen, A.-S. 2007. Summer algal blooms in shallow estuaries: Definition, mechanisms, and link to eutrophication. Limnol. Oceanogr. 52: 370-384.
- Cattaneo, A. 1990. The effect of fetch on periphyton spatial variation. Hydrobiologia 206: 1-10.

- Chen, M.S., Wartel, S., Eck, B.V.; & Maldegem, D.V. 2005. Suspended matter in the Scheldt estuary. Hydrobiologia 540: 79-104.
- Clarke, A., Juggins, S. & Conley, D.J. 2003. A 150-year reconstruction of the history of coastal eutrophication in Roskilde Fjord, Denmark. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 46: 1615-1629.
- Cloern, J. E. 1987. Turbidity as a control on phytoplankton biomass and productivity in estuaries. Continental Shelf Research 7: 1367-1381.
- Cloern, J.E. 2001. Our evolving conceptual model of the coastal eutrophication problem. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 210: 223-253.
- Conley, D.J., Stockenberg, A., Carman, R., Johnstone, R.W., Rahm, L. & Wulff, F. 1997. Sediment-water nutrient fluxes in the Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 45: 591-598.
- Conley, D.J., Humborg, C., Rahm, L., Savchuk, O.P. & Wulff, F. 2002. Hypoxia in the Baltic Sea and Basin-Scale Changes in Posphorus Biogeochemistry. Environ. Sci. Technol. 26: 5315-5320.
- Conley, D.J., Carstensen, J., Ærtebjerg, G., Christensen, P.B., Dahlsgaard, T., Hansen, J.L. & Josefson, A. 2007. Longterm changes and impact of hypoxia in Danish coastal waters. Ecol Appl. 17: 165-184.
- Dale, V.H. & Beyeler, S.C. 2001. Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. Ecological indicators 1: 3-10.
- Danilov, R.A. Ekelund, N.G.A. 2001. Comparative studies on the usefulness of seven ecological indices for the marine coastal monitoring close to the shore on the Swedish East coast. Environ. Monit. and Assess. 66: 265-279.
- Day, J.W., Hall, C.A.S., Kemp, W.M. & Yanez-Arancibia, A. 1989. Estuarine Ecology. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- Dillon, P.J. & Rigler, F.H. 1974. The phosphorus-chlorophyll relationship in lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 19: 767-773.
- Dippner, J.W. 2006. Future aspects in marine ecosystem modelling. J. Mar. Syst. 31: 246-267.
- Dodd, W.K., Caney, E. & Angelo, R.T. 2006. Determining ecoregional reference conditions for nutrients, Secchi depth and chlorophyll a in Kansas Lakes and Reservoirs. Lake Reserv. Manage. 22: 151-159.
- Dolan, D.M., Yui, A.K. & Geist, R.D. 1981. Evaluation of river load estimation methods for total phosphorus. J. of Great Lakes Res. 7: 207-214.
- Edler, L. 1979. Recommendations for marine biological studies in the Baltic Sea. Phytoplankton and chlorophyll. Baltic Marine Biologists, Publication 5: 1-38.
- EEA 2007. Europe's environment The fourth assessment. State of the environment report No. 1/2007, 452 p.
- Ekebom, J., Laihonen, P. & Suominen, T. 2003. A GIS-based step-wise procedure for assessing physical exposure in fragmented archipelagos. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 57: 887-898.
- Ekholm, M. 1993. Suomen vesistöalueet. Vesi-ja ympäristöhallitus, Helsinki. Vesi- ja ympäristöhallinnon julkaisuja – sarja A, no. 126, 166 s.
- Ekholm, P., Kronvalng, B., Posch, M. & Rekolainen, S. 1995. Accuracy and precision of annual nutrient load estimates in Nordic rivers. National Board of Waters and the Environment, Finland, Publications of the Water and Environment Administration – Series A 205, 50 p.

- Elmgren, R. & Larsson, U. 2001. Eutrophication in the Baltic Sea area: Integrated coastal management issue. In: von Bodungen, B. & Turner, R.K. (Eds). Science and Integrated Coastal Management. Dahlem University Press.
- Fonselius, S.H. 1978. On nutrients and their role as production limiting factors in the Baltic. Acta Hydrochim Hydrobiol. 6: 329-339.
- Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. Official Journal of the European Communities. 72 p.
- Finni, T., Kononen, K., Olsonen, R. & Wallström K. 2001a. The history of cyanobacterial blooms in the Baltic Sea. Ambio 30: 172-173.
- Finni, T., Laurila, S., Laakkonen, S. 2001b. The history of eutrophication in the sea area of Helsinki in the 20th century. Long-term analysis of plankton assemblages. Ambio 30: 264-271.
- Fisher, T.R., Harding, L.W. Jr., Stanley, D.W. & Ward, L.G. 1988. Phytoplankton, nutrients, and turbidity in the Chesapeake, Delaware, and Hudson estuaries. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 27: 61-93.
- Flemming, V. & Kaitala, S. 2006. Phytoplankton spring bloom intensity index for the Baltic Sea estimated for the years 1992 to 2004. Hydrobiology 554: 57-65.
- Fleming-Lehtinen, V., Laamanen, M. & Olsonen, R. 2006. Water transparency in the Baltic Sea between 1903 and 2006. HELCOM Indicator Fact Sheet. (http://www.helcom. fi/environment2/ifs/ifs2006/secchi/en GB/secchi/).
- Fonselius, S. 1996. Västerhavets och Östersjöns oceanografi. Norrköping: SMHI, 200 p.
- Forsskåhl, M. 1980. Phytoplankton biomass and species composition in Finnish coastal waters in 1974 and 1975. Finnish Marine Research 247: 94-109.
- Gasiūnaitė, Z.R., Cardoso, A. C., Heiskanen, A.-S., Henriksen, P., Kauppila, P., Olenina, I., Pikaityte, R., Purine, I., Razinkovas, A., Sagert, S., Schubert, H. & Wasmund, N. 2005. Seasonality of phytoplankton assemblages in the different salinity regimes of the Baltic Sea. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 65: 239-252.
- Giovanardi, F. & Volleinweider, R.A. 2004. Trophic conditions of marine coastal waters: experience in applying the Trophic index TRIX to two areas of the Adriatic and Tyrrhenian seas. J. Limnol. 63: 199-218.
- Graneli, E. 1981. Bioassay experiments in the Falsterbo Channel – nutrients added daily. Kieler Meeresforsch., Sonderh. 5: 82-90.
- Granö, O. & Roto, M. 1986. Rantaviiva (The coastline). Atlas of Finland, Folio 132, Water. National Board of Survey and Geographical society of Finland: 2-3.
- Grasshoff, K., Erhardt, M. & Kremling K. (Eds) 1983. Methods of seawater analysis. Weinheim: Verlag Chemie. 419 pp.
- Greve, TM & Krause-Jensen, D. 2005. Predictive modelling of eelgrass (Zostera marina) depth limits. Mar. Biol. 146: 849-858.
- Gyllenhammar, A. & Håkanson, L. 2005. Environmental consequence analyses of fish farm emissions related to different scales and exemplified by data from the Baltic - a review. Mar. Environ. Res. 60: 211-243.
- Hallegraeff, G.M. 1993. A review of harmful algal blooms and their apparent global increase. Phycologia 32: 79-99.
- Hansson, S. & Rudstam, L.G. 1990. Eutrophication and Baltic fish communities. Ambio 19: 123-125.

- Harding, L.W. Jr. & Perry, E.S. 1997. Longterm increase of phytoplankton biomass in Chesapeake Bay, 1950-1994. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 157: 39-52.
- Hecky, R.E. & Kilham, P. 1988. Nutrient limitation of phytoplankton in freshwater and marine environments: a review of recent evidence on the effects of enrichment. Limnol. Oceanogr. 33: 796-822.
- Heikkinen, K. 1994. Organic matter, iron and nutrient transport and nature of dissolved organic matter in the drainage basin of a boreal humic river in northern Finland. Sci. Total Environ, 152: 81-89.
- Heiskanen, A.-S. & Tallberg, P.1999. Sedimentation and particulate nutrient dynamics along a coastal gradient from a fjord-like bay to the open sea. Hydrobiologia 393: 127-140.
- Heiskanen, A.-S., Gromisz, S., Jaanus, A., Kauppila, P., Purina, I., Sagert, S. & Wasmund, N. 2005. Developing reference conditions for phytoplankton in the Baltic coastal waters. Part I: Applicability of historical and long-term datasets for reconstruction of past phytoplankton conditions. Joint Research Center, Technical report, EUR 21582/EN/1.
- HELCOM 1996. Third periodic assessment of the state of the marine environment of the Baltic Sea, 1989-93. Background document. Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No. 64B, 252 p.
- HELCOM 1998. The third Baltic Sea pollution load compilation (PLC 3). Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No. 70, 133 p.
- HELCOM 2002. Environment of the Baltic Sea area 1994-1998. Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No. 82B, 214 p.
- HELCOM 2004. The Fourth Baltic Sea Pollution Compilation (PLC-4). Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No. 93, 188 p.
- HELCOM 2006. Development of a tool for assessment of eutrophication in the Baltic Sea. Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No. 104, 62 p.
- Helminen, H., Juntura, E., Koponen, J., Laihonen, P. & Ylinen, H. 1998. Assessing of long-distance background nutrient loading to the Archipelago Sea, northern Baltic, with a hydrodynamic model. Environ. Model. software Environ. Data News 13: 511-518.
- Holdren, G.C. & Armstrong, D.E. 1980. Factors affecting phosphorus release from intact lake sediment cores. Environ. Sci. Technol. 14: 79-87.
- Holmberg, L. 1935. Ergebnisse optischer und chemischer Wasseranalysen 1911 – 1931. Hydrografisen toimiston tiedonantoja 5, 54 p.
- Hällfors, G. 2004. Checklist of Baltic Sea phytoplankton species. Balt. Sea Environ. Proc. No.95. 208 p.
- Hänninen, J., Vuorinen, I., Helminen, H., Kirkkala, T. & Lehtilä, K. 2000. Trends and gradients in nutrient concentrations and loading in the Archipelago Sea, Northern Baltic, in 1970-1997. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 50: 153-171.
- ICES 2006. Report of the ICES-IOC-SCOR Working Group on GEOHAB Implementation in the Baltic (WGGIB)", 6– 7 April 2006, Gdynia, Poland. ICES CM 2006/BCC:06.
- Irigoien, X. J. & Castel, J. 1997. Light limitation and distribution of chlorophyll pigments in a highly turbid estuary: The Gironde (SW France). Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 44: 507-517.
- Irwin, A.J, Finkel, Z.V., Schofield, O.M.E. & Falkowsky, P.G. 2006. Scaling-up from nutrient physiology to the sizestructure of phytoplankton communities. J. Plankton Res. 28: 459-471.

- Janssen, F., Neumann, T. & Schmidt, M.2004. Inter-annual variability of cyanobacterial blooms in the Baltic Sea controlled by hydrographic conditions. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 257: 59-68.
- Jensen, A. & Sakshaug, E. 1973. Studies on the phytoplankton ecology of the Trondheimsfjord. II. chloroplast pigments in relation to the abundance and physiological state of the phytoplankton. J. Exper. Mar. Biol. and Ecol. 11: 137-155.
- Johansson, L. & Wallström, K. 2001. Urban Impact in the history of water quality in the Stockholm archipelago. Ambio 30: 277-281.
- Jones R. 1992. The influence of humic substances on lacustrine planktonic food chains. Hydrobiologia 229: 73-91.
- Jordan, T.E., Correll, D.L., Miklas, J. & Weller, D.E. 1991. Nutrients and chlorophyll at the interface of a watershed and an estuary. Limnol. Oceanogr. 36: 251-267.
- Kahma, K.K. 1986. On prediction of the fetch-limited wave spectrum in a steady wind. On prediction of the fetchlimited wave spectrum in a steady wind. Finnish Mar. Res. Helsinki, No. 253, pp 53-78.
- Kahru, M., Horstmann, U. & Rud, O. 1994. Satellite detection of increased cyanobacteria blooms in the Baltic Sea: Natural fluctuations or ecosystem change? Ambio 23: 469-472.
- Kahru, M., Leppänen, J.-M., Rud, O. & Savchuk, O.P. 2000. Cyanobacteria blooms in the Gulf of Finland triggered by saltwater inflow into the Baltic Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 207: 13-18.
- Kangas, P., Bäck, S. & Kauppila, P.(eds) 2003. Suggestions for a Typology of Coastal Waters for the Finnish Coast According to the European Union Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). Mimeograph series of Finnish Environment Institute 284, 51 p. (in Finnish with an English summary)
- Kanoshina I., Lips, U. & Leppänen, J.-M. 2003. The influence of weather conditions (temperature and wind) on cyanobacterial bloom development in the Gulf of Finland (Baltic Sea). Harmful Algae 2: 29-41.
- Karlson, K., Rosenberg, R. & Bonsdorff, E. 2002. Temporal and spatial large-scale effects of eutrphication and oxygen deficiency on benthic fauna in Scandinavian and Baltic Waters a review. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. 40: 427-489.
- Karydis, M. & Tsirtisis, G. 1996. Ecological indices: A biometric approach for assessing eutrophication levels in the marine environment. Sci. Total Environ. 186: 209-219.
- Kauppila, P. & Bäck, S. (eds) 2001. The state of Finnish coastal waters in the 1990s. Finn. Environ. 472, 134.
- Kauppila, P. & Lepistö, L. 2001. Changes in phytoplankton. In The state of Finnish coastal waters in the 1990s (Kauppila, P. & Bäck, S., eds). Finn. Environ. 472: 61-70.
- Kauppila, P., Pitkänen, H., Räike, A., Kiirikki, M., Bäck, S. & Kangas, P. 2004. The Baltic waters around Finland: Eutrophication continues despite decreased nutrient loading. Pp. 41-62 In: Eloranta, P. (ed.). Inland and coastal waters of Finland. SIL XXIX Congress, Lahti, Finland, 8-14 August 2004. University of Helsinki. ISBN 952-10-1141-6.
- Kelderman, P. & Van der Repe, A.M. 1982. Temperature dependence of sediment-water exchange in Lake Grevelingen, SW Netherlands. Hydrobiologia 92: 489-490.

- Kiirikki, M., Haapamäki, J., Koponen, J., Ruuskanen, A. & Sarkkula, J.1998. Linking the growth of filamentous algae to the 3D-ecohydrodynamic model of the Gulf of Finland. Environ. Model. Sofware Environ. Data News. 13: 503-509.
- Kiirikki, M., Inkala, A., Kuosa, H., Pitkänen, H., Kuusisto, M. & Sarkkula, J. 2001. Evaluating the effects of nutrient load reductions on the biomass of toxic nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria in the Gulf
- of Finland, Baltic Sea. Boreal Environ. Res. 6: 131-146.
- Kiirikki, M., Lehtoranta, J., Inkala, A., Pitkänen, H., Hietanen, S., Hall, P.O.J., Tengberg, A., Koponen, J. & Sarkkula, J. 2006. A simple sediment process description suitable for 3D-ecosystem modelling – Development and testing in the Gulf of Finland. J. Mar. Syst. 61: 55-66.
- Kirchner, W.B. & Dillon P.J. 1975. An empirical method of estimating the retention of phosphorus in lakes. Water Resources Res. 11: 182-183.
- Kirkkala, T., Helminen, H. & Erkkilä, A. 1998. Variability of nutrient limitation in the Archipelago Sea, SW Finland. Hydrobiologia 363: 117-126.
- Kivi, K., Kaitala, S., Kuosa, H., Kuparinen, J., Leskinen, E., Lignell, R., Marcussen, B. & Tamminen, T. 1993. Nutrient limitation and grazing control of the Baltic plankton community during annual succession. Limnol. Oceanogr. 38: 893-905.
- Kononen, K. 1988. Phytoplankton summer assemblages in relation to environmental factors at the entrance to the Gulf of Finland during 1972-1985. Kieler Meeresfoschungen Sonderhelft 6: 281-294.
- Kononen, K. 2001. Eutrophication, harmful algal blooms and species diversity in phytoplankton communities: Examples from the Baltic Sea. Ambio 30: 184-189.
- Kononen, K. & Niemi, Å. 1984. Long-term variation of the phytoplankton composition at the entrance to the Gulf of Finland – Ophelia, Suppl. 3: 101-110.
- Kononen, K. & Leppänen, J.-M. 1997. Patchiness, scales and controlling mechanisms of cyanobacterial blooms in the Baltic Sea: application of a multiscale research strategy. In: Monitoring Algal Blooms: New Techniques for Detecting Large-scale Environmental Change. Kahru, M. and Brown, C.W. (eds). Landes Bioscience, Austin. p. 63-84.
- Kononen, K., Huttunen, M., Kanoshina, I., Laanemets, J., Moisander, P. & Pavelson, J. 1999. Spatial and temporal variability of a dinoflagellate-cyanobacterium community under a complex hydrodynamical influence: a case study at the entrance to the Gulf of Finland. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 186: 43-57.
- Korhola, A. & Blom, T. 1996. Marked early 20th century pollution and the subsequent recovery of Töölö Bay, central Helsinki, as indicated by subfossil diatom assemblage changes. Hydrobiologia 341:169-179
- Kotta, J. & Møhlenberg, F. 2002. Grazing impact of Mytilus edulis and Dreissena polymorpha (Palla) in the Gulf of Riga, Baltic Sea estimated from biodeposition rates of algal pigments. Ann. Zool. Fenn., 39: 151-160.
- Krause-Jensen, D., Greve, T.M. & Nielsen, K. 2004. Eelgrass as a bioindicator under the European Water Framework directive. Water Resour. Manage. 19:63-75.
- Krom, M. D., Kress, N., Brenner, S. & Gordon, L. I. 1991. Phosphorus limitation of primary productivity in the eastern Mediterranean Sea. Limnol. Oceanogr. 36: 424-432.

- Kullenberg, G. 1981. Physical oceanography. In: Voipio A. (ed.): The Baltic Sea. Elsevier Oceanography Series, 30, Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company. Amsterdam, Oxford, New York, pp. 135-181.
- Kuosa, H. 1990. Picoplanktonic cyanobacteria in the northern Baltic Sea: role in the phytoplankton community. In: M. Barnes & R.N. Gibson (eds), Proceedings of the 24th European Marine biology Symposium. Aberdeen University Press, P. 11-17.
- Kuosa, H. 1991. Picoplanktonic algae in the northern Baltic Sea: seasonal dynamics and flagellate grazing. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 73, 269-276.
- Kuosa, H. & Kivi, K. 1989. Bacteria and heterorophic flagellates in the pelagic carbon cycle in the northern Baltic Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 53, 93-100.
- Kuosa, H., Autio, R., Kuuppo, P., Setälä, O. & Tanskanen, S. 1997. Nitrogen, silicon and zooplankton controlling the Baltic spring bloom: An experimental study. Estuar. Coast. Shelf. Sci 45: 813-821.
- Kuuppo, P., Autio, R., Kuosa, H., Setälä, O. & Tanskanen, S. 1998. Nitrogen, silicate and zooplankton control of the planktonic food-web in spring. Estuar. Coast. Shelf. Sci. 46: 65-75.
- Laakkonen, S. & Peltonen, P. 1999. A quantitative analysis of discharges into the Helsinki urban sea area in 1850-1995. Eur. Water Manage. 4:30-39
- Laamanen, M., Fleming, V., Kauppila, P., Pitkänen, H., Bäck, S., Jaanus, A. & Olsonen, R. 2007a. HELCOM EUTRO
 The Gulf of Finland report. Finnish Institute of Marine Research, Finnish Environment Institute & Estonian Marine Institute. 20 p.
- Laamanen, M., Fleming, V., Kauppila, P., Pitkänen, H. & Olsonen, R. 2007b. HELCOM EUTRO - The Bothnian Bay basin report. Finnish Institute of Marine Research & Finnish Environment Institute. 11 p.
- Lagus, A., Suomela, J., Weithoff, G., Heikkilä, K., Helminen, H., & Sipura, J. 2004. Species-specific differences in phytoplankton responses to N and P enrichments and the N:P ratio in the archipelago Sea, northern Baltic sea. J. Plankton Res. 26: 779-198.
- Lagus, A., Suomela, J., Helminen, H. & Sipura, J. 2007. Impacts of nutrient enrichment and sediment on phytoplankton community structure in the northern Baltic Sea. Hydrobiologia 579, no.1. Mar 2007.
- Lappalainen, A. & Pesonen, L. 2000. Changes in fish community structure after cessation of waste water discharge in a coastal bay area west of Helsinki, northern Baltic Sea. Arch. Fish Mar. Res. 48 (1): 226-241.
- Larsson, U., Hajdu, S., Walve, J., Andersson, A, Larsson P. & Edler, L. 2006. Förslag till bedömningsgrunder för kust och hav växtplankton och näringsämnen. Projekt Rapport till Naturvårdsverket 2006-04-12. (Project Report to Swedish EPA), Manuscript.
- Lathrop, R.C. 1986. A simple method for obtaining monitored phosphorus loading. Lake and Reservoir Management Proc., 5th Ann. Conf. Int. Symp., Vol. 2, pp. 20-26.
- Launiainen, J., Vainio, J., Voipio, A., Pokki, J. & Niemimaa, J. 1989. Näkösyvyyden vaihteluista ja muuttumisesta pohjoisella Itämerellä. J. Forsius (toim.): XIV Geofysiikan päivät, Helsingissä 3.-4.5.1989. Geofysiikan seura, Helsinki 1989.

- Leavitt, P.R., Hodgson, D.A. 2001. Sedimentary pigments. In: Smol, J.P., Birks, H.J.B. & Last, W.M. (eds). Tracking environmental change using lake sediments. Volume 3: Terrestrial, algal, and siliceous indicators. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, p 295-325.
- Leegaard, C. 1920. Microplankton from the Finnish waters during the month of May 1912. Acta Soc. Scient. Fennicae 48(5): 1-44.
- Lehtoranta, J. 2003. Dynamics of sediment phosphorus in the brackish Gulf of Finland. Monograph of the Boreal Env. Res. 24, 58 p.
- Lehtoranta, J. & Heiskanen, A.-S. 2003. Dissolved iron: phosphate ratio as an indicator of phosphate release to oxic water of the inner and outer coastal Baltic Sea. Hydrobiologia 492: 68-84.
- Lehtoranta, J. & Pitkänen, H. 2003. Binding of phosphate in sediment accumulation areas of the eastern Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. Hydrobiologia 492: 55-67.
- Lepistö, L. 1995. Phytoplankton succession from 1968 to 1990 in the subarctic Lokka reservoir. National Board of Waters and the Environment, Finland. Publications of the Water and Environment Research Institute 19, 42 p.
- Lepistö, L., Rapala, J., Lyra, C., Berg, K.A., Erkomaa, K. & Issakainen, J. 2005. Occurrence and toxicity of cyanobacterial blooms dominated by *Anabaena lemmermannii* P. Richter and *Aphanizomenon* spp. in boreal lakes in 2003. Algological Studies 117: 315-328.
- Lepistö, L., Holopainen, A.-L., Vuoristo, H. & Rekolainen, S. 2006a. Phytoplankton assemblages as a criterion in the ecological classification of lakes in Finland. Boreal Env. Res. 11: 35-44.
- Lepistö, L., Kauppila, P., Rapala, J., Pekkarinen, M., Sammalkorpi, I. & Villa, L. 2006b. Estimation of reference conditions for phytoplankton in a naturally eutrophied shallow lake. Hydrobiologia 568: 55-66.
- Lepistö, L., Vuorio, K., Holopainen, A-L., Huttunen, M., Jokipii, R. & Niemelä, M. 2006c. Research methods for phytoplankton. Vesitalous 1, 49 p.
- Leppäranta, M. Palosuo, E., Grönvall, H., Kalliosaari, S., Seinä, A. & Peltola, J. 1988. Phases of the ice season in the Baltic Sea (North of latitude 570 N). Finnish Mar. Res. 254, Suppl. 2, 83 p.
- Levander, K.M. 1901. Zur Kenntnis Planktons und der Bodenfauna. Einiger seichten Brackwasserbuchten. Acta Societatis pro Fauna et Flora Fennica, XX, N:o 5.
- Levander, K.M. 1915. Zur Kenntnis der Bodenfauna und des Planktons der Pojowiek. Fennia 35(2): 1-39.
- Levine, S.N., D. Shambaugh, A., Pomeroy, S.E. & Braner, M. 1997. Phosphorus, nitrogen, and silica as controls on phytoplankton biomass and species composition in Lake Champlain (USA Canada). J. Great Lakes Res. 23: 131-148.
- Lignell, R., Seppälä, J., Kuuppo, P., Tamminen, T., Andersen, T. & Gismervik, I. 2003. Beyond bulk properties: responses of coastal summer plankton communities to nutrient enrichment in the northern Baltic Sea. Limnol. Oceanogr. 48: 189-209.
- Lorenzen, C.J. 1967. Determination of chlorophyll and pheopigments: spectrophotometric equations. Limnol. Oceanogr. 12: 343-346.
- MacIsaac, J.J. & Dugdale, R.C. 1972. Interactions of light and inorganic nitrogen in controlling nitrogen uptake in the sea. Deep-Sea Res. 19: 209-232.

- Madden, C.J. & Kemp, W.M.1996. Ecosystem model of an estuarine submersed plant community: Calibration and simulation of eutrophication responses. Estuaries 19: 457-474.
- Mallin, M.A.& Paerl, H.W. 1992. Effects of variable irradiance on phytoplankton productivity in shallow estuaries. Limnol. Oceanogr. 37: 54-62.
- Matthäus, W., 1982. Recent trend variations of oceanological parameters in the Baltic Sea. – Proc. XIII conf. Baltic Oceanographers, pp. 535-547. Government Printing Centre, Helsinki.
- Matthäus, W. 1990. Long-term trends and changes of oceanological parameters during the recent stagnation period in the deep water of the central Baltic Sea. Fischerei-Forsch. Rostock, 28: 25-34 (in German).
- May, C.L. 2005. Coastal ecosystem response to varying light and nutrient conditions. Diss. Abst. Int. Pt. B - Sci. & Eng. 65, no. 11, p. 5966.
- Meeuwig, J.J. 1999. Predicting coastal eutrophication from land-use: an empirical approach to small non-stratified estuaries. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 176: 231-241.
- Meeuwig, J.J. & Peters, R.H. 1996. Circumventing phosphorus in lake management: a comparison of chlorophyll a predictions from land-use and phosphorus-loading models. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 1795-1806.
- Meeuwig, J.J., Rasmussen, J.B. & Peters. R.H. 1998. Turbid waters and clarifying mussels: Their moderation of empirical chl:nutrient relations in estuaries in Prince Edward Island, Canada, Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 171: 139-150.
- Monbet, Y. 1992. Control of Phytoplankton Biomass in Estuaries: A Comparative Analysis of Microtidal and Macrotidal Estuaries. Estuaries 15: 563-571.
- Molot, L. A. & Dillon, P. J. 1990. Nitrogen/phosphorus ratios and the prediction of chlorophyll in phosphorus limited lakes in central Ontario. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 48: 140-145.
- Munne, P. & Autio, L. 2005. Ravinteiden vapautuminen Laajalahden ja Seurasaaren sedimentistä. (Benthic release of nutrients from the sediment of Laajalahti and the Seurasaarenselkä). Helsingin kaupungin ympäristökeskuksen julkaisuja 2/2005. Helsingin kaupungin ympäristökeskus, Helsinki. 41 p. (in Finnish with an Engish summary).
- Murphy, J. & Riley, J.P. 1962. A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Analytica Chimica Acta 27: 31-36.
- Nehring, D. 1981. Phosphorus in the Baltic Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 12: 194-198.
- Nielsen, S.L., Sand-Jensen, K., Borum, J. & Geertz-Hansen, O. 2002. Phytoplankton, nutrients, and transparency in Danish coastal waters. Estuaries 25(5): 930-937.
- Nielsen, K., Somod, B., Ellegaard, C. & Krause-Jensen, D. 2003. Assessing reference conditions according to the European Water Framework Directive using modelling and analysis of historical data. An example from Randers fjord, Denmark. Ambio 32: 287-294.
- Niemi, Å. 1971. Late summer phytoplankton in Kimito archipelago (SW coast of Finland). Merentutkimuslait. Julk. / Havsforskningsinst. Skr. 233: 3-17.
- Niemi, Å. 1973. Ecology of phytoplankton in the Tvärminne area, SW coast of Finland. I. Dynamics of hydrography, nutrients, chlorophyll a and phytoplankton. Acta Bot. Fennica 100: 1-68.

- Niemi, Å. 1982. Dynamics of phytoplankton in the brackish water inlet Pojoviken, southern coast of Finland. Hydrobiologia 86: 33-39.
- Niemi, Å. 1988. Exceptional mass occurrence of Microcystis aeruginosa (Kützing) Kützing (Chroococcales, cyanophyceae) in the gulf of Finland in autumn 1987. Memoranda Soc. Fauna Flora Fennica 64: 165-167.
- Niemi, Å., Skuja, H. & Willén, T. 1970. Phytoplankton from the Pojoviken-Tvärminne area, S. coast of Finland. Memoranda soc. Fauna Flora Fennica 46: 14-28.
- Niemi, Å. & Ray, I.-L. 1975. Phytoplankton production in Finnish coastal waters. Report 1. Phytoplankton biomass and composition in 1972. Meri (Helsinki) 1: 24-39.
- Niemi, Å. & Ray, I.-L. 1977. Phytoplankton production in Finnish coastal waters. Report 2: Phytoplankton biomass and composition in 1973. Meri (Helsinki) 4: 5-22.
- Nixon, S.W. 1995. Coastal marine eutrophication: a definition, social causes, and future concerns. Ophelia 41: 199-220.
- Nixon, S.W. & Pilson, M.W.Q. 1984. Estuarine total system metabolism and organic exchange calculated from nutrient ratios: an example from Narragansett Bay. In V.S. Kennedy (Ed), The estuary as a filter, New York: Academic Press, 511 pp.
- Nixon, S. W., Ranger, S. L. & Nowicki, B. L. 1995. An assessment of the annual mass balance of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus in Narragansett Bay. Biogeochemistry 31: 15-61.
- Nixon, S., Trent, Z., Marcuello, C. & Lallana, C. 2003. Europe's water: An indicator-based assessment. European Environment Agency, Topic Report 1/2003.
- Norkko, A. & Bonsdorff, E. 1996. Population responses of coastal zoobenthos to stress induced by drifting algal mats. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 140: 141-151.
- Norvard, L. & Håkanson, L. 2002. Predicting the environmental response of fish farming in coastal areas of the Åland archipelago (Baltic Sea) using management models for coastal water planning. Aquaculture 206: 217-243.
- Olsen, Y., Agusti, S., Andersen, T., Duate C.M., Gasol, J.M. Gismervik, I., Heiskanen, A.-S., Hoell, E., Kuuppo, P., Lignell, R., Reinertsen, H., Sommer, U., Stibor, H., Tamminen, T., Vadstein, O., Vague, D. & Didal, M. 2006. A comparative study of responses in plankton food web structure and function in contrasting European coastal waters exposed to experimental nutrient addition. Limnol. Oceanogr.51: 488-503.
- Olrik, K. 1994. Phytoplankton ecology. Determining factors for the distribution of phytoplankton in freshwater and the sea. Miljøprojekt nr. 251. Danish Environmental Protection Agency, Ministry of the Environment, Denmark.
- OECD 1982. Eutrophication of waters: monitoring assessment and control. Paris: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.
- OSPAR 2003. OSPAR integrated report 2003 on the eutrophication status of the OSPAR maritime area based upon the first application of the comprehensive procedure. OSPAR Commission, London.
- Pearl, H.W., Valdes, L,M., Pinckney, J.L., Piehler, M.F., Dyble, J. & Moisander, P.H. 2003. Phytoplankton photopigments as indicators of estuarine and coastal eutrophication. BioScience 53: 953-964.
- Perttilä, M., Savchuck, O. & Sphaer, I. 1996. The Gulf of Finland, Hydrochemistry. In: HELCOM, 1996. Third periodic assessment of the state of the marine environment of the Baltic Sea, 1989-1993; Background document: 48-51. Baltic sea Environ. Proc. 64B.

- Perus, J., Bäck, S., Lax, H-G., Westberg, V., Kauppila, P. & Bonsdorff, E. 2004. Coastal marine zoobenthos as an ecological quality element: a test of environmental typology and the European Water Framework Directive. In: Schernewski, G. & Wielgat, M.(eds). Baltic Sea Typology. Coastal reports 2004-4.
- Pesonen, L., Norha, T., Rinne, I., Viitasalo, I. & Viljamaa, H. 1995. Helsingin ja Espoon merialueiden velvoitetarkkailu vuosina 1987-1994. (Water quality in the sea area off Helsinki and Espoo in 1987-1994). Helsingin kaupungin ympäristökeskuksen monisteita 1 (in Finnish)
- Pettersson, C., Allard, B. & Boren, H. 1997. River discharge of humic substances and humic-bound metals to the Gulf of Bothnia. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 44:533-541.
- Pinckney, J.L., Paerl, H.V.V. & Harrington, M.B. 1999. Responses of the phytoplankton community growth rate to nutrient pulses in variable estuarine environments. J. Phycol. 35, no. 6, Suppl., pp. 1455-1463.
- Pitkänen, H. 1994. Eutrophication of the Finnish coastal waters: origin, fate and effects of riverine nutrient fluxes. Publications of the Water and Environment Institute, National Board of Waters and the Environment, Finland. No. 18, 44 p.
- Pitkänen, H., Tamminen, T., Kangas, P., Huttula, T., Kivi, K., Kuosa, H., Sarkkula, J., Eloheimo, K., Kauppila, P. & Skakalsky, B. 1993. Late summer trophic conditions in the north-east Gulf of Finland and the River Neva Estuary, Baltic Sea. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci., 37: 453-474.
- Pitkänen, H. & Tamminen, T. 1995. Nitrogen and phosphorus as production limiting factors in the estuarine waters of the eastern Gulf of Finland. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 129: 283-294.
- Pitkänen, H., Kauppila, P. & Laine, Y. 2001a. Nutrients. In: Kauppila, P. & Bäck, B (eds). The state of Finnish coastal waters in the 1990s. The Finnish Environment 472: 37-60.
- Pitkänen H., Lehtoranta J, Räike A. 2001b. Internal nutrient fluxes counteract decreases in external load: the case of the estuarial eastern Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. Ambio 30:195-201
- Pitkänen, H. & Räike, A. 2004. Kuormitus vesiin eri lähteistä. In: H. Pitkänen (ed.). Rannikko- ja avomerialueiden tila vuosituhannen vaihteessa. Suomen Itämämeren suojeluohjelman taustaselvitykset. Suomen ympäristö 669, 104 p. (In Finnish)
- Pitkänen, H., Kauppila, P., Poutanen, E.-L. 2004. Muutokset ravinnetilassa ja rehevyydessä. H. Pitkänen (toim.) Rannikko- ja avomerialueiden tila vuosituhannen vaihteessa. Suomen Itämeren suojeluohjelman taustaselvitykset. Suomen ympäristö 669, 104 s. (In Finnish)
- Posch, M. & Rekolainen, S. 1993. Estimation of rainfall erosivity in Finland. Agricultural Sci. 2: 271-279.
- Post, A.F., Wit, R. de & Mur, L.R. 1985. Interactions between temperature and light intensity on growth and photosynthesis of the cyanobacterium, Oscillatoria agardhii. J. Plankton Res. 7: 487-95.
- Prairie, Y.T. & Kalff, J. 1989. Unifying nutrient-chlorophyll relationships in lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 46: 1176-1182.
- Preston, S.D., Bierman, V.J. & Silliman, S.E. 1989. An evaluation of methods for the estimation of tributary mass loads. Water Resour. Res. 25: 1379-1389.

- Pustel'nikov, O.S. & Shmatko, M.A. 1971. On the influence of suspended matter upon water transparency in the Baltic Sea. Okeanologiya 11: 1025-1032.
- Raateoja, M., Seppälä, J., Kuosa, H. & Myrberg, K. 2005. Recent Changes in Trophic State of the Baltic Sea along SW Coast of Finland. Ambio 34: 188-191.
- Rankinen K, K. Kenttämies, H. Lehtonen and S. Nenonen 2006. Nitrogen load predictions under land management scenarios for a boreal river basin in northern Finland. Boreal Environ. Res. 11:213-228.
- Rantajärvi, E., Gran, V., Hällfors, S., & Olsonen, R. 1998. Effects of environmental factors on the phytoplankton community in the Gulf of Finland – unattended high frequency measurements and multivariate analyses. Hydrobiologia 363: 127-139.
- Rekolainen, S. 1982. Nutrient exchange between sediment and water in the inner bays of the Helsinki sea area. Public Reports of the Water Laboratory 14:1. Helsinki, Finland. (in Finnish with an English summary)
- Rekolainen, S., Posch, M., Kämäri, J. & Ekholm, P. 1991. Evaluation of the accuracy and precision of the annual phosphorus load estimates from two agricultural basins in Finland. J. of Hydrol. 128: 237-255.
- Rekolainen, S., Pitkänen, H., Bleeker, A. & Sietske, F. 1995. Nitrogen and phosphorus fluxes from Finnish agricultural areas to the Baltic Sea. Nordic Hydrology 26: 55-72.
- Reuss, N. 2005. Sediment pigments as biomarkers of environmental change. PhD Thesis, Frehwater Biological Laboratory, Faculty of Science, University of Copenhagen. National Environmental Research Institute, Ministry of the Environment, Denmark. 33 p.
- Reuss, N., Conley, D.J. & Bianchi, T.S. 2005. Preservation conditions and the use of sediment pigments as a tool for resent ecological reconstruction in four Northern European estuaries. Marine Chemistry 95: 283-302.
- Reynolds, C.S. 1984. The ecology of the freshwater phytoplankton. Cambridge University Press, 384 pp.
- Reynolds, C.S. 1988. Functional morophylogy and the adaptive strategies of freshwater phytoplankton. In: C.D. Sandgren (ed.). Growth and reproductive strategies of freshwater phytoplankton. Cambridge University Press, 442 p.
- Reynolds, C.S. 2006. Ecology of phytoplankton. Ecology, Biodiversity and Conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, Madrid, Cape Town, Singapore, Sao Paulo, 535 p.
- Rhee, G.Y. 1978. Effects of N:P Atomic Ratios and Nitrate Limitation on Algal Growth, Cell Composition, and Nitrate Uptake. Limnol. Oceanogr. 23: 10-25.
- Richards, R.P. and Holloway, J. 1987. Monte Carlo Sudies of sampling strategies for estimating tribulary loads. Water Resour. Res. 23: 1939-1948.
- Richardson, K. 1996. Conclusion, Research and Eutrophication Control. In: Jørgensen, B.B. & Richardson, K. (eds). Eutrophication in coastal Marine Ecosystems. Coastal and Estuarine Studies 52. American Geophysical Union, Washington, DC, 273 p.
- Richardson, K. 1997. Harmful and exceptional phytoplankton blooms in the marine ecosystem. Adv. Mar. Biol. 31: 302-385.
- Richardson, K. & Jørgensen, B. B. 1996. Eutrophication: definition, history and effects. In: Jorgensen B.B. & Richardson K., (eds). Eutrophication in coastal marine ecosystems. Coastal Estuarine Studies 52: 1-19.

- Rippey, B. & Anderson, N.J. 1996. Reconstruction of lake phosphorus loading and dynamics using the sedimentary record. Environ Sci Technol 30 (5):1786-1788.
- Rodhe, W. 1969. Crystallization of eutrophication concepts in northern Europe, in Eutrophication: Causes, conswquences, Correctives, 50-64 National Academy of Sciences, Washington, DC.
- Rosenberg, R., Elmgren, R., Fleischer, S., Johnsson, P., Persson, G. & Dahlin, H. 1990. Marine eutrophication studies in Sweden. Ambio, 19, 102-108.
- Sahlsten, E. & Hansson, M. 2004. Framtagning av nya bedömningsgrunder för kust och hav enlight ramdirektivets krav – Fys-kem faktorer. SMHI Rapport 2004-01-12. (Project Report to Swedish EPA), Manuscript.
- Sandén, P. & Håkansson, B. 1996. Long-term trends in Secchi depth in the Baltic sea. Limnol. Oceanogr. 41: 346-351.
- Salonen K., Jones R.I. & Arvola L. 1984. Hypolimnetic phosphorus retrieval by diel vertical migrations of lake phytoplankton. Freshwat. Biol. 14: 431-438.
- Savchuk, O. & Wulff, F. 1999. Modelling regional and largescale response of Baltic Sea ecosystems to nutrient load reductions. Hydrobiologia, 393, 35-43.
- Savchuk, O.P. & Wulff, F. 2007. Modeling the Baltic Sea eutrophication in a decision support system. Ambio 36: 141-148.
- Schernewski, G. & Wielgat, M. 2004. A Baltic Sea typology according to the EC-Water Framework Directive: Integration of national typologies and the water body concept. In: G. Schernewski & M. Wielgat (eds). Baltic Sea Typology. Coastline Reports 2004-4. EUCC - The Coastal Union. EE Leiden, The Netherlands. 109 p.
- Schernewski, G. & Neumann, T. 2005. The trophic state of the Baltic Sea a century ago? A model simulation study. J. Mar. Syst. 53: 109-124.
- Schlüter, L., Møhlenberg, F. & Havskum, H. 2000. The use of phytoplankton pigments for edentifying and quantifying phytoplankton group in coastal areas; testing the influence of light and nutrients on pigments/chlorophyll a-ratios. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 192: 49-63.
- Seitzinger, S.P. 1988. Denitrification in freshwater and coastal marine ecosystems: ecological and geochemical significance. Limnol. Oceanogr. 33: 702-724.
- Seppälä, J., Tamminen, T. & Kaitala, S. 1999. Experimental evaluation of nutrient limitation of phytoplankton communities in the Gulf of Riga. J. Mar. Syst. 23: 107-126.
- Setälä, O. 2004. Studies on planktonic brackish water microprotozoans with special emphasis on the role of ciliates as grazers. Water and Andrée de Nottbeck Foundation Scientific Reports. No. 25, 48 p.
- Sheffer , M., Carpenter, S., Foley, J.A., Folke, C. & Walker, B. 2001. Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems. Nature 413: 591-596.
- Smayda, T.J. 1997. What is a bloom? A commentary. Limnol. Oceanogr. 42: 1132-1136.
- Smith, S.V. 1984. Phosphorus versus nitrogen limitation in the marine environment. Limnol. Oceanogr. 29: 149-1160.
- Smith, R.A, Alexander, R.B. & Schwarz, G.E. 2003. Natural background concentrations of nutrients in streams and rivers of the conterminous United States. Environ. Sci. & Technol.37: 3039-3047.

- Soetaert, K., Herman, P. M. J. & Kromkamp, J. 1994. Living in the twilight: Estimating net phytoplankton growth in the Westerschelde Estuary (The Netherlands) by means of an ecosystem model (MOSES). J. Plankton Res.16: 1277-1301.
- Soendergaard, M., Jensen, J.P., Jeppesen, E. & Moeller, P.H. 2002a. Seasonal dynamics in the concentrations and retention of phosphorus in shallow Danish lakes after reduced loading. Aquat Ecosyst Health Manage 5:19-29.
- Soendergaard, M., Jensen, P.J. & Jeppesen, E. 2002b. Retention and internal loading of phosphorus in shallow, eutrophic lakes. The Scientific World J. 1: 427-442.
- Suomela, J. 2001. Saaristomeren tila vuosituhannen vaihteessa. Lounais-Suomen ympäristökeskuksen moniste 20/2001. 99 p.
- Suomela, J., Gran, V., Helminen, H., Lagus, A., Lehtoranta, J. & Sipura, J. 2005. Effects of sediment and nutrient enrichment on water quality in the Archipelago Sea, northern Baltic: An enclosure experiment in shallow water. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 65: 337-350.
- Talling, J.F. 1971. The underwater light climate as a controlling factore in the production ecology of freshwater phytoplankton. Mitt. Int. Verein. Limnol. 19: 214-243.
- Tamminen, T. & Andersen, T. 2007. Seasonal phytoplankton nutrient limitation patterns as revealed by bioassays over Baltic Sea gradients of salinity and eutrophication. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 340: xx-xx.
- Tett, P. 1987. The ecophysiology of exceptional blooms. Rapport et Proces-verbaux des Reunions, Conseil international pour l'exploration de la Mer, 187: 47-60.
- Tolstoy, A. 1979. Chlorophyll a in relation to phytoplankton volume in some Swedish lakes. Archiv für Hydrobiologie 85: 133-151.
- Turner, R.E. & Rabalais, N.N. 1994. Coastal eutrophication near the Mississippi river delta. Nature 368: 619-621.
- Uitto, A. 1997. The role of metazooplankton grazing in the pelagial food web of the northern Baltic Sea. Water and Andrée de Nottbeck Foundation Scientific Reports. No 13. 31 p.
- Ulén, B. 1995. Episodic precipitation and discharge events and their influence on losses of phosphorus and nitrogen from tile drained arable fields. Swedish J. of Agricultural Res. 25: 25-31.
- Utermöhl, H. 1958. Zur Vervollkomnung der quantitativen Phytoplankton-Methodik. Mitt. int. Verein. theor. angew. Limnol 9: 1-38.
- Vaalgamaa, S. 2007. The effects of human induced disturbances on the sediment geochemistry of Baltic Sea embayments with a focus on eutrophication history. Publicationses Instituti Geographici Universitatis Helsingiensis A 143. 45 p.
- Vaalgamaa, S. 2004. The effect of urbanisation on Laajalahti Bay, Helsinki City, as reflected by sediment geochemistry. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48: 650-662.
- Vahtera, E., Conley, D.J., Gustafsson, B.G., Kuosa, H., Pitkänen, H., Savchuk, O.P., Tamminen, T., Viitasalo, M., Voss, M., Wasmund, N. & Wulff, F. 2007. Internal ecosystem feedbacks enhance nitrogen-fixing cyanobacteria blooms and complicate management in the Baltic Sea. Ambio 36: 186-194.
- Valiela, I., McClelland, J., Hauxwell, J., Behr, P.J., Hersh, D. & Foreman, K. 1997. Macroalgal blooms in shallow estuaries: Controls and ecophysiological and ecosystem consequences. Limnol. Oceanogr. 42: 1105-1118.

- Varmo, R., Viljamaa, H., Pesonen, L. & Rinne, I. 1988. Two manipulated inner bays in the Helsinki sea area, northern Gulf of Finland. Aqua Fenn. 19(1): 67-73.
- Visser, A. W. & Kamp-Nielsen, L. 1996. The use of models in eutrophication studies. In Eutrophication in coastal marine ecosystems (Richardson K. & Jorgensen B.B., eds). Coastal and Estuarine Studies 52: 221-242.
- Virtanen, M., Koponen, J., Dahlbo, K. & Sarkkula, J. 1986. Three-dimensional Water-Quality-Transport Model Compared with Field Observations. Ecological Modelling ECMODT 31: 185-199.
- Virtasalo, J.J. Kohonen, T., Vuorinen, I. & Huttula, T. 2005. Sea bottom anoxia in the Archipelago Sea, northern Baltic Sea – Implication for phosphorus remineralization at the sediment surface. Mar.Geol. 224: 103-122.
- Vollenweider, R.A. 1975. Input-output models with special reference to the phosphorus loading concept in limnology. Schweiz. Z. Hydrol. 37: 53-84.
- Vollenweider, R.A. & Keres, J.J. 1982. OECD. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. Eutrophication of waters. Monitoring, assessment and control. OECD, Paris, 164 p.
- Vollenweider, R.A. Giovanardi, F., Montanari, G. & Rinaldi, A. 1998. Characterization of the trophic conditions of marine coastal waters with special reference to the NW Adriatic Sea: Proposal for a trophic scale, turbidity and generalized water quality index. Environmetrics 9: 329-357.
- Vuorenmaa, J., Rekolainen, S., Lepistö, A., Kenttämies, K. & Kauppila, P. 2002. Losses of nitrogen and phosphorus from agricultural and forest areas in Finland during the 1980s and 1990s. Environ. Monit. Assess. 76: 213-248.
- Vuori, K.-M., Bäck, S. Hellsten, S., Karjalainen, S.M., Kauppila, P., Lax, H.-G., Lepistö, L., Londesborough, S. Mitikka, S., Niemelä, P.,Niemi, J., Perus, J., Pietiläinen, O.-P., Pilke, A., Riihimäki, J., Rissanen, J. Tammi, J. Tolonen, K. Vehanen, T., Vuoristo, H. & Westberg, V. 2006. Suomen pintavesien tyypittelyn ja ekologisen luokittelujärjestelmän perusteet. Suomen ympäristö 807: 1-148. (In Finnish)
- Vuorio, K., Lagus, A., Lehtimäki, J.M., Suomela, J. & Helminen, H. 2005. Phytoplankton community responses to nutrient and iron enrichment under different nitrogen and phosphorus ratios in the northern Baltic Sea. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 322: 39-52.
- Välikangas, I. 1926. Planktologische Untersuchungen im Hafengebiet von Helsingfors. Acta Zoologica Fennica 1, 298 p.
- Wallin, M. & Håkanson, L. 1991. The importance of inherent properties of coastal areas. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 22: 381-388.
- Walling, D.E. & Webb, B.W. 1988. The reliability of rating curve estimates of suspended sediment yield: some further comments. Sediment Budgets, Proceedings of the Porto Alegre Symposium, December 1988, IAHS Publ. 174: 337-350.
- Walsby, A.E. & Reynolds, C.S. 1980. Sinking and floating. In: Morris, I (ed.): The physiological ecology of phytoplankton. Studies in ecology, vol. 7, Blackwell scientific publications, Oxford, 625 p.
- Wallström, K. 1991. Ecological studies on nitrogen fixing bluegreen algae and on nutrient limitation of phytoplankton in the Baltic Sea. Ph.D. Thesis. Uppsala University. 23 p.

- Wasmund, N. 1997. Occurrence of cyanobacterial blooms in the Baltic Sea in relation to environmental conditions. Internationale Revue der Gesammten Hydrobiologie 82(2): 169-184.
- Weckström, K. 2005. Recent eutrophication of coastal waters in southern Finland - A palaeolimnological assessment. Academic dissertation. Environmenta Change Research Unit, Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Division of Aquatic Sciences, University of Helsinki. Helsinki 2005. 53 p.
- Weckström, K., Korhola, A., Shemeikka, P. 2002. Physical and chemical characteristics of shallow embayments on the southern coast of Finland. Hydrobiologia 477:115-127
- Weckström, K., Juggins, S. & Korhola, A. 2004. Quantifying background nutrient concentrations in coastal waters: a case study from an urban embayment of the Baltic Sea. Ambio 33: 324-327.
- Weidemann, H. 1950. Untersuchungen über unperiodische und periodische hydrographische Vorgänge in der Beltsee. Kieler Meeresforsch. 7: 70-86.
- White, E., Payne, G. & Pickmere S. 1988. A limitation to the usefulness of chlorophyll as biomass indicator in eutrophication studies. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 23: 598-601.
- Wikner, J. 1996. Gulf of Bothnia. Introduction. In: HELCOM, 1996. Third periodic assessment of the state of the marine environment of the statue of the marine environment of the Baltic Sea, 1989-1993. Background document. Baltic Sea Environ. Proc. No. 64B, p. 28-29.
- Wilander, A. & Persson, G. 2001. recovery from eutrophication: experiences of reduced phosphorus input to the four largest lakes of Sweden. Ambio 30: 475-485
- Willén, E. 1962. Studies on the phytoplankton of some lakes connected with or recently isolated from the Baltic. Oikos 13: 169-199.
- Wulff, F., Stigebrandt, A. & Rahm, L. 1990. Nutrient dynamics of the Baltic Sea. Ambio 19: 126-133.
- Wulff, F., Perttilä, M. & Rahm, L. 1996. Monitoring mass balance calculation of nutrients and the future of the Gulf of Bothnia. Ambio 8: 27-33.
- Wulff, F., Savchuk, O.P., Sokolov, A., Humborg, C. & Möth, C-M. 2007. Management options and effects on a marine ecosystem: Assessing the future of the Baltic. Ambio 36: 243-249.
- Zar, J.H. 1999. Biostatistical analysis. Prentice-Hall, Inc. Simon & Schuster/A Viacom company Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. 662 p.
- Zimba, P. V. 1998. The use of nutrient enrichment bioassays to test for limiting factors affecting epiphytic growth in Lake Okeechobee, Florida: Confirmation of nitrogen and silica limitation. Arch. Hydrobiol. 141: 459-468.

ISBN 978-952-11-2898-1 (print) ISBN 978-952-11-2899-8 (PDF) ISSN 1239-1875 (print) ISSN 1796-1661 (online)